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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (this “Quarterly Report”) contains forward-looking statements. Statements that are not historical facts, including statements about beliefs,
expectations, targets or goals are forward-looking statements. These statements are based on plans, estimates, expectations and/or goals at the time the statements are made,
and readers should not place undue reliance on them. In some cases, readers can identify forward-looking statements by the use of forward-looking terms such as “may,”
“will,” “should,” “expect,” “opportunity,” “intend,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” “target,” “goal,” or “continue,” or the negative of
these terms or other comparable terms. Forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties and readers are cautioned that a number of important factors could
cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any such forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those
described herein include, among others:

• an inability to obtain the products we distribute resulting in lost revenues and reduced margins and damaging relationships with customers;
• a change in supplier pricing and demand adversely affecting our income and gross margins;
• a change in vendor rebates adversely affecting our income and gross margins;
• our inability to identify potential acquisition targets or successfully complete acquisitions on acceptable terms;
• risks related to maintaining our safety record;
• the possibility that building products distribution industry demand may soften or shift substantially due to cyclicality or dependence on general economic and political

conditions, including inflation or deflation, interest rates, governmental subsidies or incentives, consumer confidence, labor and supply shortages, weather and
commodity prices;

• the possibility that regional or global barriers to trade or a global trade war could increase the cost of products in the building products distribution industry, which
could adversely impact the competitiveness of such products and the financial results of businesses in the industry;

• seasonality, weather-related conditions and natural disasters;
• risks related to the proper functioning of our information technology systems, including from cybersecurity threats and artificial intelligence use;
• loss of key talent or our inability to attract and retain new qualified talent;
• risks related to work stoppages, union negotiations, labor disputes and other matters associated with our labor force or the labor force of our suppliers or customers;
• the risk that the anticipated benefits of our acquisition of Beacon Roofing Supply, Inc. (the “Beacon Acquisition”) or any future acquisition may not be fully realized or

may take longer to realize than expected;
• the effect of the Beacon Acquisition or any future acquisition on our business relationships with employees, customers or suppliers, operating results and business

generally;
• unexpected liabilities, costs, charges, expenses or accounting adjustments resulting from the Beacon Acquisition or any future acquisition or difficulties in integrating

and operating acquired companies;
• risks related to our obligations under the indebtedness we incurred in connection with the Beacon Acquisition;
• the risk that the Company is or becomes highly dependent on the continued leadership of Brad Jacobs as chairman and chief executive officer and the possibility that the

loss of Mr. Jacobs in these roles could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations;
• the possible economic impact of the Company’s outstanding warrants and preferred stock on the Company and the holders of its common stock, including market price

volatility, dilution from the exercise or conversion of the warrants or preferred stock, or the impact of dividend payments from preferred stock that remains outstanding;
• challenges raising additional equity or debt capital from public or private markets to pursue the Company’s business plan and the effects that raising such capital may

have on the Company and its business;
• the possibility that new investors in any future financing transactions could gain rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of the Company’s existing

stockholders;
• risks associated with periodic litigation, regulatory proceedings and enforcement actions, which may adversely affect the Company’s business and financial performance;
• the impact of legislative, regulatory, economic, competitive and technological changes;
• unknown liabilities and uncertainties regarding general economic, business, competitive, legal, regulatory, tax and geopolitical conditions; and
• other factors, including those set forth in the Company’s filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal

year ended December 31, 2024 and subsequent Quarterly Reports.

Forward-looking statements should not be relied on as predictions of future events, and these statements are not guarantees of performance or results. Forward-looking
statements herein speak only as of the date each statement is made. The Company does not undertake any obligation to update any of these statements in light of new
information or future events, except to the extent required by applicable law.
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Item 1. Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

QXO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in millions, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

June 30,
2025

December 31,
2024

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,278.5  $ 5,068.5 
Accounts receivable, net 1,575.7  2.7 
Inventories, net 1,849.6  — 
Vendor rebates receivable 468.7  — 
Income tax receivable 222.8  — 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 99.5  18.4 

Total current assets 6,494.8  5,089.6 
Property and equipment, net 696.3  0.4 
Goodwill 5,137.9  1.2 
Intangibles, net 4,003.8  4.0 
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net 747.3  0.3 
Deferred income tax assets, net —  2.6 
Other assets, net 34.1  0.2 

Total assets $ 17,114.2  $ 5,098.3 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 1,426.9  $ 6.2 
Accrued expenses 585.7  38.6 
Current portion of operating lease liabilities 108.3  0.2 
Current portion of finance lease liabilities 44.5  0.1 

Total current liabilities 2,165.4  45.1 
Borrowings under revolving lines of credit 199.9  — 
Long-term debt, net 3,051.5  — 
Deferred income tax liabilities, net 1,042.3  — 
Operating lease liabilities 571.5  0.1 
Finance lease liabilities 139.5  0.2 
Other long-term liabilities 28.8  — 

Total liabilities 7,198.9  45.4 

Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)

Stockholders’ equity:
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value; 0.6 shares and 0.0 shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2025 and
December 31, 2024, respectively 558.1  — 
Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value; authorized 10.0 shares, 1.0 shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2025 and
December 31, 2024 498.6  498.6 
Common stock, $0.00001 par value; authorized 2,000.0 shares; 671.6 and 409.4 shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2025
and December 31, 2024, respectively —  — 
Additional paid-in capital 8,965.8  4,560.5 
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) (104.1) (6.2)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (3.1) — 

Total stockholders’ equity 9,915.3  5,052.9 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 17,114.2  $ 5,098.3 

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

4





QXO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in millions, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2025 2024 2025 2024
Net sales $ 1,906.4  $ 14.5  $ 1,919.8  $ 29.0 

Cost of products sold 1,504.7  8.7  1,512.8  17.5 
Gross profit 401.7  5.8  407.0  11.5 

Operating expense:
Selling, general and administrative 456.8  9.8  501.2  15.0 
Depreciation 27.2  0.1  27.3  0.2 
Amortization 79.8  0.2  80.0  0.4 

Total operating expense 563.8  10.1  608.5  15.6 
Loss from operations (162.1) (4.3) (201.5) (4.1)

Interest (expense) income, net (30.2) 3.5  26.4  3.4 
Loss on debt extinguishment (45.7) —  (45.7) — 

Other income, net 1.7  —  1.7  — 

Loss before provision for income taxes (236.3) (0.8) (219.1) (0.7)
Benefit from income taxes (177.8) (0.2) (169.3) (0.2)

Net loss $ (58.5) $ (0.6) $ (49.8) $ (0.5)

Loss per common share - basic and diluted (Note 7) $ (0.15) $ (9.93) $ (0.19) $ (9.72)

Total weighted-average common shares outstanding:
Basic 564.7  0.7  508.4  0.7 
Diluted 564.7  0.7  508.4  0.7 

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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QXO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

(in millions)
(Unaudited)

  Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

  2025 2024 2025 2024

Net loss $ (58.5) $ (0.6) $ (49.8) $ (0.5)
Other comprehensive loss:

Foreign currency translation adjustment (3.1) —  (3.1) — 

Total other comprehensive loss (3.1) —  (3.1) — 

Comprehensive loss $ (61.6) $ (0.6) $ (52.9) $ (0.5)

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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QXO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(in millions)
(Unaudited)

Mandatory
Convertible Preferred

Stock
Convertible Preferred

Stock Common Stock
Additional

Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

(Accumulated
Deficit)

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Total

Three Months Ended June 30, 2025
Balance as of March 31, 2025 —  $ —  1.0  $ 498.6  409.4  $ —  $ 4,580.7  $ (20.0) $ —  $ 5,059.3 

Issuance of Mandatory Convertible
Preferred Stock, net of issuance costs 0.6  558.1  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  558.1 
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock
dividend —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (3.1) —  (3.1)
Convertible Preferred Stock dividend —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (22.5) —  (22.5)
Issuance of common stock, net of
issuance costs —  —  —  —  254.9  —  4,218.4  —  —  4,218.4 
Proceeds from stock option exercises —  —  —  —  2.9  —  14.3  —  —  14.3 
Awards assumed in acquisition —  —  —  —  —  —  87.5  —  —  87.5 
Vesting of stock-based compensation
awards —  —  —  —  4.4  —  (0.1) —  —  (0.1)
Stock-based compensation —  —  —  —  —  —  65.0  —  —  65.0 
Other comprehensive loss —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (3.1) (3.1)
Net loss —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (58.5) —  (58.5)

Balance as of June 30, 2025 0.6 $ 558.1  1.0 $ 498.6  671.6 $ —  $ 8,965.8  $ (104.1) $ (3.1) $ 9,915.3 

Three Months Ended June 30, 2024
Balance as of March 31, 2024 —  $ —  —  $ —  0.7  $ —  $ 9.4  $ (1.8) $ —  $ 7.6 

Issuance of Convertible Preferred Stock
and Warrants, net of issuance costs —  —  1.0  498.6  —  —  483.0  —  —  981.6 
Common stock dividend —  —  —  —  —  —  (17.4) —  —  (17.4)
Net loss —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (0.6) —  (0.6)

Balance as of June 30, 2024 — $ —  1.0 $ 498.6  0.7 $ —  $ 475.0  $ (2.4) $ —  $ 971.2 

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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QXO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(in millions)
(Unaudited)

Mandatory
Convertible Preferred

Stock
Convertible Preferred

Stock Common Stock
Additional

Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

(Accumulated
Deficit)

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Total

Six Months Ended June 30, 2025
Balance as of December 31, 2024 —  $ —  1.0  $ 498.6  409.4  $ —  $ 4,560.5  $ (6.2) $ —  $ 5,052.9 

Issuance of Mandatory Convertible
Preferred Stock, net of issuance costs 0.6  558.1  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  558.1 
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock
dividend —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (3.1) —  (3.1)
Convertible Preferred Stock dividend —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (45.0) —  (45.0)
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance
costs —  —  —  —  254.9  —  4,218.4  —  —  4,218.4 
Proceeds from stock option exercises —  —  —  —  2.9  —  14.3  —  —  14.3 
Awards assumed in acquisition —  —  —  —  —  —  87.5  —  —  87.5 
Vesting of stock-based compensation
awards —  —  —  —  4.4  —  (0.1) —  —  (0.1)
Stock-based compensation —  —  —  —  —  —  85.2  —  —  85.2 
Other comprehensive loss —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (3.1) (3.1)
Net loss —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (49.8) —  (49.8)

Balance as of June 30, 2025 0.6 $ 558.1  1.0 $ 498.6  671.6 $ —  $ 8,965.8  $ (104.1) $ (3.1) $ 9,915.3 

Six Months Ended June 30, 2024
Balance as of December 31, 2023 —  $ —  —  $ —  0.7  $ —  $ 9.4  $ (1.9) $ —  $ 7.5 

Issuance of Convertible Preferred Stock
and Warrants, net of issuance costs —  —  1.0  498.6  —  —  483.0  —  —  981.6 
Common stock dividend —  —  —  —  —  —  (17.4) —  —  (17.4)
Net loss —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (0.5) —  (0.5)

Balance as of June 30, 2024 — $ —  1.0 $ 498.6  0.7 $ —  $ 475.0  $ (2.4) $ —  $ 971.2 

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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QXO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in millions)
(Unaudited)

  Six Months Ended June 30,
  2025 2024

Operating Activities
Net loss $ (49.8) $ (0.5)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation 27.3  0.2 
Amortization 80.0  0.4 
Stock-based compensation 85.2  — 
Amortization of debt issuance costs 2.3  — 
Loss on debt extinguishment 45.7  — 
Provision for credit losses 2.7  — 
Non-cash lease expense 27.9  0.1 
Deferred income taxes 21.9  (0.2)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (226.1) (0.1)
Inventories (15.6) — 
Vendor rebates receivable (228.5) — 
Income tax receivable (202.4) — 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1.1  (2.8)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 312.1  2.5 
Other assets and liabilities (21.5) (0.3)

Net cash used in operating activities (137.7) (0.7)

Investing Activities
Capital expenditures (19.7) (0.1)
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired (10,556.5) — 
Other 0.8  — 

Net cash used in investing activities (10,575.4) (0.1)

Financing Activities
Borrowings under revolving lines of credit 422.6  — 
Payments under revolving lines of credit (223.0) — 
Borrowings under term loan 2,250.0  — 
Payments under term loan (1,400.0) — 
Borrowings under senior notes 2,250.0  — 
Payment of debt issuance costs (114.4) — 
Payment of other debt —  (0.3)
Payments under equipment financing facilities and finance leases (7.2) (0.1)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock related to equity awards 14.3  — 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs 4,218.4  — 
Proceeds from issuance of mandatory convertible preferred stock, net of issuance costs 558.1  — 
Proceeds from issuance of convertible preferred stock and warrants, net of issuance costs —  983.7 
Payment of taxes related to net share settlement of equity awards (0.1) — 
Payment of common-stock dividend —  (17.4)
Payment of dividends on convertible preferred stock (45.0) — 

Net cash provided by financing activities 7,923.7  965.9 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (0.3) — 

Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (2,789.7) 965.1 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period 5,072.0  6.2 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period $ 2,282.3  $ 971.3 

Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Cash paid during the period for:

Interest $ 22.5  $ — 
Income taxes, net of refunds $ 35.1  $ — 



See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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QXO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

1. Description of Business
Prior to the Beacon Acquisition (as defined below), QXO, Inc. (“QXO” or the “Company”) was primarily a technology solutions and professional services
company, providing critical software applications, consulting and other professional services, including specialized programming, training, and technical
support to small and mid-size companies in the manufacturing, distribution and services industries. On January 17, 2025, the Company transferred the listing of
its common stock, par value $0.00001 per share (the “common stock”), from Nasdaq to the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”). The Company’s listing
and trading of the common stock on Nasdaq ended at market close on January 16, 2025. The Company’s common stock began trading on the NYSE on January
17, 2025.

Beacon Acquisition

On March 20, 2025, QXO entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with Beacon Roofing Supply, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(“Beacon”), and Queen MergerCo, Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of QXO (“Merger Sub”), pursuant to which QXO agreed to
acquire Beacon for a purchase price of $124.35 per share of common stock (the “Merger Consideration”) of Beacon (the “Beacon Acquisition”). On April 29,
2025 (the “Closing Date”), pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub merged with and into Beacon, with Beacon remaining as the surviving entity and
being renamed QXO Building Products, Inc. (“QXO Building Products”), and the Company completed its acquisition of Beacon in a transaction that valued
Beacon at $10.6 billion.

As a result of the Beacon Acquisition, QXO has transitioned to a building products distribution company and is the largest publicly-traded distributor of
roofing, waterproofing and complementary building products in North America. The Company plans to become the tech-enabled leader in the $800 billion
building products distribution industry and generate outsized value for shareholders. The Company is executing its strategy toward a target of $50 billion in
annual revenues within the next decade through accretive acquisitions and organic growth.

The Company serves customers in all 50 states throughout the United States (the “U.S.”) and seven provinces in Canada. The Company’s material subsidiary is
QXO Building Products.

2. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements contain all adjustments necessary to state fairly the financial position of the
Company as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, and cash flows for
the six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. (“GAAP”). These unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements have been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and
consequently have been condensed and do not include all required disclosures in an Annual Report on Form 10-K. The unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements included herein should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes included in the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, filed with the SEC on March 4, 2025. All inter-company transactions and accounts have
been eliminated in consolidation.

The Beacon Acquisition has been accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”)
Topic 805 (“ASC 805”), Business Combinations. As the legacy Beacon business now comprises substantially all of the Company and has significantly larger
operations compared to the Company prior to the Beacon Acquisition, QXO determined that Beacon is the predecessor entity (“predecessor”) for financial
reporting purposes. The Company also determined that the Beacon Acquisition represented a fundamental change in QXO’s operations. The predecessor
financial statements are included as Exhibit 99.1 to this Quarterly Report.

Reclassifications

The Company has reclassified certain prior period amounts to conform with the current period presentation in the unaudited condensed consolidated statements
of operations related to revenue, cost of sales, depreciation and amortization, which are now presented to conform with the predecessor’s historical
presentation. The Company has also reclassified certain prior period amounts to conform with the current period presentation in the unaudited condensed
consolidated balance sheets related to deferred revenue, which is now presented within accrued expenses.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of unaudited financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements, as
well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Significant items subject to such estimates include inventories, purchase
price allocations, recoverability of goodwill and intangibles, income taxes, and vendor rebates receivable. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. The Company
maintains cash balances across a diversified portfolio of global financial institutions that exceed Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insured limits. The
Company believes these global financial institutions to be financially sound with minimal credit risk and the Company has not experienced any losses in such
accounts. Amounts included in restricted cash primarily represent those required to be set aside by a contractual agreement as collateral for the Company’s
credit card program. The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash:

As of

(in millions)
June 30,

2025
December 31,

2024
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,278.5  $ 5,068.5 
Restricted cash included in prepaid expenses and other current assets 3.8  3.5 
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 2,282.3  $ 5,072.0 

Accounts Receivable

The Company records accounts receivable at the contractual amount and records an allowance for credit losses for the amount the Company estimates it may
not collect. In determining the allowance for credit losses, the Company considers historical collection experience, the age of the accounts receivable balances,
the credit quality and risk of its customers, any specific customer collection issues, current economic conditions, and other factors that may impact customers’
ability to pay. The Company also considers reasonable and supportable forecasts of future economic conditions and their expected impact on customer
collections in determining the allowance for credit losses. Accounts receivable balances are written off once the receivables are no longer deemed collectible.

The following table represents the roll-forward of the allowance for expected credit losses for the six months ended June  30, 2025 and the year ended
December 31, 2024:

(in millions)
June 30,

2025
December 31,

2024
Balance at beginning of period $ 0.5  $ 0.5 
Current period provision for expected credit losses 2.7  — 
Recoveries 0.1  — 
Balance at end of period $ 3.3  $ 0.5 

Inventories

The Company’s inventories primarily represent finished goods, consisting of products available for sale. The Company’s inventories are accounted for using
the weighted-average cost method and valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value.

Inventory costs consist of product and inbound shipping and handling costs. Inventory valuation requires the Company to make judgments, based on currently
available information, about the likely method of disposition, such as through sales to individual customers or returns to product vendors.

Vendor Rebates

The Company’s arrangements with vendors typically provide for rebates after it makes a special purchase and/or monthly, quarterly, and/or annual rebates of a
specified amount of consideration payable when a number of measures have been achieved. Annual rebates are generally related to a specified cumulative level
of purchases on a calendar-year basis. The Company accounts for such rebates as a reduction of the inventory value until the product is sold, at which time such
rebates reduce cost of products sold in the condensed consolidated statements of operations. Throughout the year, the Company estimates the amount of the
periodic rebates based upon the expected level of purchases. The Company continually revises these estimates to reflect actual rebates earned based on actual
purchase levels.
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment acquired in connection with acquisitions are recorded at fair value as of the date of the acquisition and depreciated utilizing the
straight-line method over the estimated remaining useful lives. All other additions are recorded at cost, and depreciation is computed using the straight-line
method. The Company reviews the estimated useful lives of its fixed assets on an ongoing basis.

The estimated useful lives of property and equipment are principally as follows:

Buildings 40 years
Equipment 3 to 7 years
Furniture and fixtures 7 years
Software 3 to 5 years
Finance lease assets and leasehold improvements Shorter of the estimated useful life or lease term, considering renewal options expected to be

exercised.

The following is a summary of property and equipment, net:

As of
June 30,

2025
December 31,

2024(in millions)
Equipment $ 253.3  $ 4.0 
Finance lease assets 190.5  — 
Leasehold improvements 118.0  0.1 
Furniture and fixtures 27.7  0.2 
Software 29.1  — 
Land and buildings 59.4  — 
Fixed assets in progress 40.0  — 

Total property and equipment 718.0  4.3 
Accumulated depreciation (21.7) (3.9)

Total property and equipment, net $ 696.3  $ 0.4 

Goodwill

On an annual basis and at interim periods when circumstances require, the Company tests the recoverability of its goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible
assets and reviews for indicators of impairment. Examples of such indicators include a significant change in the business climate, legal factors, operating
performance indicators, competition, sale or disposition of a significant portion of the business or other factors.

The following table sets forth the change in the carrying amount of goodwill during the six months ended June 30, 2025:

(in millions)
June 30,

2025
Balance at beginning of period $ 1.2 

Acquisitions 5,138.6 
Translation and other adjustments (1.9)

Balance at end of period $ 5,137.9 
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Intangible Assets

The Company amortizes certain identifiable intangible assets that have finite lives, currently consisting of customer relationships and trade names. These
amortizable intangible assets are amortized over the useful lives of the asset using the straight-line amortization method. Amortizable intangible assets are
tested for impairment, when deemed necessary, based on undiscounted cash flows and, if impaired, are written down to fair value based on either discounted
cash flows or appraised values.

The following table summarizes intangible assets by category:

As of Weighted-Average
Remaining Life

(Years)(in millions, except time periods)
June 30,

2025
December 31,

2024
Amortizable intangible assets:

Customer relationships and other $ 3,860.7  $ 9.4  9.8
Trade names 229.9  —  2.8

Total amortizable intangible assets 4,090.6  9.4  9.4
Accumulated amortization (87.5) (5.4)

Total amortizable intangible assets, net $ 4,003.1  $ 4.0 
Indefinite-lived domain names 0.7  — 
Total intangibles, net $ 4,003.8  $ 4.0 

 As of June 30, 2025.

The following table summarizes the estimated future amortization expense for intangible assets for each of the next five years ending December 31 and
thereafter:

(in millions)
2025 (July - December) $ 231.3 
2026 462.6 
2027 462.6 
2028 410.5 
2029 385.3 
Thereafter 2,050.8 

Total future amortization expense $ 4,003.1 

Accrued Expenses

The following table presents the components of accrued expenses:

As of

(in millions)
June 30,

2025
December 31,

2024

Inventory $ 228.0  $ — 
Selling, general and administrative 132.1  — 
Payroll and employee benefit costs 108.8  8.1 
Customer rebates 80.0  — 
Interest expense 27.2  — 
Income taxes —  24.0 
Other 9.6  6.5 

Total accrued expenses $ 585.7  $ 38.6 

1

(1)
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Asset Retirement Obligations

A liability for an asset retirement obligation is recorded in the period in which it is incurred. When an asset retirement obligation liability is initially recorded,
the Company capitalizes the cost by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. For each subsequent period, the liability is increased for
accretion expense and the capitalized cost is depreciated over the useful life of the related asset.  In connection with the Beacon Acquisition, the Company
recognized $28.4 million of asset retirement obligations, which are included in other long-term liabilities on the condensed consolidated balance sheet.

Financial Instruments

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. To increase the comparability of fair value measures, the following hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation methodologies used to
measure fair value:

• Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for assets or liabilities. The fair value hierarchy gives
the highest priority to Level 1 inputs.

• Level 2: Observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted on active markets but corroborated by market data.

• Level 3: Unobservable inputs are used when little or no market data is available. The fair value hierarchy gives the lowest priority to Level 3 inputs.

The Company’s current financial assets and liabilities approximate fair value due to their short-term nature and include cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, vendor rebates receivable, income tax receivable, prepaid expenses and other current assets, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities.

Additionally, the Company has a free-standing interest rate swap that was acquired in the Beacon Acquisition. The fair value of the free-standing interest rate
swap is determined through the use of a pricing model, which utilizes verifiable inputs such as market interest rates that are observable at commonly quoted
intervals (generally referred to as the “forward curve”) for the full term of the agreement and is classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. As of June 30,
2025, the fair value of the interest rate swap was $4.5 million. The free-standing interest rate swap is included in prepaid expenses and other current assets
when in an asset position or accrued expenses when in a liability position on the condensed consolidated balance sheets. The amount of gain (loss) on the
change in fair value of the free-standing interest rate swap is recognized in interest (expense) income, net, on the condensed consolidated statements of
operations.

Net Sales

The Company records net sales when performance obligations with the customer are satisfied. All contracts have a single performance obligation as the
promise to transfer the individual good is not separately identifiable from other promises and is, therefore, not distinct. Performance obligations are satisfied at
a point in time and net sales are recognized when title and risk of loss are transferred to the customer.

The Company enters into agreements with customers to offer rebates, generally based on achievement of specified sales levels and various marketing
allowances that are common industry practice. Reductions to net sales for customer programs and incentive offerings, including promotions and other volume-
based incentives, are estimated using the most likely amount method and recorded in the period in which they are earned. Provisions for early payment
discounts are accrued in the same period in which the sale occurs. The Company does not provide extended payment terms and payment is due shortly after the
transfer of control of the products to the customer. Commissions to internal sales teams are paid to obtain contracts. As these contracts are less than one year,
these costs are expensed as incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense based on the equity award’s grant date fair value. For grants of restricted stock units (“RSUs”)
subject to service-based vesting conditions, the fair value is established based on the market price of the common stock on the date of the grant. For grants of
performance-based restricted stock units (“PRSUs”) subject to market-based vesting conditions, the fair value is established using a Monte Carlo simulation
lattice model. The determination of the fair value of stock-based awards is affected by the Company’s stock price and a number of assumptions, including
volatility, performance period, risk-free interest rate and expected dividends. The Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur. The grant date fair value of
each award is amortized over the requisite service period.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred.
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Interest Income (Expense), Net

The following table presents the components of interest income (expense), net:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
(in millions) 2025 2024 2025 2024
Interest income $ 22.3  $ 3.5  $ 78.9  $ 3.5 
Interest expense (52.5) —  (52.5) (0.1)
Interest (expense) income, net $ (30.2) $ 3.5  $ 26.4  $ 3.4 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements — Not Yet Adopted

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, “Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures,” a final standard on improvements to income tax disclosures.
The standard requires disaggregated information about a registrant's effective tax rate reconciliation as well as information on income taxes paid. This standard
should be applied prospectively and is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, “Income Statement – Reporting Comprehensive Income – Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic
220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses.” The standard requires disclosure of disaggregated information about certain financial statement
expense line items presented on the consolidated statements of operations in the notes to the financial statements on an interim and annual basis. The standard
can be applied either prospectively or retrospectively and is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods within fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2027, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this standard on its consolidated
financial statements and related disclosures.

3. Acquisition
Beacon Roofing Supply, Inc. Acquisition

On March 20, 2025, QXO entered into a Merger Agreement with Beacon and Merger Sub, pursuant to which QXO agreed to acquire Beacon for a purchase
price of $124.35 per share of common stock of Beacon. On the Closing Date, pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub merged with and into Beacon,
with Beacon remaining as the surviving entity and being renamed QXO Building Products, Inc., and the Company completed its acquisition of Beacon.

As a result of the Beacon Acquisition, QXO has transitioned to a building products distribution company and is the largest publicly traded distributor of
roofing, waterproofing and complementary building products in North America. The Beacon Acquisition is a key milestone in the Company’s plan to become
to tech-enabled leader in the $800 billion building products distribution industry and generate outsized value for shareholders.

The Company was determined to be the accounting acquirer in the Beacon Acquisition in accordance with ASC 805 primarily due to having board and
common share voting control over the combined company, and its managers, including the Chief Executive Officer, directing the activities of the newly merged
entity. Furthermore, the Beacon Acquisition was initiated by QXO, and the Company retained the QXO name subsequent to the Beacon Acquisition. The
historical financial statements of QXO prior to April 29, 2025 are reflected in this Quarterly Report as QXO’s historical financial statements. Accordingly, the
financial results of QXO as of and for any periods prior to April 29, 2025 do not include the financial results of Beacon and current and future results will not
be comparable to historical results.

Additionally, in considering the foregoing principles of predecessor determination and in light of the Company’s specific facts and circumstances, the Company
determined that Beacon is the predecessor entity for financial reporting purposes. The predecessor financial statements are included as Exhibit 99.1 to this
Quarterly Report.
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Purchase Price

The following table summarizes the components of the preliminary aggregate purchase consideration paid to acquire Beacon and is subject to adjustments:

(in millions)
Cash paid for outstanding Beacon common stock $ 7,736.6 
Converted Beacon RSUs and options attributable to pre-combination service 103.5 
Payment of Beacon debt, including accrued interest 2,947.8 

Preliminary aggregate acquisition consideration 10,787.9 
Less: cash acquired 143.9 

Preliminary aggregate acquisition consideration, net of cash acquired $ 10,644.0 

The cash component of the preliminary aggregate acquisition consideration represents 62.2 million shares of outstanding common stock of Beacon multiplied by the $124.35
per share cash portion of the acquisition consideration.
This amount represents the value of outstanding equity awards held by Beacon employees that were converted into replacement QXO instruments with identical terms. The
conversion was based on the volume-weighted average trading price of QXO common stock for the five consecutive trading days ending on the trading day immediately
preceding the Closing Date. The fair value of replacement equity-based awards attributable to pre-acquisition service was recorded as part of the consideration transferred.
This amount also includes cash paid by QXO of $16.0 million to settle RSUs for non-employee members of the board of directors of Beacon, which were accelerated in full,
cancelled and paid in cash for $124.35 per share. See Note 8 for additional information.
This amount represents the cash paid by QXO to settle Beacon’s senior secured term loan B facility, senior secured notes, and outstanding line of credit borrowings of $1.26
billion, $1.25 billion, and $370.8 million, respectively. Additionally, accrued interest expense of $30.1 million and a breakage fee of $37.8 million was paid for early
termination of Beacon’s debt at the closing of the Beacon Acquisition.

Preliminary Purchase Price Allocation

The Company applied the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with ASC 805, Business Combinations, and recognized assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at their fair values as of the effective date of the Beacon Acquisition, with the excess purchase consideration recorded to goodwill. Goodwill
reflects the assembled workforce of Beacon as well as operating synergies that are expected to result from the Beacon Acquisition. All preliminary goodwill is
not deductible for tax purposes.

The purchase price allocation is preliminary and subject to change. The Company is continuing to obtain information to complete its valuation of certain assets
and liabilities, in addition to ensuring all other assets and liabilities and contingencies have been identified and recorded. The Company has estimated the
preliminary fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on information currently available and will continue to adjust those estimates as
additional information pertaining to events or circumstances present at the Closing Date becomes available during the measurement period. The Company will
reflect measurement period adjustments, if any, in the period in which the adjustments occur, and the Company will finalize its accounting for the Beacon
Acquisition within one year of the Closing Date.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

16



The following table presents the preliminary allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, and a reconciliation to total
consideration transferred:

(in millions)
Preliminary

April 29, 2025
Assets:

Accounts receivable $ 1,349.3 
Inventories 1,833.2 
Vendor rebates receivable 240.1 
Income tax receivable 20.1 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 82.3 
Property and equipment 695.2 
Goodwill 5,138.6 
Intangibles 4,080.6 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 744.2 
Other non-current assets 18.7 

Liabilities:
Accounts payable (1,163.6)
Accrued expenses (488.5)
Deferred incomes taxes (1,022.8)
Other long-term liabilities (31.3)
Operating lease liabilities (670.6)
Finance lease liabilities (181.5)

Preliminary aggregate acquisition consideration $ 10,644.0 

The following table presents a summary of intangible assets acquired and the weighted average useful life of these assets:

(in millions, except weighted average useful life)
Preliminary Fair

Value
Weighted Average Useful

Life in Years
Customer relationships $ 3,850.6  10.0
Trade names 230.0 3.0
Total intangible assets acquired $ 4,080.6  9.6

The preliminary fair value estimate of the customer relationships intangible asset was determined using the multi-period excess earnings method. The excess
earnings methodology is an income approach methodology that estimates the projected cash flows of the business attributable to the customer relationships
intangible asset, net of charges for the use of other identifiable assets of the business including working capital, fixed assets and other intangible assets. The
preliminary fair value estimate of the trade names intangible asset was determined using the relief-from-royalty method, which presumes the owner of the asset
avoids hypothetical royalty payments that would need to be made for the use of the asset if the asset was not owned.

Key inputs used in the discounted cash flow analyses and other areas of judgment include projected financial information, discount rates used to present value
future cash flows, attrition rates, royalty rates, economic useful life of assets, and tax rates, as relevant, that market participants would consider when
estimating fair values.

The Company incurred transaction-related costs of $65.0 million and $74.8 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, respectively. These
costs were associated with legal and professional services and were recognized in selling, general and administrative expenses on the condensed consolidated
statement of operations.
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Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Financial Information

The following unaudited pro forma combined financial information presents the combined results of the Company and Beacon as if the Beacon Acquisition had
been completed on January 1, 2024. The unaudited pro forma combined financial information presented below does not give effect to the May 2025 and June
2025 common and preferred (including Mandatory Convertible Preferred Shares) equity financings (as further discussed in Note 6), as these financings were
not directly attributable to the Beacon Acquisition. The proceeds from equity financings completed in May 2025 were used to repay indebtedness under the
Notes (as defined in Note 9) previously issued as part of financings that were completed to effectuate the Beacon Acquisition. As this repayment of
indebtedness was not directly attributable to the Beacon Acquisition, the related reduction in interest expense is not reflected in this unaudited pro forma
combined financial information. The unaudited pro forma combined financial information is presented for informational purposes and is not indicative of the
results of operations that would have been achieved if the Beacon Acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2024, nor is it indicative of future results.

The following table presents the Company’s pro forma combined net sales and net income (loss):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

(in millions) 2025 2024 2025 2024

Net sales $ 2,693.2  $ 2,689.1  $ 4,614.4  $ 4,616.0 
Net income (loss) $ (9.2) $ 24.4  $ (144.0) $ (263.1)

The unaudited pro forma combined financial information includes, where applicable, adjustments for:

(i) Acquisition accounting in accordance with ASC 805;

(ii) Financing transactions directly attributable to the Beacon Acquisition; and

(iii) Transaction costs incurred by the Company that were directly attributable to the Beacon Acquisition.

These pro forma adjustments are based on available information as of the date hereof and upon assumptions that the Company believes are reasonable to reflect
the impact of the Beacon Acquisition on the Company’s historical financial information on a supplemental pro forma basis. Adjustments do not include costs
related to integration activities, cost savings or synergies that have been or may be achieved by the combined business.

4. Restructuring
Subsequent to the Beacon Acquisition, the Company developed a restructuring plan to streamline and simplify the organization, improve efficiency and reduce
costs. As a result of the restructuring plan, the Company recorded $72.8 million in pre-tax restructuring charges, comprised of $35.3 million of severance and
employee-related costs associated with corporate workforce optimization and a $37.5 million stock-based compensation charge associated with the impacted
employees. These restructuring charges are reflected in selling, general and administrative expenses on the condensed consolidated statements of operations for
the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, respectively. The severance and employee-related costs were recorded in accrued expenses, while the stock-
based compensation charge was reflected as an adjustment to common stock and additional paid-in capital on the condensed consolidated balance sheets. The
restructuring charge liability is expected to be paid in full by June 2026.

The following table shows the change in the severance and employee-related restructuring charge liability during the six months ended June 30, 2025:

June 30,
2025(in millions)

Restructuring charge liability, beginning of the period $ — 
Restructuring charges 35.3
Payments (4.4)

Restructuring charge liability, end of the period $ 30.9 

Severance and employee-related costs consist primarily of salary continuation benefits, prorated annual incentive compensation, continuation of health care
benefits and outplacement services. Severance and employee-related benefits are determined pursuant to the Company’s written severance plans and are
recognized when the benefits are determined to be probable of being paid and are reasonably estimable.

18



5. Segment Reporting and Geographic Information

Segment Reporting

Operating segments are defined as components of an entity for which separate discrete financial information is available and regularly reviewed by the Chief
Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) in deciding how to allocate resources to an individual segment and in assessing performance. The Company’s CODM,
the Chief Executive Officer, reviews consolidated results of operations to make decisions, therefore the Company views its operations and manages its business
as a single operating segment.

The Company’s revenues for its single operating segment are primarily derived from the sale of residential and non-residential roofing products, as well as
complementary products, such as siding and waterproofing. The CODM evaluates performance for the Company’s single operating segment and decides how
to allocate resources based on the Company’s consolidated net income that is reported in the condensed consolidated statements of operations as net income
(loss). The measure of segment assets is reported on the condensed consolidated balance sheets as total assets. These results are used to assess segment
performance and determine the compensation of certain employees.

The operating segment financial information regularly reviewed by the CODM, inclusive of assets, revenue, expenses, profit or loss, and noncash items are
presented on a consolidated basis. Other segment items included in consolidated net income are depreciation, amortization, interest income (expense), net, loss
on debt extinguishment, other income, net, and provision for (benefit from) income taxes, which are reflected on the condensed consolidated statements of
operations.

The following table presents information regarding the components of revenue, significant segment expenses and consolidated net income (loss) representative
of the significant categories regularly provided to the CODM when managing the Company’s one operating segment:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
(in millions) 2025 2024 2025 2024
Net sales:
Residential roofing products $ 929.8  $ —  $ 929.8  $ — 
Non-residential roofing products 535.5  —  535.5  — 
Complementary building products 426.1  —  426.1  — 
Software products and services 15.0  14.5  28.4  29.0 

Total net sales $ 1,906.4  $ 14.5  $ 1,919.8  $ 29.0 
Less:

Cost of products sold $ 1,504.7  $ 8.7  $ 1,512.8  $ 17.5 
Selling, general administrative expenses 391.8  9.8  416.0  15.0 
Stock-based compensation 65.0  —  85.2  — 
Other segment items 3.4  (3.4) (44.4) (3.0)

Net loss $ (58.5) $ (0.6) $ (49.8) $ (0.5)

 Excludes stock-based compensation.

Geographic Information

Net sales in the U.S. accounted for approximately 97% of total net sales for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, and approximately 97% of the
Company’s long-lived assets were in the U.S. as of June 30, 2025. All of the Company’s net sales were derived from the U.S. for the three and six months
ended June 30, 2024, and all of the Company’s long-lived assets were in the U.S. as of December 31, 2024. The CODM does not review geographic asset
information when assessing performance or allocating resources.

(1)

(1)
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6. Equity
Investment Agreement

On April 14, 2024, the Company entered into the Amended and Restated Investment Agreement (the “Investment Agreement”) among the Company, JPE and
the other investors party thereto (collectively, the “Investors”), providing for, among other things, an aggregate investment by the Investors of $1.0 billion in
cash in the Company. Pursuant to the Investment Agreement, the Company issued and sold an aggregate of 1,000,000 shares of Convertible Perpetual Preferred
Stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Convertible Preferred Stock”), which are initially convertible into an aggregate of 219.0 million shares of common
stock at an initial conversion price of $4.566 per share and issued and sold warrants exercisable for an aggregate of 219.0 million shares of common stock (the
“Warrants”). The Investment Agreement and related transactions closed on June 6, 2024 (the “Equity Investment”) and generated gross proceeds of $1.0 billion
before deducting fees and offering expenses.

On June 6, 2024, the Company amended its certificate of incorporation to effect an 8:1 reverse stock split with respect to the Company’s common stock (the
“Reverse Stock Split”), which reduced the Company’s issued and outstanding share count of common stock from 5.3 million to 0.7 million shares (par value
$0.00001 per share). The Company has recast all share and per-share data and amounts to show the effects of the Reverse Stock Split.

Issuance of Convertible Preferred Stock

On June  6, 2024, under the terms of the Investment Agreement, the Company issued 1.0 million shares of Convertible Preferred Stock. The Convertible
Preferred Stock has an initial liquidation preference of $1,000 per share, for an aggregate initial liquidation preference of $1.0 billion. The Convertible
Preferred Stock is convertible at any time, in whole or in part and from time to time, at the option of the holder thereof into a number of shares of common
stock equal to the then-applicable liquidation preference divided by the conversion price, which initially is $4.566 per share of common stock (subject to
customary anti-dilution adjustments). Shares of Convertible Preferred Stock are initially convertible into an aggregate of 219.0 million shares of common stock
(after giving effect to the Reverse Stock Split). The Convertible Preferred Stock is not redeemable or subject to any required offer to purchase.

The Convertible Preferred Stock ranks, with respect to dividend rights and distribution of assets upon liquidation, winding-up or dissolution, senior to the
Company’s common stock and Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock (as defined below). Holders of Convertible Preferred Stock will vote together with the
holders of the Company’s common stock on an “as-converted” basis on all matters, except as otherwise required by law. In addition, the approval of holders of
at least a majority of the outstanding shares of the Convertible Preferred Stock, voting separately as a single class, will be required for certain matters set forth
in the Certificate of Designation for the Convertible Preferred Stock.

Dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock are payable quarterly, when, as and if declared by the Company’s board of directors at the rate per annum of 9%
per share on the then-applicable liquidation preference (subject to certain exceptions in the event that the Company pays dividends on shares of its common
stock). During the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, the Company paid $22.5 million and $45.0 million, respectively, of dividends to holders of
Convertible Preferred Stock. Subsequent to the close of the quarter ended June 30, 2025, the Company paid $22.5 million of quarterly dividends to holders of
Convertible Preferred Stock.

Warrants

The aggregate number of shares of the Company’s common stock subject to the Warrants is 219.0 million shares. The Warrants are exercisable at the option of
the holder at any time until June 6, 2034. The Warrants have an exercise price of $4.566 per share of common stock with respect to 50% of the Warrants,
$6.849 per share of common stock with respect to 25% of the Warrants, and $13.698 per share of common stock with respect to the remaining 25% of the
Warrants.

Each Warrant may be exercised, in whole or in part, at any time or times on or after the issuance date and on or before the expiration date at the election of the
holder (in such holder’s sole discretion) by means of a “cashless exercise” in which the holder will be entitled to receive a number of shares of the Company’s
common stock equal to the quotient of the product of the Closing Sale Price (as defined in the Warrant Certificate) of a share of the Company’s common stock
on the trading day immediately preceding the date on which the holder elects to exercise its Warrant, less the adjusted exercise price, multiplied by the number
of shares of the Company’s common stock issuable upon exercise of such Warrant, divided by the aforementioned Closing Sale Price of a share of the
Company’s common stock on the trading day immediately preceding the date on which the holder elects to exercise its Warrant.
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Private Placements

On June 13, 2024, the Company entered into purchase agreements with certain institutional and accredited investors to issue and sell in a private placement an
aggregate of 340.9 million shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of $9.14 per share, and pre-funded warrants (the “Pre-Funded Warrants”) to
purchase 42.0 million shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of $9.13999 per Pre-Funded Warrant. Each Pre-Funded Warrant has an exercise price
of $0.00001 per share, is exercisable immediately and until the Pre-Funded Warrant is exercised in full. The closing of the private placement was completed on
July 19, 2024.

On July 22, 2024, the Company entered into purchase agreements with certain institutional and accredited investors to privately place 67.8 million shares of its
common stock at a price of $9.14 per share. The closing of the private placement was completed on July 25, 2024.

On March 17, 2025, the Company entered into purchase agreements with certain institutional investors to privately place 67.5 million shares of its common
stock at a price of $12.30 per share. The closing of the private placement was contingent upon the completion of the Beacon Acquisition and was completed on
April 29, 2025. As a result of the closing, the Company raised $823.8 million in net proceeds, after deducting offering costs of $6.8 million, to partially fund
the Beacon Acquisition and related costs.

Issuance of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock

On May  27, 2025, the Company completed a preferred stock offering, through which QXO issued and sold 11.5 million depositary shares (“Depositary
Shares”), each representing a 1/20th interest in a share of the Company’s 5.50% Series B Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, liquidation preference $1,000
per share, par value $0.001 per share (the “Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock”). The amount issued included 1.5 million Depositary Shares issued
pursuant to the exercise in full of the option granted to the underwriters to purchase additional Depositary Shares. The Company received net proceeds from the
offering of $558.1 million, after deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and estimated offering expenses of $16.9 million.

Dividends

The Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock will accumulate dividends (which may be paid in cash or, subject to certain limitations, in shares of common stock
or in any combination of cash and common stock) at a rate per annum equal to 5.50% on the liquidation preference of $1,000 per share, payable when, as and if
declared by the Company’s board of directors (or an authorized committee thereof), on February 15, May 15, August 15 and November 15 of each year,
beginning on August 15, 2025 and ending on, and including, May 15, 2028. Given the requirement to pay dividends in any settlement outcome of the
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, the Company accrues dividends whether or not they are formally declared by the Company’s board of directors.

Mandatory Conversion

The following table illustrates the conversion rate per share of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, subject to certain anti-dilution adjustments, based
on the applicable market value of the common stock:

Applicable Market Value of Common Stock Conversion Rate per Share of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock
Greater than $20.2126 (the “Threshold Appreciation Price”) 49.4740 shares of common stock
Equal to or less than the Threshold Appreciation Price but greater than or
equal to the Initial Price

Between 49.4740 and 60.6060 shares of common stock, determined by
dividing $1,000 by the applicable market value

Less than $16.50 (the “Initial Price”) 60.6060 shares of common stock

The following table illustrates the conversion rate per Depositary Share, subject to certain anti-dilution adjustments, based on the applicable market value of the
common stock:

Applicable Market Value of Common Stock
Conversion Rate per Depository Share Representing a 1/20th interest in a share of

the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock
Greater than the Threshold Appreciation Price 2.4737 shares of common stock
Equal to or less than the Threshold Appreciation Price but greater than or
equal to the Initial Price

Between 2.4737 and 3.0303 shares of common stock, determined by dividing
$50 by the applicable market value

Less than the Initial Price 3.0303 shares of common stock
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Optional Conversion

Other than the occurrence of a fundamental change (as defined in the Company's Certificate of Designations relating to the Mandatory Convertible Preferred
Stock) at any time prior to May 15, 2028, a holder of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock may elect to convert such holder’s shares of Mandatory
Convertible Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, at the minimum conversion rate of 49.4740 shares of common stock per share of Mandatory Convertible
Preferred Stock (equivalent to 2.4737 shares of common stock per Depositary Share), subject to certain anti-dilution and other adjustments. Because each
Depositary Share represents a 1/20th fractional interest in a share of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, a holder of Depositary Shares may convert its
Depositary Shares only in lots of 20 Depositary Shares.

Fundamental Change Conversion

If a fundamental change occurs on or prior to May 15, 2028, holders of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock will have the right to convert their shares of
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, into shares of Common Stock at the fundamental change conversion rate during the period
beginning on, and including, the effective date of such fundamental change and ending on, and including, the earlier of (a) the date that is 20 calendar days
after such effective date (or, if later, the date that is 20 calendar days after holders receive notice of such fundamental change) and (b) May 15, 2028. For the
avoidance of doubt, the period described in the immediately preceding sentence may not end on a date that is later than May 15, 2028.

Ranking

The Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock ranks, with respect to dividend rights and distribution of assets upon liquidation, winding-up or dissolution, (i)
senior to the Company’s common stock and each other class or series of capital stock, whether outstanding or established after the date of issuance of the
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, the terms of which do not expressly provide that it ranks senior to or on a parity with the Mandatory Convertible
Preferred Stock as to payment of dividends and distribution of assets upon liquidation, winding-up or dissolution, and (ii) junior to the Convertible Preferred
Stock. The Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock ranks on a parity with or junior to each class or series of capital stock, the terms of which expressly provide
for a pari passu or senior ranking, respectively, relative to the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock.

Voting Rights

Holders of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock will not have voting rights, except with respect to issuances of securities senior to the Mandatory
Convertible Preferred Stock, amendments to the Company’s Fifth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation that would materially and adversely
affect the rights of the holders of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, or in the event of a merger, consolidation, exchange or reclassification involving the
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, or non-payment of dividends for six consecutive quarters.

Registered Equity Offerings

In April 2025, the Company sold 37.7 million shares of the Company’s common stock in an underwritten public offering at a price of $13.25 per share. The
closing of the equity offering was completed on April 21, 2025 and the Company raised $487.9 million in net proceeds from the equity offering, after deducting
offering costs of $12.1 million. The Company also granted the underwriters in the public offering an option to purchase up to an additional 5.7 million shares of
the Company’s common stock at a price of $13.25 per share less underwriting discounts and commissions. On May 5, 2025, the option was partially exercised
with respect to 4.0 million shares resulting in an additional $51.8 million of net proceeds.

In May 2025, the Company sold 48.5 million shares of the Company’s common stock in an underwritten public offering at a price of $16.50 per share. The
Company also granted the underwriters in the public offering an option to purchase up to an additional 7.3 million shares of the Company’s common stock at a
price of $16.50 per share less underwriting discounts and commissions. On May 21, 2025, the option was exercised in full. The closing of the equity offering
was completed on May 23, 2025 and the Company raised $892.5 million in net proceeds from the equity offering, after deducting offering costs of $27.5
million.

In June 2025, the Company sold 89.9 million shares of the Company’s common stock in an underwritten public offering at a price of $22.25 per share. The
closing of the equity offering was completed on June 26, 2025 and the Company raised $1.96 billion in net proceeds from the equity offering, after deducting
offering costs of $37.6 million. The Company also granted the underwriters in the public offering a 30-day option to purchase up to an additional 13.5 million
shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of $22.25 per share less underwriting discounts and commissions. On July 24, 2025, the option was partially
exercised with respect to 1.7 million shares resulting in an additional $38.2 million of net proceeds. The remaining option to purchase additional shares expired
unexercised at the end of the 30-day period.
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7. Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share
Basic earnings (loss) per common share is computed using the two-class method, which is an earnings allocation method that determines earnings (loss) per
share for common shares and participating securities. Basic net income (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) attributable to common
stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period, without consideration for common share equivalents or the
conversion of the Company’s Convertible Preferred Stock and Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock. The weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding used in the basic and diluted net loss per share calculation include the Pre-Funded Warrants as the Pre-Funded Warrants are exercisable at any time
for nominal consideration. Common share equivalents consist of the incremental common shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options and vesting of
restricted stock unit awards.

Diluted net income (loss) per common share is calculated by utilizing the most dilutive result of the if-converted and two-class methods. In both methods, net
income (loss) attributable to common stockholders and the weighted-average common shares outstanding are adjusted to account for the impact of the assumed
issuance of potential common shares that are dilutive, subject to dilution sequencing rules.

The following table presents the components and calculations of basic and diluted net income (loss) per common share attributable to common stockholders:

(in millions, except per share amounts; certain amounts may not recalculate
due to rounding)

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2025 2024 2025 2024

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common share computation:
Net loss $ (58.5) $ (0.6) $ (49.8) $ (0.5)

Less: Convertible Preferred Stock dividend (22.5) (6.0) (45.0) (6.0)
Less: Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock dividend (3.1) —  (3.1) — 
Less: Undistributed earnings allocated to participating securities —  —  —  — 

Net loss attributable to common shareholders $ (84.1) $ (6.6) $ (97.9) $ (6.5)

Weighted-average common shares 522.7  0.7  466.4  0.7 
Weighted average Pre-Funded Warrants 42.0  —  42.0  — 

Total weighted-average common shares outstanding 564.7  0.7  508.4  0.7 

Basic and diluted loss per common share $ (0.15) $ (9.93) $ (0.19) $ (9.72)

The following table includes the number of shares that may be dilutive common shares in the future. These shares were not included in the computation of
diluted net income (loss) per common share because the effect was either anti-dilutive or the requisite performance conditions were not met:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
(in millions) 2025 2024 2025 2024
Convertible Preferred Stock 219.0  219.0  219.0  219.0 
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock 34.8  —  34.8  — 
Warrants 219.0  219.0  219.0  219.0 
Stock-based awards 30.1  —  30.1  — 
Total potential dilutive securities not included in loss per common share 502.9  438.0  502.9  438.0 
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8. Stock-based Compensation
At the special meeting of the Company’s stockholders on May 30, 2024, the stockholders approved the QXO, Inc. 2024 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2024
Plan”). The 2024 Plan provides for the grant of options intended to qualify as incentive stock options (“ISOs”), nonqualified stock options (“NSOs”), stock
appreciation rights (“SARs”), restricted share awards, RSUs, PRSUs, cash incentive awards, deferred share units and other equity-based and equity-related
awards, as well as cash-based awards.

Subject to adjustment for changes in capitalization, the maximum aggregate number of shares of common stock that may be delivered pursuant to awards
granted under the 2024 Plan shall be equal to 30,000,000 (the “Plan Share Limit”), of which 30,000,000 shares of common stock may be delivered pursuant to
ISOs granted under the 2024 Plan (such amount, the “Plan ISO Limit”). The Company may act prior to the first day of any calendar year to provide that there
shall be no increase in the Plan Share Limit for such calendar year or that the increase in the Plan Share Limit for such calendar year shall be a lesser number of
shares than would otherwise occur. The 2024 Plan provides that the Plan Share Limit shall automatically increase on January 2 of each calendar year
commencing on January 1, 2025 and ending on January 1, 2034 in an amount equal to three percent (3%) of the sum of: i) the number of shares of common
stock outstanding as of December 31 of the preceding calendar year, and ii) the number of shares of common stock into which the Convertible Preferred Stock
outstanding on December 31 of the preceding calendar year are convertible. The Compensation and Talent Committee took no action to alter the automatic
increase effective January 1, 2025 in the Plan Share Limit under the 2024 Plan. The automatic renewal increased the Plan Share Limit to 27.0 million shares for
fiscal 2025.

As part of the Beacon Acquisition, the Company assumed the remaining shares authorized and available for future issuance under the Beacon Roofing Supply,
Inc. 2024 Stock Plan into the 2024 Plan as of the Closing Date (the “Converted Beacon Stock Plan”), which was adjusted based on the equity award exchange
ratio discussed below and subject to certain regulatory limits. As a result, 21.5 million additional shares were added to the 2024 Plan’s Plan Share Limit as of
the Closing Date and may only be used to grant equity awards to employees that were former Beacon employees on the Closing Date or QXO employees hired
after the Closing Date. A portion of the additional shares were used to grant the Converted RSUs and Converted NSOs (as defined and further discussed
below).

As of June 30, 2025, there were 33.1 million additional shares of the Company’s common stock reserved for future issuance under the 2024 Plan.

Beacon Equity Awards

On the Closing Date of the Beacon Acquisition, the Company converted outstanding Beacon stock-based incentive awards issued to Beacon employees under
the Beacon Roofing Supply, Inc. 2024 Stock Plan at a 9.8380 equity award exchange ratio. In accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement, the equity
award exchange ratio was determined as the Merger Consideration divided by the volume-weighted average closing sale price of one share of QXO’s common
stock for the five consecutive trading days ended April 28, 2025 of $12.64 per share.

Employee-held outstanding Beacon RSUs were converted into corresponding QXO RSUs, subject to the same service-based vesting terms as immediately prior
to the Beacon Acquisition. All RSUs held by a non-employee member of the board of directors of Beacon, whether vested or unvested, were accelerated in full
and cancelled in exchange for a cash payment equal to the product of (i) the Merger Consideration and (ii) the number of Beacon shares underlying such RSUs.
Each outstanding Beacon PRSU was also converted into QXO RSUs, with the performance-based vesting condition deemed satisfied at target and the resulting
award subject solely to time-based vesting (collectively, the “Converted RSUs”). All outstanding stock option awards were converted into corresponding QXO
NSOs (the “Converted NSOs”). The exercise price of Converted NSOs was adjusted using the equity award exchange ratio such that the award holders
maintained the same economic benefit as of the Closing Date.

The total fair value of the Converted RSUs and Converted NSOs was $176.8 million as of the Beacon Acquisition’s Closing Date, of which $87.5 million was
related to pre-combination expense and was included as a component of purchase price. The remaining fair value of $89.3 million relates to post-combination
expense, of which $37.5 million was accelerated and recognized during the quarter. As of June 30, 2025, the future unrecognized stock-based compensation
expense related to the outstanding Converted RSUs was $42.5 million, which will be recognized over a remaining service period of 1.5 years. As of June 30,
2025, the future unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to the outstanding Converted NSOs was $1.7 million, which will be recognized over a
remaining service period of 1.1 years.

Converted NSOs

Converted NSOs generally expire 10 years after the grant date and, except under certain conditions, the options are subject to continued employment and vest
in three annual installments over the three-year period following the grant date. During the six months ended June 30, 2025, the Company issued 5.1 million of
Converted NSOs with a weighted average exercise price of $5.04, of which 2.9 million were exercised during the period at a weighted average exercise price of
$4.97.
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RSUs

The Company grants RSUs which vest subject to the employee’s continued employment with the Company through the applicable vesting date.

The following table summarizes the activity related to the Company’s RSUs for the six months ended June 30, 2025:

(in millions, except for weighted average grant date fair value) Number of RSUs

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair

Value
Balance at beginning of period 13.5  $ 11.57 

Granted 0.7  $ 12.23 

Converted RSUs 9.7  $ 13.23 

Vested (4.4) $ 13.20 

Forfeited (0.3) $ 11.98 

Balance at end of period 19.2  $ 12.06 

The following table summarizes additional information regarding RSUs:

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2025
Weighted-average fair value per share of RSUs granted and converted $ 13.16 
Total grant date fair value of RSUs vested $ 58.1 
Total intrinsic value of RSUs released $ 73.0 

There were no RSUs granted or vested during the six months ended June 30, 2024. As of June 30, 2025, total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense
related to unvested RSUs was $176.9 million and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.7 years.

PRSUs

The Company grants PRSUs which include a service-based vesting condition and a market condition for exercisability. The service condition is subject to the
employee’s continued employment with the Company through the applicable vesting date. The vesting of certain PRSUs is also subject to achievement of
performance goals relating to the Company’s total stock return compared to the total stock return ranking of each company that is in the S&P 500 index. The
performance goals for a portion of the PRSUs will be measured over a cumulative performance period ending on December 31, 2028, and the performance
goals for the remainder of the PRSUs will be measured based on designated performance periods that occur within such cumulative period.

The following table summarizes the market-based conditions:

Percentile Position vs.
S&P 500 Index Companies

Units Earned as a
Percentage of Target

Below 55th Percentile — %
55th Percentile 100 %
65th Percentile 150 %
75th Percentile 175 %
80th Percentile 200 %
90th Percentile 225 %

The following table summarizes the activity related to the Company’s PRSUs for the six months ended June 30, 2025:

(in millions, except for weighted average grant date fair value) Number of PRSUs

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair

Value
Balance at beginning of period 8.4  $ 20.24 

Granted 0.3  15.06 

Balance at end of period 8.7  $ 20.08 

As of June 30, 2025, total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested PRSUs was $126.6 million and is expected to be recognized
over a weighted-average period of 3.2 years.
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The fair value of PRSUs with a market condition is determined on the date of grant using a Monte Carlo model to simulate total stockholder return for the
Company and peer companies. The following assumptions were used in the Monte Carlo model in determining the fair value of PRSUs granted during the six
months ended June 30, 2025:

Performance period 3.70 years
Weighted-average risk-free interest rate 3.8 %
Weighted-average expected volatility 43.0 %
Weighted-average dividend yield — %

The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve with a term equal to the expected term of the PRSU in effect at the time of grant. Expected
volatility is based on historical volatility of the stock of the Company’s peer industry group.

The RSUs and PRSUs may vest in whole or in part before the applicable vesting date if the grantee’s employment is terminated by the Company without cause
or by the grantee with good reason (as defined in the grant agreement), upon death or disability of the grantee or in the event of a change in control of the
Company. Upon vesting, the RSUs and PRSUs result in the issuance of shares of the Company’s common stock after required tax withholdings. The holders of
the RSUs and PRSUs do not have the rights of a stockholder and do not have voting rights until shares are issued and delivered in settlement of the awards.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Stock-based compensation expense is included within selling, general and administrative expenses in the condensed consolidated statements of operations. The
Company recognized stock-based compensation expense as follows:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
(in millions) 2025 2024 2025 2024
NSOs $ 7.8  $ —  $ 7.8  $ — 
RSUs 44.0  —  51.6  — 
PRSUs 13.2  —  25.8  — 
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 65.0  $ —  $ 85.2  $ — 

9. Debt
The following table summarizes all outstanding debt:

As of
June 30, 2025

(in millions) Principal Balance Carrying Value Fair Value
Revolving Lines of Credit
ABL Facility $ 199.9  $ 199.9  $ 199.9 
Borrowings under revolving lines of credit $ 199.9  $ 199.9  $ 199.9 
Long-term Debt, net
Term Loan Facility $ 850.0  $ 823.2  $ 855.3 
Notes 2,250.0  2,228.3  2,323.1 
Long-term debt, net $ 3,100.0  $ 3,051.5  $ 3,178.4 

 Effective rate on borrowings of 5.46% as of June 30, 2025.

Interest rate of 7.30% as of June 30, 2025.

 Interest rate of 6.75% as of June 30, 2025.

The Company did not have any outstanding debt as of December 31, 2024.

As of June 30, 2025, all outstanding debt was classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. The fair values of QXO Building Products’ Notes and Term Loan
Facility were based upon recent trading prices. The fair value of QXO Building Products’ ABL Facility approximated its carrying value and is primarily based
upon observable market data, such as market interest rates, for similar debt.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(1)

(2) 

(3)
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Senior Secured Notes

On April 29, 2025, Merger Sub (the “Issuer”) completed the issuance and sale of $2.25 billion in aggregate principal amount of 6.75% Senior Secured Notes
due 2032 (the “Notes”). The Notes were issued pursuant to an Indenture, dated as of April 29, 2025 (as supplemented, the “Indenture”), and, upon
consummation of the Beacon Acquisition, QXO Building Products assumed the obligations under the Notes and the Indenture and certain of QXO Building
Products’ subsidiaries (collectively, the “Subsidiary Guarantors”) guaranteed QXO Building Products’ obligations under the Notes and the Indenture. The
Notes are secured by first-priority liens on substantially all assets of the Issuer and the Subsidiary Guarantors, other than the ABL Priority Collateral (as defined
below) (the “Notes Priority Collateral”) and by second-priority liens on substantially all of the Issuer’s and the Subsidiary Guarantors’ inventory, receivables
and related assets (the “ABL Priority Collateral”), in each case, subject to certain exceptions and permitted liens. The Notes will mature on April 30, 2032.
Interest on the Notes accrues at 6.75% per annum and will be paid semi-annually, in arrears, on April 30 and October 30 of each year, beginning October 30,
2025. Proceeds from the Notes were used to partially fund the Beacon Acquisition and related transaction expenses.

On or after April 30, 2028, the Issuer may redeem the Notes at its option, in whole at any time or in part from time to time, at the redemption prices set forth in
the Indenture. In addition, prior to April 30, 2028, the Issuer may redeem the Notes at its option, in whole at any time or in part from time to time, at a
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes redeemed, plus a “make-whole” premium and accrued and unpaid interest, if any.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, at any time prior to April 30, 2028, the Issuer may also redeem up to 50% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes with
funds in an aggregate amount not to exceed the net cash proceeds from certain equity offerings at a redemption price equal to 106.75% of the principal amount
of the Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. In addition, prior to April 30, 2028, the Issuer may redeem during each twelve-month
period up to 10% of the original aggregate principal amount of the Notes at a redemption price equal to 103%, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any.

The Indenture includes customary affirmative and negative covenants with respect to the Issuer and its restricted subsidiaries. These covenants are subject to a
number of important qualifications and exceptions. Additionally, upon the occurrence of specified change of control events, the Issuer must offer to repurchase
the Notes at 101% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the purchase date. The Indenture also provides for
customary events of default. As of June 30, 2025, the Issuer and its restricted subsidiaries were in compliance with these covenants.

Debt issuance costs of $22.2 million related to the Notes were capitalized and are being amortized over the term of the financing arrangement.

As of June 30, 2025, the outstanding balance on the Notes, net of $21.7 million of unamortized debt issuance costs, was $2.23 billion.

Term Loan Facility

On April 29, 2025, Merger Sub, as initial borrower, entered into a Term Loan Credit Agreement (the “Term Loan Credit Agreement”) with Queen HoldCo,
LLC (“Holdings”), the lenders party thereto and Goldman Sachs Bank USA, as administrative agent, which provides for senior secured financing consisting of
a term loan facility (the “Term Loan Facility”) in an aggregate principal amount of $2.25 billion. Upon the consummation of the Beacon Acquisition, QXO
Building Products entered into a joinder to the Term Loan Credit Agreement as the surviving borrower (the “Borrower”). The facility matures on April 30,
2032. Proceeds from the Term Loan Facility were used to partially fund the Beacon Acquisition and related transaction expenses.

Borrowings under the Term Loan Facility bear interest at variable rates based on Term SOFR or a base rate, in each case plus an applicable margin. The facility
requires scheduled quarterly amortization payments in an annual amount equal to 1.0% of the original principal amount of borrowings under the Term Loan
Facility, with the remaining balance due at maturity. The Term Loan Facility also requires the Borrower to make certain mandatory prepayments. The Borrower
can make voluntary prepayments at any time without penalty, except in connection with a repricing event in respect of the Term Loan Facility, subject to
customary breakage costs. Any refinancing through the issuance of certain debt or any repricing amendment, in either case, that constitutes a “repricing event”
applicable to the term loans resulting in a lower yield occurring at any time during the first six months after the closing date of the Term Loan Facility will be
accompanied by a 1.00% prepayment premium or fee, as applicable.

The Term Loan Facility is unconditionally guaranteed by Holdings on a limited‑recourse basis and secured by a first-priority lien on the equity interests of the
Borrower held by Holdings. The Term Loan Facility is also guaranteed by each Subsidiary Guarantor and secured by a first-priority lien with respect to the
Notes Priority Collateral and a second-priority lien with respect to the ABL Priority Collateral. The Term Loan Facility is secured on a ratable basis with the
Notes with respect to the Notes Priority Collateral and the ABL Priority Collateral.

The Term Loan Credit Agreement includes customary affirmative and negative covenants with respect to the Borrower and its restricted subsidiaries. These
covenants are subject to a number of important qualifications and exceptions. The Term Loan Credit Agreement contains certain customary events of default,
including relating to a change of control. As of June 30, 2025, the Borrower and its restricted subsidiaries were in compliance with these covenants.
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The principal amount of borrowing under the Term Loan Facility was reduced by an original issue discount (“OID”) of 1%. OID costs of $22.5 million and
debt issuance costs of $50.9 million related to the Term Loan Facility were capitalized and are being amortized over the term of the financing arrangement.

On May 29, 2025, the Borrower made a voluntary principal prepayment of $1.40 billion under the Term Loan Facility. As a result, the Borrower was relieved
of its obligation to make quarterly amortization payments in an annual amount equal to 1.0% of the original principal amount of borrowings under the Term
Loan Facility. Additionally, as a result of the principal prepayment, the Borrower recognized a loss on debt extinguishment of $45.7 million comprised of $14.0
million of unamortized OID and $31.7 million of unamortized debt issuance costs related to the Term Loan Facility, which were separately recognized on the
condensed consolidated statements of operations.

As of June 30, 2025, the outstanding balance on the Term Loan Facility, net of $8.2 million of unamortized OID costs and $18.6 million of unamortized debt
issuance costs, was $823.2 million.

ABL Credit Agreement

On April 29, 2025, Merger Sub, as initial borrower, entered into the Asset-Based Revolving Credit Agreement (the “ABL Credit Agreement”), with Holdings,
the lenders party thereto and Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent, which provides for an asset-based revolving credit facility (the “ABL
Facility” and, together with the Term Loan Facility, the “Credit Facilities”), with an aggregate borrowing availability equal to the lesser of $2.0 billion, and the
borrowing base. Upon the consummation of the Beacon Acquisition, the Borrower entered into a joinder to the ABL Credit Agreement as the surviving
borrower. The ABL Facility matures on April 29, 2030. Based on the Borrower’s borrowing base as of June 30, 2025, the Borrower had $1.78 billion
borrowing capacity under the ABL Facility.

Borrowings under the ABL Facility bear interest at a rate equal to, at the Borrower’s option, either (a) (x) Term SOFR determined by reference to the secured
overnight financing rate published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, which rate shall be no less than zero or (b) a base rate determined by reference to
the highest of (i) the federal funds rate plus 0.50% per annum, (ii) the prime rate quoted by the Wall Street Journal as the “Prime Rate” and (iii) the sum of one-
month adjusted Term SOFR plus 1.00% per annum, which base rate shall be no less than 1.00%, or (y) with respect to borrowings of Canadian dollars, Term
CORRA determined by reference to the interbank offered rate administered by the CORRA Administrator, which rate shall be no less than zero, in each case
plus an applicable margin based on excess availability set forth in the ABL Credit Agreement. The Borrower is also required to a pay commitment fee equal to
0.20% per annum (depending on the average utilization of the commitments) to the lenders under the ABL Facility in respect of the unutilized commitments
thereunder. The Borrower can make voluntary prepayments at any time without penalty, subject to customary breakage costs.

The ABL Facility (and at the Borrower’s option certain hedging, cash management and bank product obligations secured under the ABL Facility) is
unconditionally guaranteed by Holdings on a limited‑recourse basis and secured by a second-priority lien on the equity interests of the Borrower held by
Holdings. The ABL Facility is also guaranteed by each Subsidiary Guarantor and secured by a second-priority lien with respect to the Notes Priority Collateral
and a first-priority lien with respect to the ABL Priority Collateral.

The ABL Credit Agreement includes customary affirmative and negative covenants with respect to the Borrower and its restricted subsidiaries. These covenants
are subject to a number of important qualifications and exceptions. The ABL Credit Agreement contains certain customary events of default, including relating
to a change of control. As of June 30, 2025, the Borrower and its restricted subsidiaries were in compliance with these covenants.

The ABL Facility requires that the Borrower, commencing on or after the last day of the first full fiscal quarter ending after the closing date of the ABL Facility,
maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.0 to 1.0 at any time that availability is less than the greater of (x) $120 million and (y) 10% of the lesser
of (i) the borrowing base at such time and (ii) the aggregate amount of ABL Facility commitments at such time.

Debt issuance costs of $18.8 million related to the ABL Facility were capitalized and are being amortized ratably over the term of the financing arrangement.
The debt issuance costs related to the ABL Facility are presented as an asset, included in other assets, on the condensed consolidated balance sheets. As of
June 30, 2025, there were $18.2 million of unamortized debt issuance costs related to the ABL Facility.

As of June 30, 2025, the outstanding balance on the ABL Facility was $199.9 million. The Borrower and its restricted subsidiaries also had $17.5 million in
outstanding standby letters of credit issued under the ABL Facility as of June 30, 2025.

Other Information

As of June 30, 2025, principal payments on outstanding debt mature after December 31, 2029.

Under the terms of the ABL Facility, the Term Loan Facility and the Notes, QXO Building Products is limited in making certain restricted payments, including
dividends on its common stock. Based on the provisions in the respective debt agreements and given the Company’s intention to not pay common stock
dividends in the foreseeable future, the Company does not believe that the restrictions are significant.
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10. Leases

The Company primarily operates in leased facilities, which are accounted for as operating leases. The real estate leases expire between 2025 and 2037. The
Company also leases equipment such as trucks and forklifts. Equipment leases are accounted for as either operating or finance leases. The equipment leases
expire between 2025 and 2032.

The following table presents components of lease costs recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of operations:

  Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

(in millions) 2025 2024 2025 2024

Operating lease costs $ 28.4  $ 0.1  $ 29.4  $ 0.1 
Finance lease costs:

Amortization of right-of-use assets 7.7  —  7.7  0.1 
Interest on lease obligations 2.0  —  2.0  — 

Variable lease costs 3.2  —  3.2  — 

Total lease costs $ 41.3  $ 0.1  $ 42.3  $ 0.2 

The following table presents supplemental cash flow information related to the Company’s leases:

  Six Months Ended June 30,

(in millions) 2025 2024
Cash paid for amounts included in measurement of lease obligations:

Operating cash outflows from operating leases $ 26.4  $ 0.1 
Operating cash outflows from finance leases $ 2.0  $ — 
Financing cash outflows from finance leases $ 7.2  $ 0.1 

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new finance lease liabilities $ 9.3  $ — 
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities $ 12.3  $ — 

As of June 30, 2025, the Company’s operating leases had a weighted-average remaining lease term of 6.3 years and a weighted-average discount rate of 6.26%,
and the Company’s finance leases had a weighted-average remaining lease term of 4.4 years and a weighted-average discount rate of 6.50%.

The following table summarizes future lease payments for each of the next five years ending December 31 and thereafter:

(in millions) Operating Leases   Finance Leases
2025 (July - December) $ 67.4  $ 27.5 
2026 155.3  54.3 
2027 138.8  49.3 
2028 120.8  38.0 
2029 100.7  25.0 
Thereafter 249.2  17.2 

Total future lease payments 832.2  211.3 
Imputed interest (152.4) (27.3)
Total lease liabilities $ 679.8  $ 184.0 
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11. Commitments and Contingencies
Various legal claims arise from time to time in the normal course of business. In assessing loss contingencies related to legal proceedings that are pending
against the Company, or unasserted claims that may result in such proceedings, the Company evaluates the perceived merits of any legal proceedings or
unasserted claims as well as the perceived merits of the amount of relief sought or expected to be sought therein.

The Company believes that it has adequately accrued for the potential impact of loss contingencies that are probable and reasonably estimable, and does not
believe that the ultimate resolution of any matters to which it is presently a party will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations,
financial condition or cash flows. However, the results of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, and an unfavorable resolution of one or more of
these matters could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

In addition, the Company has received certain demand letters from stockholders pertaining to disclosures made by the Company in connection with the Beacon
Acquisition, which the Company does not believe are material, individually or in the aggregate.

12. Income Taxes

The Company’s interim provision for income taxes is determined based on its annual estimated effective tax rate, applied to the actual year-to-date income, and
adjusted for the tax effects of any discrete items. The Company’s effective tax rates for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, excluding discrete items,
were 72.7% and 74.5%, respectively. The Company’s effective tax rates for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 were 28.9% and 27.3%, respectively.
The Company’s effective tax rates for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 were based on the U.S. federal statutory tax rate of 21% and state
jurisdictional income tax rates, adjusted for permanent items including compensation above $1 million, inclusive of equity awards, paid to covered employees
under Internal Revenue Code Section 162(m) and non-deductible transaction costs due to the Beacon Acquisition.

On July 4, 2025, the One Big Beautiful Bill Act (“OBBBA”) was enacted into law. The OBBBA includes provisions that include the restoration of favorable
tax treatment for certain business provisions, the permanent extension of expiring provisions of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act and modifications to the
international tax framework. There are multiple effective dates beginning in 2025 through 2027. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the
OBBBA on its consolidated financial statements.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
(“GAAP”). These accounting principles require us to make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions. We believe that the estimates, judgments and
assumptions upon which we rely are reasonable based upon information available to us at the time that these estimates, judgments and assumptions are made.
These estimates, judgments and assumptions can affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the periods presented. Our unaudited condensed consolidated financial
statements would be affected to the extent that there are material differences between these estimates and actual results. In many cases, the accounting
treatment of a particular transaction is specifically dictated by GAAP and does not require management’s judgment in its application. There are also areas in
which management’s judgment in selecting any available alternative would not produce a materially different result. The following discussion should be read in
conjunction with our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and notes appearing elsewhere in this report.

Overview

Prior to the Beacon Acquisition (as defined below), QXO, Inc. (“QXO”, “we”, “our”, or the “Company”) was primarily a technology solutions and professional
services company, providing critical software applications, consulting and other professional services, including specialized programming, training, and
technical support to small and mid-size companies in the manufacturing, distribution, and services industries.

Beacon Acquisition

On March 20, 2025, QXO entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with Beacon Roofing Supply, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(“Beacon”), and Queen MergerCo, Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of QXO (“Merger Sub”), pursuant to which QXO agreed to
acquire Beacon for a purchase price of $124.35 per share of common stock (the “Merger Consideration”) of Beacon (the “Beacon Acquisition”). On April 29,
2025 (the “Closing Date”), pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub merged with and into Beacon, with Beacon remaining as the surviving entity and
being renamed QXO Building Products, Inc. (“QXO Building Products”), and the Company completed its acquisition of Beacon in a transaction that valued
Beacon at $10.6 billion.

As a result of the Beacon Acquisition, QXO has transitioned to a building products distribution company and is the largest publicly-traded distributor of
roofing, waterproofing, and complementary building products in North America. We plan to become the tech-enabled leader in the $800 billion building
products distribution industry and generate outsized value for shareholders. We are executing our strategy toward a target of $50 billion in annual revenues
within the next decade through accretive acquisitions and organic growth.

Results of Consolidated Operations
The following tables set forth our results of operations for the periods presented. The period-to-period comparison of financial results is not necessarily
indicative of future results.

Three Months Ended June 30, % of net sales Six Months Ended June 30, % of net sales

(in millions) 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024

Net sales $ 1,906.4  $ 14.5  100.0 % 100.0 % $ 1,919.8  $ 29.0  100.0 % 100.0 %
Cost of products sold 1,504.7  8.7  78.9 % 60.0 % 1,512.8  17.5  78.8 % 60.3 %

Gross profit 401.7  5.8  21.1 % 40.0 % 407.0  11.5  21.2 % 39.7 %
Operating expense:

Selling, general and administrative 456.8  9.8  24.0 % 67.6 % 501.2  15.0  26.1 % 51.7 %
Depreciation 27.2  0.1  1.4 % 0.7 % 27.3  0.2  1.4 % 0.7 %
Amortization 79.8  0.2  4.2 % 1.4 % 80.0  0.4  4.2 % 1.4 %

Total operating expense 563.8  10.1  29.6 % 69.7 % 608.5  15.6  31.7 % 53.8 %

Loss from operations (162.1) (4.3) (8.5)% (29.7)% (201.5) (4.1) (10.5)% (14.1)%
Interest (expense) income, net (30.2) 3.5  (1.6)% 24.1 % 26.4  3.4  1.4 % 11.7 %
Loss on debt extinguishment (45.7) —  (2.4)% 0.0 % (45.7) —  (2.4)% 0.0 %

Other income, net 1.7  —  0.1 % 0.0 % 1.7  —  0.1 % 0.0 %

Loss before provision for income taxes (236.3) (0.8) (12.4)% (5.5)% (219.1) (0.7) (11.4)% (2.4)%
Benefit from income taxes (177.8) (0.2) (9.3)% (1.4)% (169.3) (0.2) (8.8)% (0.7)%

Net loss $ (58.5) $ (0.6) (3.1)% (4.1)% $ (49.8) $ (0.5) (2.6)% (1.7)%

 Percent of net sales may not foot due to rounding.

(1) (1)

(1)
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Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2025 Compared with Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2024

Net Sales

The following table summarizes net sales by line of business for the periods presented:

Three Months Ended June 30, % of net sales
(in millions, except percentages) 2025 2024 2025 2024
Residential roofing products $ 929.8  $ —  48.7 % 0.0 %
Non-residential roofing products 535.5  —  28.1 % 0.0 %
Complementary building products 426.1  —  22.4 % 0.0 %
Software products and services 15.0  14.5  0.8 % 100.0 %

Total net sales $ 1,906.4  $ 14.5  100.0 % 100.0 %

Net sales for the three months ended June 30, 2025 increased to $1.91 billion compared to $14.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024. The
increase in net sales was primarily driven by the Beacon Acquisition as Beacon’s net sales for the period April 29, 2025 through June 30, 2025 are included in
net sales for the three months ended June 30, 2025.

The following table summarizes net sales by line of business for the periods presented:

Six Months Ended June 30, % of net sales
(in millions) 2025 2024 2025 2024

Residential roofing products $ 929.8  $ —  48.5 % 0.0 %
Non-residential roofing products 535.5  —  27.9 % 0.0 %
Complementary building products 426.1  —  22.2 % 0.0%
Software products and services 28.4  29.0  1.4 % 100.0 %

Total net sales $ 1,919.8  $ 29.0  100.0 % 100.0 %

Net sales for the six months ended June 30, 2025 increased to $1.92 billion compared to $29.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024. The increase in
net sales was primarily driven by the Beacon Acquisition as Beacon’s net sales for the period April 29, 2025 through June 30, 2025 are included in net sales for
the six months ended June 30, 2025.

Cost of Products Sold

Cost of products sold for the three months ended June 30, 2025 increased to $1.50 billion, up from $8.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024. The
increase in cost of products sold was primarily due to higher net sales as a result of the Beacon Acquisition. Cost of products sold was also negatively impacted
by the inventory fair value adjustments as a result of recording Beacon’s inventory at fair value on the acquisition date.

Cost of products sold for the six months ended June 30, 2025 increased to $1.51 billion, up from $17.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024. The
increase in cost of products sold was primarily due to higher net sales as a result of the Beacon Acquisition. Cost of products sold was also negatively impacted
by the inventory fair value adjustments as a result of recording Beacon’s inventory at fair value on the acquisition date.

Selling, General and Administrative (“SG&A”)

SG&A expense for the three months ended June 30, 2025 increased to $456.8 million, up from $9.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024. The
increase in SG&A expense was primarily driven by costs incurred to support the ongoing operations of our business subsequent to the Beacon Acquisition as
well as acquisition-related transaction costs of $65.6 million and stock-based compensation expense of $65.0 million.

SG&A expense for the six months ended June 30, 2025 increased to $501.2 million, up from $15.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024. The
increase in SG&A expense was primarily driven by costs incurred to support the ongoing operations of our business subsequent to the Beacon Acquisition as
well as acquisition-related transaction costs of $75.5 million and stock-based compensation expense of $85.2 million.
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Depreciation Expense

Depreciation expense was $27.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $0.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024. The
comparative increase was primarily due to an increase in property and equipment as a result of the Beacon Acquisition.

Depreciation expense was $27.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $0.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024. The
comparative increase was primarily due to an increase in property and equipment as a result of the Beacon Acquisition.

Amortization Expense

Amortization expense was $79.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $0.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024. The
comparative increase was primarily due to amortization expense associated with new customer relationships and trade names intangible assets recognized as a
result of the Beacon Acquisition.

Amortization expense was $80.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $0.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024. The
comparative increase was primarily due to amortization expense associated with new customer relationships and trade names intangible assets recognized as a
result of the Beacon Acquisition.

Interest (expense) income, net

Interest (expense) income, net was $(30.2) million for the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $3.5 million for the three months ended June 30,
2024. The comparative increase was primarily due to additional debt that was issued by QXO Building Products in connection with the Beacon Acquisition,
resulting in higher interest expense. The increase in interest expense was partially offset by interest income due to a higher average interest-bearing cash
balance during the three months ended June 30, 2025.

Interest income, net was $26.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $3.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024. The
comparative increase was primarily due to higher interest income as a result of a higher average interest-bearing cash balance during the six months ended June
30, 2025, partially offset by higher interest expense due to additional debt that was issued by QXO Building Products in connection with the Beacon
Acquisition.

Loss on Debt Extinguishment

Loss on debt extinguishment was $45.7 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025 due to the principal prepayment of $1.40 billion under the
Term Loan Facility and includes the pro-rata extinguishment of previously capitalized original issue discounts and debt issuance costs.

Income Taxes

Benefit from income taxes was $177.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $0.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024.
The comparative increase in income tax benefit was primarily due to lower pre-tax income coupled with an increase in compensation above $1 million,
inclusive of equity awards, paid to covered employees under Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”) Section 162(m) and non-deductible transaction costs due to the
Beacon Acquisition. The effective tax rate, excluding discrete items, was 72.7% for the three months ended June 30, 2025, compared to 28.9% for the three
months ended June 30, 2024.

Benefit from income taxes was $169.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $0.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024. The
comparative increase in income tax benefit was primarily due to lower pre-tax income coupled with an increase in compensation above $1 million, inclusive of
equity awards, paid to covered employees under IRC Section 162(m) and non-deductible transaction costs due to the Beacon Acquisition. The effective tax
rate, excluding discrete items, was 74.5% for the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to 27.3% for the six months ended June 30, 2024.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures
To provide investors with additional information regarding our financial results, we have disclosed here and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report Adjusted Gross
Profit, Adjusted Gross Margin, Adjusted Net Income (Loss), Adjusted Diluted Earnings (Loss) per Common Share (“Adjusted Diluted EPS”), Adjusted
EBITDA, and Adjusted EBITDA Margin, which represent non-GAAP financial measures.

We calculate Adjusted Gross Profit as gross profit excluding inventory fair value adjustments, and we calculate Adjusted Gross Margin as Adjusted Gross
Profit divided by net sales. We calculate Adjusted Net Income (Loss) as net income (loss) excluding amortization; stock-based compensation; loss on debt
extinguishment; restructuring costs; transaction costs; transformation costs; inventory fair value adjustments; and the income tax associated with such adjusting
items. We calculate Adjusted Diluted EPS as Adjusted Net Income (Loss) divided by the weighted-averaged number of common shares outstanding during the
period plus the effect of dilutive common share equivalents based on the most dilutive result of the if-converted and two-class methods. We calculate Adjusted
EBITDA as net income (loss) excluding depreciation; amortization; stock-based compensation; interest (income) expense, net; loss on debt extinguishment;
provision for (benefit from) income taxes; restructuring costs; transaction costs; transformation costs; and inventory fair value adjustments that we do not
consider representative of our underlying operations. We calculate Adjusted EBITDA Margin as Adjusted EBITDA divided by net sales.

We have provided a reconciliation below of Adjusted Gross Profit to gross profit, the most directly comparable financial measure as measured in accordance
with GAAP, as well as a calculation of gross margin and Adjusted Gross Margin. We have provided a reconciliation below of Adjusted Net Income (Loss) to
net income (loss), the most directly comparable financial measure as measured in accordance with GAAP, as well as a calculation of diluted earnings (loss) per
common share and Adjusted Diluted EPS. We have also provided a reconciliation below of Adjusted EBITDA to net income (loss), the most directly
comparable financial measure as measured in accordance with GAAP, as well as a calculation of net margin and Adjusted EBITDA Margin.

Management uses these non-GAAP financial measures in making financial, operating and planning decisions and evaluating QXO’s ongoing performance. We
believe these non-GAAP financial measures facilitate analysis of our ongoing business operations because they exclude items that may not be reflective of, or
are unrelated to, QXO’s core operating performance, and may assist investors with comparisons to prior periods and assessing trends in our underlying
business. Other companies may calculate these non-GAAP financial measures differently, and therefore our measures may not be comparable to similarly titled
measures of other companies.

Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted Gross Margin

A reconciliation of gross profit and gross margin to Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted Gross Margin is as follows:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
(in millions, except percentages) 2025 2024 2025 2024
Gross profit $ 401.7  $ 5.8  $ 407.0  $ 11.5 

Inventory fair value adjustments 80.3  —  80.3  — 
Adjusted Gross Profit $ 482.0  $ 5.8  $ 487.3  $ 11.5 

Net sales $ 1,906.4  $ 14.5  $ 1,919.8  $ 29.0 
Gross margin 21.1 % 40.0 % 21.2 % 39.7 %
Adjusted Gross Margin 25.3 % 40.0 % 25.4 % 39.7 %

 Represents the inventory fair value adjustments related to recording the inventory of acquired businesses at fair value on the date of acquisition. We expect the inventory fair
value adjustments to be fully recognized during the year ended December 31, 2025.
 Gross margin is calculated as gross profit divided by net sales. Adjusted Gross Margin is calculated as Adjusted Gross Profit divided by net sales.

(1)

(2)

(2)

(1)

(2)
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Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted Diluted EPS

A reconciliation of net loss and diluted loss per common share to Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted Diluted EPS is as follows:

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

(in millions, except per share amounts) 2025 2025
Net loss $ (58.5) $ (49.8)

Benefit from income taxes (177.8) (169.3)
Loss before provision for income taxes (236.3) (219.1)

Amortization 79.8  80.0 
Stock-based compensation 65.0  85.2 
Loss on debt extinguishment 45.7  45.7 
Restructuring costs 35.3  35.3 
Transaction costs 65.6  75.5 
Transformation costs 11.8  11.8 
Inventory fair value adjustments 80.3  80.3 

Adjusted income before provision for income taxes 147.2  194.7 
Income tax associated with the adjustments above 38.0  50.3 

Adjusted Net Income $ 109.2  $ 144.4 

Convertible Preferred Stock dividend (22.5) (45.0)
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock dividend (3.1) (3.1)
Undistributed income allocated to participating securities —  — 

Adjusted Net Income attributable to common stockholders $ 83.6  $ 96.3 

Basic and diluted loss per common share $ (0.15) $ (0.19)
Adjusted Diluted EPS $ 0.11  $ 0.17 

Adjusted diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding 702.0 580.6

 Represents extinguishment costs resulting from the partial prepayment of borrowings under the Term Loan Facility (as defined below).
 Represents the inventory fair value adjustments related to recording the inventory of acquired businesses at fair value on the date of acquisition. We expect the inventory fair
value adjustments to be fully recognized during the year ended December 31, 2025.
 The effective tax rate to calculate Adjusted Net Income (Loss) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025 is 25.84%, due to the impacts on certain tax deductions on
adjusted income (loss) before provision for income taxes.
Adjusted Diluted EPS is calculated as Adjusted Net Income (Loss) divided by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period plus the effect of
dilutive common share equivalents based on the most dilutive result of the if-converted and two-class methods.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(4)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4) 
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Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin

A reconciliation of net loss to Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin is as follows:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
(in millions, except percentages) 2025 2024 2025 2024
Net loss $ (58.5) $ (0.6) $ (49.8) $ (0.5)

Depreciation 27.2  0.1  27.3  0.2 
Amortization 79.8  0.2  80.0  0.4 
Stock-based compensation 65.0  —  85.2  — 
Interest expense (income), net 30.2  (3.5) (26.4) (3.4)
Loss on debt extinguishment 45.7  —  45.7  — 
Benefit from income taxes (177.8) (0.2) (169.3) (0.2)
Restructuring costs 35.3  2.8  35.3  2.8 
Transaction costs 65.6  —  75.5  — 
Transformation costs 11.8  —  11.8  — 
Inventory fair value adjustments 80.3  —  80.3  — 

Adjusted EBITDA $ 204.6  $ (1.2) $ 195.6  $ (0.7)

Net sales $ 1,906.4  $ 14.5  $ 1,919.8  $ 29.0 
Net margin (3.1)% (4.1)% (2.6)% (1.7)%
Adjusted EBITDA Margin 10.7 % (8.3)% 10.2 % (2.4)%

 Represents extinguishment costs resulting from the partial prepayment of borrowings under the Term Loan Facility (as defined below).
 Represents the inventory fair value adjustments related to recording the inventory of acquired businesses at fair value on the date of acquisition. We expect the inventory fair
value adjustments to be fully recognized during the year ended December 31, 2025.
 Net margin is calculated as net income (loss) divided by net sales. Adjusted EBITDA margin is calculated as Adjusted EBITDA divided by net sales.

Seasonality
The demand for exterior building materials is closely correlated to both seasonal changes and unpredictable weather patterns, therefore demand fluctuations are
expected. In general, we expect our net sales and net income to be the highest in quarters ending June 30, September 30, and December 31, which represent the
peak months of construction and re-roofing. Conversely, we expect low net income levels or net losses in quarters ending March 31, when winter construction
cycles and cold weather patterns have an adverse impact on our customers’ ability to conduct their business.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company’s cash balance was $2.28 billion as of June 30, 2025 and consisted primarily of cash on deposit with banks and investments in money market
funds. In addition, we may choose to raise additional funds at any time through equity or debt financing arrangements, which may or may not be needed for
additional working capital, acquisitions or other strategic investments. We continually evaluate our liquidity requirements considering our operating needs,
growth initiatives and capital resources. Following the Beacon Acquisition, our primary sources of liquidity are cash on the balance sheet, cash generated by
operations and borrowings under the ABL Facility. Our primary uses of cash after the Beacon Acquisition are working capital requirements, debt service
requirements and capital expenditures. We believe that our existing liquidity and sources of capital are sufficient to support our operations over the next 12
months.

From time to time, depending upon market and other conditions, as well as upon our cash balances and liquidity, we, our subsidiaries or our affiliates may
acquire our outstanding debt securities or our other indebtedness through open market purchases, privately negotiated transactions, tender offers, redemption or
otherwise, upon such terms and at such prices as we, our subsidiaries or our affiliates may determine for cash or other consideration.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(3)

(1)

(2)

(3)
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Convertible Preferred Stock

The Company has a quarterly dividend policy in place for its Convertible Preferred Stock, and dividends are paid when declared by the board of directors.
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, the Company paid $22.5 million and $45.0 million, respectively, of dividends to holders of Convertible
Preferred Stock. Subsequent to the close of the quarter ended June 30, 2025, the Company paid $22.5 million of quarterly dividends to holders of Convertible
Preferred Stock. These dividends are part of the Company’s ongoing cash obligations and are considered when evaluating overall liquidity needs. For
additional information regarding its Convertible Preferred Stock see, Note 6 – Equity of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, in “Item 1 Financial
Statements” of this Quarterly Report.

Private Placements

On June 13, 2024, the Company entered into purchase agreements with certain institutional and accredited investors to issue and sell in a private placement an
aggregate of 340.9 million shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of $9.14 per share, and pre-funded warrants (the “Pre-Funded Warrants”) to
purchase 42.0 million shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of $9.13999 per Pre-Funded Warrant. Each Pre-Funded Warrant has an exercise price
of $0.00001 per share, is exercisable immediately and until the Pre-Funded Warrant is exercised in full. The closing of the private placement was completed on
July 19, 2024.

On July 22, 2024, the Company entered into purchase agreements with certain institutional and accredited investors to privately place 67.8 million shares of its
common stock at a price of $9.14 per share. The closing of the private placement was completed on July 25, 2024.

On March 17, 2025, the Company entered into purchase agreements with certain institutional investors to privately place 67.5 million shares of its common
stock at a price of $12.30 per share. The closing of the private placement was contingent upon the completion of the Beacon Acquisition and was completed on
April 29, 2025. As a result of the closing, the Company raised $823.8 million in net proceeds, after deducting offering costs of $6.8 million, to partially fund
the Beacon Acquisition and related costs.

Issuance of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock

On May  27, 2025, the Company completed a preferred stock offering, through which QXO issued and sold 11.5 million depositary shares (“Depositary
Shares”), each representing a 1/20th interest in a share of the Company’s 5.50% Series B Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, liquidation preference $1,000
per share, par value $0.001 per share (the “Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock”). The amount issued included 1.5 million Depositary Shares issued
pursuant to the exercise in full of the option granted to the underwriters to purchase additional Depositary Shares. The Company received net proceeds from the
offering of $558.1 million, after deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and estimated offering expenses of $16.9 million.

Dividends

The Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock will accumulate dividends (which may be paid in cash or, subject to certain limitations, in shares of common stock
or in any combination of cash and common stock) at a rate per annum equal to 5.50% on the liquidation preference of $1,000 per share, payable when, as and if
declared by the Company’s board of directors (or an authorized committee thereof), on February 15, May 15, August 15 and November 15 of each year,
beginning on August 15, 2025 and ending on, and including, May 15, 2028. Given the requirement to pay dividends in any settlement outcome of the
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, the Company accrues dividends whether or not they are formally declared by the Company’s board of directors.

Mandatory Conversion

The following table illustrates the conversion rate per share of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, subject to certain anti-dilution adjustments, based
on the applicable market value of the common stock:

Applicable Market Value of Common Stock Conversion Rate per Share of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock
Greater than $20.2126 (the “Threshold Appreciation Price”) 49.4740 shares of common stock
Equal to or less than the Threshold Appreciation Price but greater than or
equal to the Initial Price

Between 49.4740 and 60.6060 shares of common stock, determined by
dividing $1,000 by the applicable market value

Less than $16.50 (the “Initial Price”) 60.6060 shares of common stock
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The following table illustrates the conversion rate per Depositary Share, subject to certain anti-dilution adjustments, based on the applicable market value of the
common stock:

Applicable Market Value of Common Stock
Conversion Rate per Depository Share Representing a 1/20th interest in a share of

the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock
Greater than the Threshold Appreciation Price 2.4737 shares of common stock
Equal to or less than the Threshold Appreciation Price but greater than or
equal to the Initial Price

Between 2.4737 and 3.0303 shares of common stock, determined by dividing
$50 by the applicable market value

Less than the Initial Price 3.0303 shares of common stock

Optional Conversion

Other than the occurrence of a fundamental change (as defined in the Company's Certificate of Designations relating to the Mandatory Convertible Preferred
Stock) at any time prior to May 15, 2028, a holder of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock may elect to convert such holder’s shares of Mandatory
Convertible Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, at the minimum conversion rate of 49.4740 shares of common stock per share of Mandatory Convertible
Preferred Stock (equivalent to 2.4737 shares of common stock per Depositary Share), subject to certain anti-dilution and other adjustments. Because each
Depositary Share represents a 1/20th fractional interest in a share of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, a holder of Depositary Shares may convert its
Depositary Shares only in lots of 20 Depositary Shares.

Fundamental Change Conversion

If a fundamental change occurs on or prior to May 15, 2028, holders of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock will have the right to convert their shares of
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, into shares of Common Stock at the fundamental change conversion rate during the period
beginning on, and including, the effective date of such fundamental change and ending on, and including, the earlier of (a) the date that is 20 calendar days
after such effective date (or, if later, the date that is 20 calendar days after holders receive notice of such fundamental change) and (b) May 15, 2028. For the
avoidance of doubt, the period described in the immediately preceding sentence may not end on a date that is later than May 15, 2028.

Ranking

The Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock ranks, with respect to dividend rights and distribution of assets upon liquidation, winding-up or dissolution, (i)
senior to the Company’s common stock and each other class or series of capital stock, whether outstanding or established after the date of issuance of the
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, the terms of which do not expressly provide that it ranks senior to or on a parity with the Mandatory Convertible
Preferred Stock as to payment of dividends and distribution of assets upon liquidation, winding-up or dissolution, and (ii) junior to the Convertible Preferred
Stock. The Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock ranks on a parity with or junior to each class or series of capital stock, the terms of which expressly provide
for a pari passu or senior ranking, respectively, relative to the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock.

Voting Rights

Holders of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock will not have voting rights, except with respect to issuances of securities senior to the Mandatory
Convertible Preferred Stock, amendments to the Company’s Fifth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation that would materially and adversely
affect the rights of the holders of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, or in the event of a merger, consolidation, exchange or reclassification involving the
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, or non-payment of dividends for six consecutive quarters.

Registered Equity Offerings

In April 2025, the Company sold 37.7 million shares of the Company’s common stock in an underwritten public offering at a price of $13.25 per share. The
closing of the equity offering was completed on April 21, 2025 and the Company raised $487.9 million in net proceeds from the equity offering, after deducting
offering costs of $12.1 million. The Company also granted the underwriters in the public offering an option to purchase up to an additional 5.7 million shares of
the Company’s common stock at a price of $13.25 per share less underwriting discounts and commissions. On May 5, 2025, the option was partially exercised
with respect to 4.0 million shares resulting in an additional $51.8 million of net proceeds.

In May 2025, the Company sold 48.5 million shares of the Company’s common stock in an underwritten public offering at a price of $16.50 per share. The
Company also granted the underwriters in the public offering an option to purchase up to an additional 7.3 million shares of the Company’s common stock at a
price of $16.50 per share less underwriting discounts and commissions. On May 21, 2025, the option was exercised in full. The closing of the equity offering
was completed on May 23, 2025 and the Company raised $892.5 million in net proceeds from the equity offering, after deducting offering costs of $27.5
million.
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In June 2025, the Company sold 89.9 million shares of the Company’s common stock in an underwritten public offering at a price of $22.25 per share. The
closing of the equity offering was completed on June 26, 2025 and the Company raised $1.96 billion in net proceeds from the equity offering, after deducting
offering costs of $37.6 million. The Company also granted the underwriters in the public offering a 30-day option to purchase up to an additional 13.5 million
shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of $22.25 per share less underwriting discounts and commissions. On July 24, 2025, the option was partially
exercised with respect to 1.7 million shares resulting in additional net proceeds of $38.2 million. The remaining option to purchase additional shares expired
unexercised at the end of the 30-day period.

Senior Secured Notes

On April 29, 2025, Merger Sub (the “Issuer”) completed the issuance and sale of $2.25 billion in aggregate principal amount of 6.75% Senior Secured Notes
due 2032 (the “Notes”). The Notes were issued pursuant to an Indenture, dated as of April 29, 2025 (as supplemented, the “Indenture”), and, upon
consummation of the Beacon Acquisition, QXO Building Products and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Subsidiary Guarantors”) assumed the obligations
under the Notes and the Indenture and guaranteed QXO Building Products’ obligations under the Notes and the Indenture. The Notes are secured by first-
priority liens on substantially all assets of the Issuer and the Subsidiary Guarantors, other than the ABL Priority Collateral (as defined below) (the “Notes
Priority Collateral”) and by second-priority liens on substantially all of the Issuer’s and the Subsidiary Guarantors’ inventory, receivables and related assets (the
“ABL Priority Collateral”), in each case, subject to certain exceptions and permitted liens. The Notes will mature on April 30, 2032. Interest on the Notes
accrues at 6.75% per annum and will be paid semi-annually, in arrears, on April 30 and October 30 of each year, beginning October 30, 2025. Proceeds from
the Notes were used to partially fund the Beacon Acquisition and related transaction costs.

On or after April 30, 2028, the Issuer may redeem the Notes at its option, in whole at any time or in part from time to time, at the redemption prices set forth in
the Indenture. In addition, prior to April 30, 2028, the Issuer may redeem the Notes at its option, in whole at any time or in part from time to time, at a
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes redeemed, plus a “make-whole” premium and accrued and unpaid interest, if any.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, at any time prior to April 30, 2028, the Issuer may also redeem up to 50% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes with
funds in an aggregate amount not to exceed the net cash proceeds from certain equity offerings at a redemption price equal to 106.75% of the principal amount
of the Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. In addition, prior to April 30, 2028, the Issuer may redeem during each twelve-month
period up to 10% of the original aggregate principal amount of the Notes at a redemption price equal to 103%, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any.

The Indenture includes customary affirmative and negative covenants with respect to the Issuer and its restricted subsidiaries. These covenants are subject to a
number of important qualifications and exceptions. Additionally, upon the occurrence of specified change of control events, the Issuer must offer to repurchase
the Notes at 101% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the purchase date. The Indenture also provides for
customary events of default. As of June 30, 2025, we were in compliance with these covenants.

The Company capitalized debt issuance costs of $22.2 million related to the Notes, which are being amortized over the term of the financing arrangement.

As of June 30, 2025, the outstanding balance on the Notes, net of $21.7 million of unamortized debt issuance costs, was $2.23 billion.

Term Loan Facility

On April 29, 2025, Merger Sub, as initial borrower, entered into a Term Loan Credit Agreement (the “Term Loan Credit Agreement”) with Queen HoldCo,
LLC (“Holdings”), the lenders party thereto and Goldman Sachs Bank USA, as administrative agent, which provides for senior secured financing consisting of
a term loan facility (the “Term Loan Facility”) in an aggregate principal amount of $2.25 billion. Upon the consummation of the Beacon Acquisition, QXO
Building Products entered into a joinder to the Term Loan Credit Agreement as the surviving borrower (the “Borrower”). The facility matures on April 30,
2032. Proceeds from the Term Loan Facility were used to partially fund the Beacon Acquisition and related transaction costs.

Borrowings under the Term Loan Facility bear interest at variable rates based on Term SOFR or a base rate, in each case plus an applicable margin. The facility
requires scheduled quarterly amortization payments in an annual amount equal to 1.0% of the original principal amount of borrowings under the Term Loan
Facility, with the remaining balance due at maturity. The Term Loan Facility also requires the Borrower to make certain mandatory prepayments. The Borrower
can make voluntary prepayments at any time without penalty, except in connection with a repricing event in respect of the Term Loan Facility, subject to
customary breakage costs. Any refinancing through the issuance of certain debt or any repricing amendment, in either case, that constitutes a “repricing event”
applicable to the term loans resulting in a lower yield occurring at any time during the first six months after the closing date of the Term Loan Facility will be
accompanied by a 1.00% prepayment premium or fee, as applicable.
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The Term Loan Facility is unconditionally guaranteed by Holdings on a limited‑recourse basis and secured by a first-priority lien on the equity interests of the
Borrower held by Holdings. The Term Loan Facility is also guaranteed by each Subsidiary Guarantor and secured by a first-priority lien with respect to the
Notes Priority Collateral and a second-priority lien with respect to the ABL Priority Collateral. The Term Loan Facility is secured on a ratable basis with the
Notes with respect to the Notes Priority Collateral and the ABL Priority Collateral.

The Term Loan Credit Agreement includes customary affirmative and negative covenants with respect to the Borrower and its restricted subsidiaries. These
covenants are subject to a number of important qualifications and exceptions. The Term Loan Credit Agreement contains certain customary events of default,
including relating to a change of control. As of June 30, 2025, we were in compliance with these covenants.

The principal amount of borrowing under the Term Loan Facility was reduced by an original issue discount (“OID”) of 1%. The Company capitalized OID of
$22.5 million and debt issuance costs of $50.9 million related to the Term Loan Facility, which are being amortized over the term of the financing arrangement.

On May 29, 2025, the Company made a voluntary principal prepayment of $1.40 billion under the Term Loan Facility. As a result, the Company was relieved
of its obligation to make quarterly amortization payments in an annual amount equal to 1.0% of the original principal amount of borrowings under the Term
Loan Facility. Additionally, as a result of the principal prepayment, the Company recognized a loss on debt extinguishment of $45.7 million comprised of
$14.0 million of unamortized OID and $31.7 million of unamortized debt issuance costs related to the Term Loan Facility. The loss on debt extinguishment was
separately recognized on the condensed consolidated statements of operations.

As of June  30, 2025, the outstanding balance on the Term Loan Facility, net of $8.2  million of unamortized OID and $18.6  million of unamortized debt
issuance costs, was $823.2 million.

ABL Credit Agreement

On April 29, 2025, Merger Sub, as initial borrower, entered into the Asset-Based Revolving Credit Agreement (the “ABL Credit Agreement”), with Holdings,
the lenders party thereto and Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent, which provides for an asset-based revolving credit facility (the “ABL
Facility” and, together with the Term Loan Facility, the “Credit Facilities”), with an aggregate borrowing availability equal to the lesser of $2.0 billion, and the
borrowing base. Upon the consummation of the Beacon Acquisition, the Borrower entered into a joinder to the ABL Credit Agreement as the surviving
borrower. The ABL Facility matures on April 29, 2030. Based on our borrowing base as of June 30, 2025, the Company had $1.78 billion borrowing capacity
under the ABL Facility.

Borrowings under the ABL Facility bear interest at a rate equal to, at the Borrower’s option, either (a) (x) Term SOFR determined by reference to the secured
overnight financing rate published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, which rate shall be no less than zero or (b) a base rate determined by reference to
the highest of (i) the federal funds rate plus 0.50% per annum, (ii) the prime rate quoted by the Wall Street Journal as the “Prime Rate” and (iii) the sum of one-
month adjusted Term SOFR plus 1.00% per annum, which base rate shall be no less than 1.00%, or (y) with respect to borrowings of Canadian dollars, Term
CORRA determined by reference to the interbank offered rate administered by the CORRA Administrator, which rate shall be no less than zero, in each case
plus an applicable margin based on excess availability set forth in the ABL Credit Agreement. We are also required to a pay commitment fee equal to 0.20% per
annum (depending on the average utilization of the commitments) to the lenders under the ABL Facility in respect of the unutilized commitments thereunder.
The Borrower can make voluntary prepayments at any time without penalty, subject to customary breakage costs.

The ABL Facility (and at the Borrower’s option certain hedging, cash management and bank product obligations secured under the ABL Facility) is
unconditionally guaranteed by Holdings on a limited‑recourse basis and secured by a second-priority lien on the equity interests of the Borrower held by
Holdings. The ABL Facility is also guaranteed by each subsidiary guarantor and secured by a second-priority lien with respect to the Notes Priority Collateral
and a first-priority lien with respect to the ABL Priority Collateral.

The ABL Credit Agreement includes customary affirmative and negative covenants with respect to the Borrower and its restricted subsidiaries. These covenants
are subject to a number of important qualifications and exceptions. The ABL Credit Agreement contains certain customary events of default, including relating
to a change of control. As of June 30, 2025, we were in compliance with these covenants.

The ABL Facility requires that the Borrower, commencing on or after the last day of the first full fiscal quarter ending after the closing date of the ABL Facility,
maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.0 to 1.0 at any time that availability is less than the greater of (x) $120 million and (y) 10% of the lesser
of (i) the borrowing base at such time and (ii) the aggregate amount of ABL Facility commitments at such time.

The Company capitalized debt issuance costs of $18.8 million related to the ABL Facility, which are being amortized ratably over the term of the financing
arrangement. The debt issuance costs related to the ABL Facility are presented as an asset, included in other assets, net on the condensed consolidated balance
sheets. As of June 30, 2025, there were $18.2 million of unamortized debt issuance costs related to the ABL Facility.
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As of June 30, 2025, the outstanding balance on the ABL Facility was $199.9 million. The Company also had outstanding standby letters of credit related to the
ABL Facility in the amount of $17.5 million as of June 30, 2025.

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated:

Six Months Ended June 30,
(in millions) 2025 2024
Net cash used in operating activities $ (137.7) $ (0.7)
Net cash used in investing activities (10,575.4) (0.1)
Net cash provided by financing activities 7,923.7  965.9 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (0.3) — 

Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ (2,789.7) $ 965.1 

Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities was $137.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $0.7 million for the six months ended June 30,
2024. Cash used in operations increased $137.0 million during the six months ended June 30, 2025. The increase in cash used in operations was primarily due
to the seasonal timing of net working capital requirements for inventory purchases and cash collections.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $10.58 billion for the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $0.1 million for the six months ended June 30,
2024. Cash used in investing activities increased $10.58 billion in 2025 primarily due to the Beacon Acquisition and an increase in capital expenditures during
the period. See Note 3 in the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $7.92 billion for the six months ended June 30, 2025, compared to $965.9 million for the six months ended June
30, 2024. Cash provided by financing activities increased $6.96 billion during the six months ended June 30, 2025 primarily due to the issuance of the Notes,
net borrowings under our Term Loan Facility and ABL Facility, and net proceeds from the issuance of common stock and Mandatory Convertible Preferred
Stock during the period, which were partially offset by net proceeds from the issuance of Convertible Preferred Stock and warrants in the prior year.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
We have operations principally within the U.S. and therefore have only minimal foreign currency exposure. We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary
course of our business, including the effects of interest rate changes. Information relating to quantitative and qualitative disclosures about these market risks is
set forth below.

Interest Rate Risk

Our cash equivalents consist primarily of demand and money market accounts and have an original maturity date of 90 days or less. The fair value of our cash
and cash equivalents would not be significantly affected by either an increase or decrease in interest rates due mainly to the short-term nature of these
instruments. As of June 30, 2025, we had outstanding borrowings of $199.9 million under our asset-based revolving lines of credit and outstanding borrowings,
net of unamortized debt issuance costs, of $823.2 million under our Term Loan Facility and $2.23 billion under our Notes. Borrowings under our ABL Facility
and Term Loan Facility incur interest on a floating rate basis while borrowings represented by our Notes incur interest on a fixed rate basis. As of June 30,
2025, our weighted-average effective interest rate on debt instruments with variable rates was 6.94%. A 10% increase or decrease in interest rates would not
have a material effect on our interest income or expense.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Management’s Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in
the SEC’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required financial disclosure.

As of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report, our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our principal executive
officer and principal financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e). Based upon this evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were
effective as of June 30, 2025.

Change in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

On April 29, 2025, we completed our acquisition of Beacon Roofing Supply, Inc. (see Note 3 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements). We are
currently integrating policies, processes, people, technology and operations for the combined company. Management will continue to evaluate our internal
control over financial reporting as we execute integration activities. During the three months ended June  30, 2025, except as noted above, there were no
changes in our internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f), that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives
as specified above. Management does not expect, however, that our disclosure controls and procedures will prevent or detect all error and fraud. Any control
system, no matter how well designed and operated, is based on certain assumptions and can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that its objectives
will be met. Further, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues
and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

For information related to our legal proceedings, refer to Note 11 – Commitments and Contingencies of Item 1, “Financial Statements” of this Quarterly
Report.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
The following are important factors that could affect our business, financial condition or results of operations and could cause actual results for future periods
to differ materially from our anticipated results or other expectations, including those expressed in any forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly
Report, our other filings with the SEC or in presentations such as webcasts open to the public. You should carefully consider the following factors in
conjunction with this Quarterly Report, including “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Item 2 – Part I
and our consolidated financial statements and related notes in Item 1 – Part I. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face.
Additional risks and uncertainties that we are unaware of, or that we currently believe are not material, may also become important factors that adversely affect
our business, financial condition or results of operations. If any of the following risks actually occur, or other risks that we are not aware of become material,
our business, financial condition, results of operations and future prospects could be materially and adversely affected. Unless otherwise indicated or the
context otherwise requires, references in this section to historical results, risks and impacts to the business are with respect to Beacon and its consolidated
subsidiaries prior to the Beacon Acquisition.

Risks Related to Ownership of our Common Stock

The Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock and the Depositary Shares may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

The market price of our common stock is likely influenced by our outstanding Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock and the Depositary Shares. The market
price of our common stock could become more volatile and could be depressed by: (i) investors’ anticipation of the potential resale in the market of a
substantial number of additional shares of common stock received upon conversion of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock (and, correspondingly, the
Depositary Shares); (ii) possible sales of our common stock by investors who view the Depositary Shares as a more attractive means of equity participation in
us than owning shares of common stock; and (iii) hedging or arbitrage trading activity that we expect to develop involving the Depositary Shares and our
common stock.

Our common stock ranks junior to our Convertible Perpetual Preferred Stock and our Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock with respect to dividends
and amounts payable in the event of our liquidation, winding-up or dissolution.

Our common stock ranks junior to both our Convertible Perpetual Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Convertible Preferred Stock”), and our
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock with respect to the payment of dividends and amounts payable in the event of our liquidation, winding-up or
dissolution. This means that, unless accumulated dividends have been paid or set aside for payment on all our outstanding Convertible Preferred Stock and
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock through the most recently completed dividend period, no dividends may be declared or paid on our common stock
subject to limited exceptions. Likewise, in the event of our voluntary or involuntary liquidation, winding-up or dissolution, no distribution of our assets may be
made to holders of our common stock until we have paid to holders of our Convertible Preferred Stock and Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock a
liquidation preference equal to $1,000 per share plus accumulated and unpaid dividends.
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Risks Related to Product Supply and Vendor Relations

An inability to obtain the products that we distribute could result in lost revenues and reduced margins and damage relationships with customers.

We distribute roofing materials and other complementary building products, such as siding and waterproofing, that are manufactured by a number of major
suppliers. Disruptions in our sources of supply may occur as a result of various reasons, including unanticipated demand, production or delivery difficulties, the
loss of key supplier arrangements, or broad disruptive events (whether globally, in the U.S., or abroad), such as wars, terrorist actions, cybersecurity attacks or
other technological disruptions with respect to manufacturers or the material vendors we rely on, trade disputes, changes in regulation, macroeconomic events,
government shutdowns, natural disasters, including those that may be linked to climate change, and/or a pandemic. For example, in 2021 and 2022 the exterior
products industry experienced constrained supply chain dynamics caused in large part from global disruptions related to the COVID-19 pandemic. As a result,
we experienced, at times, a limited ability to purchase enough product to meet consumer demand, which resulted in lost revenues. Although we do not believe
these lost revenues were material, it is possible that future product shortages could be so severe as to result in material reductions in revenues and margins.

When shortages occur, building material suppliers often allocate products among distributors, and sourcing materials from a limited number of suppliers can
increase our risk. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we had three suppliers that each contributed 10% or more of total purchases and, in total,
represented nearly 35% of total purchases. Although we believe that our relationships with our suppliers are strong and that we would have access to similar
products from competing suppliers should products be unavailable from current sources, any supply shortage, particularly of the most commonly sold items,
could result in a loss of revenues and reduced margins and damage our reputation and relationships with customers.

A change in supplier pricing and demand could adversely affect our income and gross margins.

Many of the products that we distribute are subject to price changes based upon manufacturers’ raw material costs, energy costs, labor costs, and tariffs as well
as other manufacturer pricing decisions. For example, as a distributor of residential roofing supplies, our business is sensitive to asphalt prices, which are
highly volatile and often linked to oil prices, as oil is a significant input in asphalt production. Shingle prices have been volatile in recent years, partly due to
volatility in asphalt prices. Other products we distribute, such as plywood and oriented strand board (“OSB”), experienced price volatility largely due to supply
and demand imbalances in recent years. In addition to the rising costs of commodities and raw materials, supplier pricing and demand can also be affected by
inflationary pressures and other conditions that make it more costly for our suppliers to distribute their products to us, such as fuel shortages, fuel cost
increases, or labor shortages.

We may also experience price volatility related to the implementation of tariffs on imported steel or other products. For example, certain of our vendors use
steel as a product input, and they may increase prices as a result of tariffs incurred or the overall impact of tariffs on domestic steel prices. It remains unclear
what future actions may be taken by the U.S. with respect to trade policies or the imposition of tariffs on imported products, and the impact of those actions on
the cost of products we distribute.

Historically, we have generally been able to pass increases in prices on to our customers. Although we often are able to pass on manufacturers’ price increases,
our ability to pass on increases in costs and our ability to do so in a timely fashion depends on market conditions. For example, we experienced resource
inflation in 2021 and 2022, as a strong recovery in demand following the COVID-19 pandemic created tightness in the market for certain raw materials. This
caused our suppliers and us to increase product prices to address higher input costs.

By contrast, the inability to pass along cost increases or a delay in doing so could result in lower operating margins. In addition, higher prices could impact
demand for these products, resulting in lower sales volumes.

A change in vendor rebates could adversely affect our income and gross margins.

The terms on which we purchase products from many of our vendors entitle us to receive a rebate based on the volume of our purchases. These rebates
effectively reduce our costs for products. Vendors may adversely change the terms of some or all of these programs for a variety of reasons, including if market
conditions change. Although these changes would not affect the net recorded costs of product already purchased, it may lower our gross margins on products
we sell and therefore the income we realize on such sales in future periods.
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Risks Related to Acquisitions and our Growth Strategy

We may not be able to identify potential acquisition targets or successfully complete acquisitions on acceptable terms, which could slow our inorganic
growth rate.

Our growth strategy includes acquiring other distributors of roofing materials and complementary building products, such as siding and waterproofing. We
continually seek additional acquisition candidates in selected markets, which include engaging in exploratory discussions with potential acquisition candidates,
as well as engaging in competitive bidding processes for potential acquisition candidates. We are unable to predict whether or when we will be able to identify
any suitable acquisition candidates, or, if we do, the likelihood that any such potential acquisition will be completed. If we cannot complete acquisitions that we
identify on acceptable terms, our inorganic growth rate may decline. In addition, our current and potential competitors have made and may continue to make
acquisitions that include acquisition candidates in which we were, or would have been, interested in pursuing and such competitors may establish cooperative
relationships among themselves or with third parties. In the event that our inorganic growth does not keep pace with any significant consolidation among
distributors of roofing materials and complementary building products, our competitive position could be adversely affected.

We may not be able to effectively integrate newly acquired businesses into our operations or achieve expected cost savings or profitability from our
acquisitions.

Acquisitions involve numerous risks, including:

• unforeseen difficulties or disruptions in integrating operations, technologies, services, accounting, and employees;

• diversion of financial and management resources from existing operations;

• unforeseen difficulties related to entering geographic regions where we do not have prior experience;

• potential loss of key employees;

• unforeseen cybersecurity risks related to the businesses acquired or to the manufacturers and vendors the acquired businesses rely on;

• unforeseen liabilities and expenses associated with businesses acquired; and

• inability to generate sufficient revenue or realize sufficient cost savings to offset acquisition or investment costs.

As a result, if we fail to evaluate, execute, and integrate acquisitions properly, we might not achieve the anticipated benefits of such acquisitions and we may
incur costs in excess of what we anticipate.

A measure of our success is dependent on maintaining our safety record, and an injury to, or death of, any of our employees, customers, or members of the
general public related to our business activities could result in material liabilities and reputational injury.

Our business activities include an inherent risk of catastrophic safety incidents that could result in injuries and deaths. The activities we conduct at our
customers’ designated delivery locations — which include construction and residential job sites — present a risk of injury or death to our employees,
customers, or visitors, notwithstanding our compliance with safety regulations. We may be unable to avoid material liabilities for an injury or death, and our
workers’ compensation and other insurance policies may not be adequate or may not continue to be available on terms acceptable to us, or at all, which could
result in material liabilities to us.

Further, as a wholesale distributor of roofing materials and other complementary building products, we lease and operate a fleet of commercial motor vehicles,
including semi-tractor trailer trucks, flatbed trucks, and forklifts. Accordingly, a safety incident involving our commercial fleet could result in material
economic damages, as well as injuries and/or death, for our employees and any other parties involved. Although we believe our aggregate insurance limits
should be sufficient to cover our historic claims amounts, participants in commercial distribution and transportation activities (i.e., trucking and transportation)
have experienced large verdicts, including some instances in which juries have awarded significant amounts.

In addition, our brand’s reputation is an important asset to our business; as a result, anything that damages our brand’s reputation could materially harm our
business, results of operations, and financial condition. For example, negative media reports, whether or not accurate, can materially and adversely affect our
reputation.

Moreover, social media has dramatically increased the rate at which negative publicity can be disseminated before there is any meaningful opportunity to
respond to or address an issue to protect our reputation.
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Risks Related to Cyclicality, Seasonality, and Weather

Cyclicality in our business and general economic conditions could result in lower revenues and reduced profitability.

A portion of the products we sell are for residential and non-residential construction. The strength of these markets depends on new housing starts and business
investment, which are a function of many factors beyond our control, including credit and capital availability, interest rates, foreclosure rates, housing
inventory levels and occupancy, changes in the tax laws, employment levels, consumer confidence, and the health of the U.S. economy and mortgage markets.
Economic downturns in the regions and markets we serve could result in lower net sales and, since many of our expenses are fixed, lower profitability.
Unfavorable changes in demographics, credit markets, consumer confidence, housing affordability, or housing inventory levels and occupancy, or a weakening
of the U.S. economy or of any regional or local economy in which we operate, could adversely affect consumer spending, resulting in decreased demand for
our products, and adversely affecting our business. In addition, instability in the economy and financial markets, including as a result of terrorism or civil or
political unrest, may result in a decrease in housing starts or business investment, which would adversely affect our business.

Seasonality, weather-related conditions, and natural disasters may have a significant impact on our financial results.

The demand for building materials is heavily correlated to both seasonal changes and unpredictable weather patterns. Seasonal demand fluctuations are
expected, such as in quarters ending March 31, when winter construction cycles and cold weather patterns typically have an adverse impact on new
construction and re-roofing activity. The timing of weather patterns (unseasonable temperatures) and severe weather events (hurricanes, hailstorms, and
protracted rain) may impact our financial results within a given period either positively or negatively, making it difficult to accurately forecast our results of
operations. We expect that these seasonal and weather-related variations will continue in the future.

Certain extreme weather events and natural disasters, such as hurricanes, tornadoes, earthquakes, tropical storms, floods, droughts, and wildfires, may
adversely impact us in several ways, including interfering with our ability to deliver our products, impeding our receipt of product from our vendors, disrupting
branch staffing, reducing demand for our products, impairing our customers’ ability to pay accounts receivable, and damaging our facilities and inventory,
although some of these adverse impacts may be offset by increased demand relating to damage from these weather events and natural disasters. Some of the
areas in which we operate, including California, Florida, Louisiana, North Carolina, Texas and other coastal areas, have experienced recent natural disasters
and have increased risks of adverse weather or natural disasters. The physical effects of climate change may increase the frequency or severity of natural
disasters and other extreme weather events in the future, which could increase our exposure to these risks.

Risks Related to Information Technology

If we encounter interruptions in the proper functioning of our information technology systems, including from cybersecurity threats, we could experience
material problems with our operations, including inventory, collections, customer service, cost control, and business plan execution that could have a
material adverse effect on our financial results, including unanticipated increases in costs or decreases in net sales.

Our information technology systems (“IT systems” or “systems”), which include information technology networks, hardware, applications, and the data related
thereto, are integral to the operation of our business. We use our IT systems to, among other things, provide complete integration of purchasing, receiving,
order processing, shipping, inventory management, delivery routing, sales analysis, cash management, and accounting, as well as to process, transmit, protect,
store, and delete sensitive and confidential electronic data, including, but not limited to, employee, supplier, and customer data (“Data”). Our IT systems
include third-party applications and proprietary applications developed and maintained by us. We rely heavily on information technology both in serving our
customers and in our enterprise infrastructure to achieve our objectives. In certain instances, we also rely on the systems of third parties to assist with
conducting our business, which includes, among other things, marketing and distributing products, developing new products and services, operating our
website, hosting and managing our services, securely storing Data, processing transactions, purchasing and receiving, billing and accounts receivable
management, responding to customer inquiries, managing inventory and our supply chain, and managing our human resources processes and services. As a
result, the secure and reliable operation of our systems (including its function of securing Data), and those of third parties upon whom we depend, are critical to
the successful operation of our business. Any failure or interruption of our IT systems, including the systems of third parties upon whom we depend, could have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial results, and reputation.
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Although our IT systems and Data are protected through security measures and business continuity plans, our systems and those of third parties upon whom we
depend may be vulnerable to: natural disasters; power outages; telecommunication or utility failures; terrorist acts; breaches due to employee error or
malfeasance or other insider threats; disruptions during the process of upgrading or replacing computer software or hardware; terminations of business
relationships by us or third-party service providers; and disinformation campaigns, damage or intrusion from a variety of deliberate cyber-attacks carried out by
insiders or third parties, which are becoming more sophisticated and include computer viruses, worms, gaining unauthorized access to systems for purposes of
misappropriating assets or sensitive information either directly or through our vendors and customers, denial of service attacks, ransomware, supply chain
attacks, data corruption, malicious distribution of inaccurate information or other malicious software programs that may impact such systems and cause
operational disruption. For these IT systems and related business processes to operate effectively, we or our service providers must continually maintain and
update them. Delays in the maintenance, updates, upgrading, or patching of these systems and related business processes could impair their effectiveness or
expose us to security risks. In addition, if IT systems are damaged, restoration or recovery of those systems may not be achievable in a timely manner.

Even with our policies, procedures, and programs designed to ensure the integrity of our IT systems and the security of Data, we may not be effective in
identifying and mitigating every risk to which we are exposed. In some instances, we may have no current capability to detect certain vulnerabilities, which
may allow them to persist in the environment over long periods of time.

Additionally, existing and future artificial intelligence (“AI”) capabilities present a growing threat by aiding experienced and inexperienced threat actors in
identifying vulnerabilities and crafting increasingly sophisticated and targeted cybersecurity attacks. Vulnerabilities may also be introduced from the use of AI
by us, our customers or suppliers. Use of AI by us or such third parties, whether authorized or unauthorized, increases the risk that our proprietary information
or intellectual property will be unintentionally disclosed, and may introduce new risks such as inaccurate output.

Despite the precautions we take to mitigate the risks of such events, any attack on our IT systems or breach of our Data, or the IT systems and Data of third
parties upon whom we depend, could result in, but are not limited to, the following: business disruption, misstated or misappropriated financial data, product
shortages and/or an increase in accounts receivable aging, an adverse impact on our ability to attract and serve customers, delays in the execution of our
business plan, theft of our intellectual property or other non-public confidential information and Data, including that of our customers, suppliers, and
employees, liability for stolen assets or information, and higher operating costs including increased cybersecurity protection costs. Such events could harm our
reputation and have an adverse impact on our financial results, including the impact of related legal, regulatory, and remediation costs. In addition, if any
information about our customers, including payment information, were the subject of a successful cybersecurity attack against us, we could be subject to
litigation or other claims by the affected customers. Further, regulatory authorities have increased their focus on how companies collect, process, use, store,
share, and transmit personal data. Privacy security laws and regulations, including federal and state laws in the U.S. and federal and provincial laws in Canada,
pose increasingly complex compliance challenges, which may increase compliance costs, and any failure to comply with data privacy laws and regulations
could result in litigation, significant sanctions, monetary costs, or other harm to us.

If we decide to switch providers, develop our own IT systems to replace providers, or implement upgrades or replacements to our own systems, we may be
unsuccessful in this development, or we may underestimate the costs and expenses of switching providers or developing and implementing our own systems.
Also, our sales levels may be negatively impacted during the period of implementing an alternative system, which period could extend longer than we
anticipate.
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Risks Related to Human Capital

Loss of key talent or our inability to attract and retain new qualified talent could hurt our ability to operate and grow successfully.

Our success will continue to depend to a significant extent on our executive officers and key management personnel, including branch managers. We may not
be able to retain our executive officers and key personnel or recruit and attract additional qualified management. The loss of any of our current executive
officers or other key management employees, or a delay in recruiting or our inability to recruit and retain qualified employees could adversely affect our ability
to operate and make it difficult to execute our strategies to drive growth, enhance customer service, and expand our footprint in key markets. In addition, our
operating results could be adversely affected by increased competition for employees, shortages of qualified workers, or higher employee turnover, all of which
could have adverse effects on levels of customer service or result in increased employee compensation or benefit costs.

Our business may be adversely affected by work stoppages, union negotiations, labor disputes and other matters associated with our labor force or the
labor force of our suppliers or customers.

Any labor disputes, work stoppages, or unionization efforts could result in significant increases in our cost of labor. While we believe that our relations with
employees generally and the labor unions that represent our employees (which as of December 31, 2024 was approximately 4.4% of our workforce) are
generally good and we have experienced no material strikes or work stoppages recently (and there are no material outstanding labor disputes currently), in the
future we could experience these and other types of conflicts with labor unions, other groups representing employees, or with our employees in general.

Installation, replacement and repair of roofing is a labor-intensive business. Demand for our products may be impacted by our customers’ ability to attract,
train, and retain workers. Changes in immigration laws and regulations, trends in labor migration, and increases in our customers’ personnel costs or the
inability of our customers to hire sufficient personnel, which may be amplified in tight labor market conditions, could adversely impact our business, financial
position, results of operations, and cash flows.

Regulatory Risk

Our activities and operations are subject to numerous laws and regulations and we could become subject to newly enacted laws and regulations,
compliance with which could increase our general and administrative costs. If we violate such laws or regulations, we could face penalties and fines or be
required to curtail operations.

We are subject to various federal, state, provincial, local and other laws and regulations, including, among other things, environmental, climate, transportation,
health and safety laws and regulations, tax laws and regulations, and potential tariffs on imported products. Some of the regulations to which we are subject
include:

• transportation regulations promulgated by the U.S. Department of Transportation;

• work safety regulations promulgated by the Occupational Safety and Health Administration;

• employment regulations promulgated by the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission and the U.S. Department of Labor;

• environmental regulations promulgated by the Environmental Protection Agency; and

• similar regulations promulgated by state, provincial, and local regulators.

Concern over climate change has led to, and may in the future lead to, new or increased legal and regulatory requirements designed to reduce or mitigate the
effects of climate change, which could increase our operating or capital expenses and compliance burdens.

Applicable laws and regulations require us to obtain and maintain permits and approvals and implement programs and procedures to control risks associated
with our operations. Compliance in these or other areas may increase our general and administrative costs and adversely affect our financial condition,
operating results, and cash flows. Moreover, failure to comply with the regulatory requirements applicable to our business could expose us to investigation,
enforcement actions, litigation, and substantial fines and penalties that could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

These laws, regulations, or rules and their interpretation and application may also change from time to time and those changes could be substantial and have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. We cannot predict the nature and timing of future
developments in law and regulations and whether we will be successful in meeting future demands of regulatory bodies in a manner which will not materially
adversely affect us.
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Risks Related to the Acquisition of Beacon

We may be unable to integrate Beacon successfully and realize the anticipated benefits of the Beacon Acquisition.

The successful integration of Beacon and operations into those of our own and our ability to realize the expected benefits of the transaction are subject to a
number of risks and uncertainties, many of which are outside of our control. We will also be required to devote significant management attention and resources
to integrating business practices, cultures and operations of each business. The risks and uncertainties relating to integrating the two businesses include, among
other things:

• the challenge of integrating complex organizations, systems, operating procedures, compliance programs, technology, networks and other assets of
Beacon;

• the difficulties harmonizing differences in the business cultures of QXO and Beacon;

• the inability to successfully integrate our respective businesses in a manner that permits us to achieve the cost savings and other anticipated benefits
from the Beacon Acquisition;

• the inability to minimize the diversion of management attention from ongoing business concerns during the process of integrating Beacon into our
businesses;

• the inability to resolve potential conflicts that may arise relating to customer, supplier and other important relationships of our business and Beacon;

• difficulties in retaining key management and other key employees; and

• the challenge of managing the expanded operations of a significantly larger and more complex company and coordinating geographically separate
organizations.

As a result of the Beacon Acquisition, we expect to realize certain synergies and cost savings. Any synergies and cost savings that we realize may differ
materially from our estimates and involve risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to
be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such estimates. This information is speculative in nature,
and some or all of the assumptions underlying the estimated synergies and cost savings may not materialize or may vary from actual results. Our ability to
realize these anticipated synergies and savings is subject to significant uncertainties and you should not place undue reliance on the adjustments in evaluating
our anticipated results.

We have incurred substantial expenses to consummate the Beacon Acquisition but may not realize the anticipated benefits. In addition, even if we are able to
integrate Beacon successfully, the anticipated benefits of the Beacon Acquisition may not be realized fully, or at all, or may take longer to realize than expected.
Given the size and significance of the Beacon Acquisition, we may encounter difficulties in the integration of the operations of Beacon and may fail to realize
the full benefits and synergies of the Beacon Acquisition, which could adversely impact our business, results of operation and financial condition.

Beacon may have liabilities that are not known to us.

Beacon may have liabilities that we failed, or were unable, to discover in the course of performing our due diligence investigations of Beacon. We cannot
assure you that the indemnification available to us under the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of March 20, 2025 (the “Merger Agreement”) in respect of
the Beacon Acquisition will be sufficient in amount, scope or duration to fully offset the possible liabilities associated with the business of Beacon or property
that we assumed upon consummation of the Beacon Acquisition. We may learn additional information about Beacon that materially adversely affects us, such
as unknown or contingent liabilities and liabilities related to compliance with applicable laws. Any such liabilities, individually or in the aggregate, could have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Acquisition accounting adjustments could adversely affect our financial results.

We will account for the completion of the Beacon Acquisition using the acquisition method of accounting. We will allocate the total estimated purchase price to
net tangible assets, amortizable intangible assets and indefinite-lived intangible assets, and based on their fair values as of the date of completion of the Beacon
Acquisition record the excess, if any, of the purchase price over those fair values as goodwill. Differences between preliminary estimates and the final
acquisition accounting may occur, and these differences could have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements and the combined company’s
future results of operations and financial position.
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We will be subject to business uncertainties that could adversely affect our business.

Our success following the Beacon Acquisition will depend in part upon the ability to maintain our business relationships. Uncertainty about the effect of the
Beacon Acquisition on customers, suppliers, employees and other constituencies may have a material adverse effect on us. Customers, suppliers and others
who deal with us may delay or defer business decisions, decide to terminate, modify or renegotiate their relationships or take other actions as a result of the
Beacon Acquisition that could negatively affect the revenues, earnings and cash flows of our company. If we are unable to maintain these business and
operational relationships, our financial position, results of operations or cash flows could be materially affected.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

We incurred substantial additional indebtedness in connection with the Beacon Acquisition.

We incurred, through our wholly owned subsidiary QXO Building Products, Inc. (formerly known as Beacon Roofing Supply, Inc.) and its subsidiaries (the
“Credit Parties”), substantial indebtedness in connection with the Beacon Acquisition. As of the closing of the Beacon Acquisition, on a consolidated basis, we
had approximately $4.9 billion face value of outstanding indebtedness (excluding capital leases and finance lease obligations), and revolving commitments
under the ABL Facility of $2.0 billion, of which $199.9 million was outstanding as of June 30, 2025. As of June 30, 2025, we had approximately $1.78 billion
available for additional borrowing under our ABL Facility (subject to a borrowing base and excluding approximately $17.5 million in letters of credit
outstanding thereunder).

Our high level of debt could have important consequences, including:

• making it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to our debt and any failure to comply with the obligations of any of our debt
instruments, including restrictive covenants and borrowing conditions, could result in an event of default under the agreements governing other
indebtedness;

• requiring us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to the payment of interest and the repayment of our indebtedness, thereby
reducing funds available to us for other purposes;

• limiting our ability to obtain additional financing to fund future working capital, capital expenditures, business development or other general corporate
requirements, including dividends, if and when declared by our board of directors;

• increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

• making us more highly leveraged than some of our competitors, which may place us at a competitive disadvantage;

• restricting us from making strategic acquisitions, engaging in development activities or exploiting business opportunities;

• causing us to make non-strategic divestitures;

• exposing us to the risk of increased interest rates as certain of our borrowings are and may in the future be at variable rates of interest;

• limiting our flexibility in planning for and reacting to changes in our industry;

• impacting our effective tax rate; and

• increasing our cost of borrowing.

In addition, the credit agreements governing the Credit Facilities and the Indenture contain restrictive covenants that limit the ability of the Credit Parties to
engage in activities that may be in our long-term best interest. Our failure to comply with those covenants could result in an event of default which, if not cured
or waived, could result in the acceleration of substantially all of our indebtedness.
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We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our indebtedness and may be forced to take other actions to satisfy the obligations of the
Credit Parties under our indebtedness, which may not be successful.

Our ability to make scheduled payments on or refinance the debt obligations of the Credit Parties depends on our financial condition and operating
performance, which are subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to certain financial, business, legislative, regulatory and other factors
beyond our control. We may be unable to maintain a level of cash flows from operating activities sufficient to permit the Credit Parties to pay the principal and
interest on our indebtedness.

If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund the debt service obligations, we could face substantial liquidity problems and could be forced to
reduce or delay investments and capital expenditures, or to dispose of material assets or operations, alter our dividend policy, seek additional debt or equity
capital or restructure or refinance our indebtedness. We may not be able to effect any such alternative measures on commercially reasonable terms or at all and,
even if successful, those alternative actions may not allow us to meet the scheduled debt service obligations. The instruments governing our indebtedness
restrict our ability to dispose of assets and restrict the use of proceeds from those dispositions and also restrict our ability to raise debt or equity capital to be
used to repay other indebtedness when it becomes due. We may not be able to consummate those dispositions or to obtain proceeds in an amount sufficient to
meet any debt service obligations when due.

Our inability to generate sufficient cash flows to satisfy the debt obligations, or to refinance our indebtedness on commercially reasonable terms or at all, may
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and our ability to satisfy our obligations under our indebtedness or pay
dividends on our Common Stock.

Our debt agreements contain restrictions that limit our flexibility in operating our business.

The credit agreements that govern the Credit Facilities and the Indenture contain, and any other existing or future indebtedness of ours would likely contain, a
number of covenants that impose significant operating and financial restrictions on us, through the Credit Parties, including restrictions on the ability of the
Credit Parties to, among other things:

• incur additional debt, guarantee indebtedness or issue certain preferred shares;

• pay dividends on or make distributions in respect of, or repurchase or redeem, our capital stock or make other restricted payments;

• prepay, redeem or repurchase certain debt;

• make loans or certain investments;

• sell certain assets;

• create liens on certain assets;

• consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets;

• enter into certain transactions with our affiliates;

• enter into agreements restricting our subsidiaries’ ability to pay dividends; and

• designate our subsidiaries as unrestricted subsidiaries.

As a result of these covenants, we are limited in the manner in which we conduct our business, and may be unable to engage in favorable business activities or
finance future operations or capital needs.

A failure to comply with the covenants under the Credit Facilities, the Indenture or any of our other existing or future indebtedness could result in an event of
default, which, if not cured or waived, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In the event of an
event of default under the Credit Facilities, the lenders:

• will not be required to lend any additional amounts to us;

• could elect to declare all borrowings outstanding, together with accrued and unpaid interest and fees, to be due and payable and terminate all
commitments to extend further credit;

• could require us to apply all of our available cash to repay these borrowings; or

• could effectively prevent us from making debt service payments (due to a cash sweep feature).
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Such actions by the lenders could cause cross defaults under our other indebtedness. If we were unable to repay those amounts, the holders of the Notes, the
lenders under the Credit Facilities and any of our other existing or future secured indebtedness could proceed against the collateral granted to them to secure
the Notes, the Credit Facilities or such other indebtedness. We pledged a significant portion of our assets as collateral under the Notes and the Credit Facilities.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
Not applicable.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
None.

Item 5. Other Information

The predecessor financial information is included as Exhibit 99.1 to this Quarterly Report and are incorporated herein by reference.

.
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Item 6. Exhibits

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number Description Form Exhibit Filing Date

3.1 Certificate of Designations, filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and effective May
27, 2025.

8-K 3.1 May 27, 2025

4.1 Form of Certificate for the 5.50% Series B Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock (included as Exhibit A
to Exhibit 3.1).

8-K 4.1 May 27, 2025

4.2 Deposit Agreement, dated as of May 27, 2025, among QXO, Inc., Equiniti Trust Company, LLC, acting as
the Depositary, and the holders from time to time of the depositary receipts described therein.

8-K 4.2 May 27, 2025

4.3 Form of Depositary Receipt for the Depositary Shares (included as Exhibit A to Exhibit 4.2). 8-K 4.3 May 27, 2025

4.4 Indenture, dated as of April 29, 2025, among Queen MergerCo, Inc., the subsidiary guarantors party
thereto and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as trustee.

8-K 4.1 April 29, 2025

4.5 Supplemental Indenture No. 1, dated as of April 29, 2025, among QXO Building Products, Inc., the
subsidiary guarantors party thereto and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as trustee.

8-K 4.2 April 29, 2025

10.1 Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of April 29, 2025, among Queen HoldCo, LLC, as Holdings,
Queen MergerCo, Inc., as Borrower, the lenders party thereto and Goldman Sachs Bank USA, as
administrative agent.

8-K 10.1 April 29, 2025

10.2 Asset-Based Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of April 29, 2025, among Queen HoldCo, LLC, as
Holdings, Queen MergerCo, Inc., as Borrower, the subsidiary borrowers party thereto, the lenders and
issuing banks party thereto and Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent.

8-K 10.2 April 29, 2025

10.3 Joinder to Credit Agreement, dated as of April 29, 2025, by QXO Building Products, Inc., as Surviving
Borrower, in respect of the Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of April 29, 2025, among Queen
HoldCo, LLC, as Holdings, Queen MergerCo, Inc., as Borrower, the lenders party thereto and Goldman
Sachs Bank USA, as administrative agent.

8-K 10.3 April 29, 2025

10.4 Joinder to Credit Agreement, dated as of April 29, 2025, by QXO Building Products, Inc., as Surviving
Borrower, in respect of the Asset-Based Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of April 29, 2025, among
Queen HoldCo, LLC, as Holdings, Queen MergerCo, Inc., as Borrower, the subsidiary borrowers party
thereto, the lenders and issuing banks party thereto and Citibank, N.A., as administrative agent and
collateral agent.

8-K 10.4 April 29, 2025

10.5* Offer Letter, dated June 6, 2024, by and between QXO, Inc. and Christopher Signorello.
19.1* Securities Trading Policy of QXO, Inc.
31.1* Certification by the Principal Executive Officer of Registrant pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002 (Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)).
31.2* Certification by the Principal Financial Officer of Registrant pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002 (Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)).
32.1** Certification by the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350 as adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2** Certification by the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section

906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
99.1* Unaudited predecessor financial information for QXO Building Products, Inc.
101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its

XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.
101.SCH*   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
101.CAL*   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation
101.PRE*   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation
101.LAB*   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels
101.DEF*   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition
104* Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

*Filed herewith

**Furnished herewith
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report on Form 10-Q to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

  QXO, INC.

Date: August 14, 2025 By: /s/ Brad Jacobs
    Brad Jacobs

Chief Executive Officer
    (Principal Executive Officer)

Date: August 14, 2025 By: /s/ Ihsan Essaid
Ihsan Essaid
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Five American Lane
Greenwich, CT 06831

Exhibit 10.5

June 6, 2024

Christopher Signorello

Delivered via email to chris.signorello@jpe.com

Hello Chris,

On behalf of QXO, Inc. (the “Company”), I am happy to offer you the position of Chief Legal Officer and Secretary. I know I speak
for the rest of our team when I say how pleased we are to make you this offer.

In this role, you will report directly to Brad Jacobs, CEO, and you’ll be based out of our Greenwich, CT office, beginning on June 6,
2024.

Your salary and compensation

We’d like to offer you the following compensation package:

• Base Salary: Your initial annual base salary will be $515,000, less all applicable withholdings and deductions, and pro-rated
for any partial period worked.

• Annual Incentive: You will be eligible to participate in the Company’s annual incentive program. Your initial target annual
incentive opportunity is 100% of your base salary. Your actual incentive payment, if any, for each fiscal year will be
determined based on the level of achievement of applicable performance goals established by the Compensation and Talent
Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Committee”). Annual incentive awards will be determined in the
discretion of the Committee and will be reflective of your individual performance and contributions, Company and/or
business unit performance, as applicable, and the scope and expectations of your position/role in the Company and/or your
business unit. As an at will employee, annual incentives are subject to change at the sole discretion of the Company. Your
annual incentive for fiscal year 2024 will not be prorated based on your start date.

• Initial Long-Term Incentive: You will be eligible for an initial long-term incentive award in the form of time-based
restricted stock units (“RSUs”) relating to 150,000 shares of the Company’s common stock (the “Initial RSU Award”),
subject to approval by the Committee as part of its overall review of equity grants to be issued under the QXO, Inc. 2024
Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan. The Initial RSU Award is expected to be granted following your start date, on a date
selected by the Committee that is no later than 120 days following the date of this offer letter, subject to your continued
employment with the Company through the grant date. The Initial RSU Award will vest over five years, with the first year
covering 15% of the RSUs, each of the second and third years covering 17.5% of the RSUs, the fourth year covering 25% of
the RSUs, and the fifth year covering 25% of the RSUs, and the Initial RSU Award will be subject to the terms and
conditions of the QXO, Inc. 2024 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan and the applicable award agreement thereunder.



• You will also be eligible for an initial long-term incentive award in the form of performance-based restricted stock units
(“PSUs”) relating to a target number of 150,000 shares of the Company’s common stock (the “Initial PSU Award”), subject
to approval by the Committee as part of its overall review of equity grants to be issued under the QXO, Inc. 2024 Omnibus
Incentive Compensation Plan. The Initial PSU Award is expected to be granted following your start date, on a date selected
by the Committee that is no later than 120 days following the date of this offer letter, subject to your continued employment
with the Company through the grant date. The Initial PRSU Award will vest upon certification by the Committee of the
achievement of prescribed performance goals on both an annual and cumulative basis, and will be subject to the terms and
conditions of the QXO, Inc. 2024 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan and the applicable award agreement thereunder.

Your benefits

At QXO, we are committed to hiring the best talent. That is why we offer a competitive benefits package. Additional details related
to our benefits package will follow in the coming weeks.

Severance benefits

You will be eligible for severance payments and other benefits upon certain qualifying employment termination events, subject to the
terms and conditions of the QXO, Inc. Severance Plan, as in effect from time to time (the “Severance Plan”).

Legal considerations

In your work for the Company, you are expected not to use or disclose any confidential information, including trade secrets, of any
former employer or other person to whom you have a confidentiality obligation. You are expected to use only generally known
information which is used by persons with training and experience comparable to your own, which is common in the industry or
otherwise legally in the public domain, or which is otherwise provided or developed by the Company. As a condition of your
continued employment, you are expected to abide by the Company’s rules and policies as may be published from time to time.

During our discussions about your proposed job duties, you assured us that you would be able to perform those duties within the
guidelines just described.

You confirm that you have carefully reviewed your files (including emails, computer files and hard copies, whether personal or
business) and deleted, and not retained copies of, any files prepared, generated or used during any prior employment that could
contain confidential information or trade secrets of your current or former employer. You agree not to bring onto Company premises
any unpublished documents or property belonging to any former employer or other person to whom you owe a confidentiality
obligation.

Your employment with the Company will be “at-will.” This means that either you or the Company may terminate the employment
relationship at any time and for any reason, with or without cause or advance notice. In the event of your resignation, you will give
the Company at
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least 30 days’ advance notice, which may be waived by the Company in its sole discretion and without payment to you.

Confidential Information Protection Agreement

Your acceptance of this offer and commencement of employment with the Company is contingent upon your acceptance of the
Company’s Confidential Information Protection Agreement (“CIPA”), which prohibits unauthorized use or disclosure of the
Company’s confidential and proprietary information and includes certain restrictive covenants, including non-competition and non-
solicitation provisions.

Pre-Hire Screening and Work Authorization

This employment offer is contingent on the satisfactory conclusion of appropriate background check and a pre-employment drug
screen as applicable. Although your employment at the Company may begin prior to the completion of the background check or drug
screen at the Company’s discretion, your continued employment remains subject to the satisfactory completion of the background
check and drug screen. As required by law, this offer is subject to satisfactory proof of your right to work in the United States.

Entire Offer

This letter, along with the CIPA and Severance Plan, contains the entire agreement and understanding between you and the Company
regarding the employment relationship and supersedes any prior or contemporaneous agreements, understandings, communications,
offers, representations, warranties, or commitments by or on behalf of the Company (oral or written). Neither this offer letter nor any
other written materials issued by the Company constitutes a contract between you and the Company for employment, express or
implied, for any specific duration.

Taking the next step

As you know, the Company has generated tremendous momentum, thanks to the efforts of our people. With you on our team, we are
sure to continue along this trajectory and move forward to greater success. Please make sure you have read the offer letter
completely, including all enclosures. Then sign and return the offer letter and CIPA by e-mail to Josephine.berisha@qxo.com within
five (5) business days of the same being sent to you. This offer will terminate if it is not accepted, signed, and returned by that date,
unless otherwise mutually agreed between the parties.

If you have any questions, please reach out to me at Josephine.berisha@qxo.com.

[Signature Page Follows.]
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Best regards,

/s/ Josephine Berisha
Josephine Berisha
Chief Human Resources Officer

Enclosures: Confidential Information Protection Agreement; Severance Plan

ACCEPTED AND AGREED:

/s/ Christopher Signorello
Christopher Signorello

[Offer Letter Signature Page]



CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION PROTECTION AGREEMENT

In this CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION PROTECTION AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”), the terms “we,” “us,” “our,”
and the “Company” mean, collectively, QXO, Inc., together with its subsidiaries and controlled affiliates. “You,” “your,” “me” and
“Employee” mean the specific individual whose signature appears on the last page of this Agreement. To help explain the obligations
created under this Agreement, we use certain capitalized terms (e.g., “Confidential Information,” “Cause,” etc.), which are defined
throughout the Agreement and, in some cases, in alphabetical order in Section 18 below.

Background Information

This Agreement is a condition of your employment by the Company. You acknowledge that we are employing you and
providing you with substantial compensation in a new position with the Company in consideration for your execution and delivery
of this Agreement.

Agreement

In consideration of the Company’s obligations under this Agreement, your employment with the Company and our providing
you with substantial compensation, you and the Company agree as follows:

1. Confidentiality Covenant. You agree to use our “Confidential Information” (as that term is defined in Section 18) only for our
benefit. You agree that, other than as required to perform your duties for us, you will not at any time use, disclose, download or copy our
Confidential Information (including but not limited to personal email or storage media) or assist any other person or entity to do so.
Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, nothing contained herein is intended to, or shall be interpreted in a manner that does,
prohibit, limit or restrict you from exercising any legally protected whistleblower rights (including pursuant to Rule 21F under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended).

2. Return of Company Property When Requested. You agree to promptly return to us when we request, but in any event by your
“Termination Date” (as that term is defined in Section 18), all of our Confidential Information and all other Company property (tangible or
intangible) in your possession or control (e.g., all documents, data, recordings, smartphones, computers and other business equipment, inclusive
of all information stored in electronic form), obtained or prepared by or for or utilized by you in the course of your employment, all of which you
acknowledge and agree is and shall remain our sole and exclusive property. You further agree not to tamper with, alter, delete or destroy any
Company property, documents, records or data contained in any location, including but not limited to any information contained on any
Company-owned computer or electronic device, system, database, server, portal or network. In this regard, you agree not to re-set, wipe or return
to their default settings Company-owned electronic devices, absent our prior written consent. In addition, you agree not to access or attempt to
access any electronic device, system, database, server, portal or network of the Company after your Termination Date. You further agree, when
requested or by your Termination Date, to conduct a diligent search of all of the electronic documents and information, electronic devices
(including, without limitation, computers, hard drives, flash drives, and mobile devices), remote and virtual storage and file systems, emails and
email accounts, voicemails, text messages, instant messaging conversations and systems, and any other devices, facilities, systems, accounts, or
media that have electronic data storage or saving capabilities, in your possession, custody, or control, for any copies or iterations of Confidential
Information, and immediately inform the Company of any copies or iterations of Confidential Information you locate pursuant to such search,
and follow Company directives with respect to remitting such information or documents to the Company and remediating the same. If you
breach this Section 2, then pursuant to Section 14, your employment shall, at the Company’s election, be terminated for Cause or be deemed to
have been terminated for Cause retroactive to the Termination Date. You also acknowledge that any breach of this Section 2 may cause the
Company to seek an adverse inference against you in the
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event of litigation, and you agree that such breach shall be considered material and entitle the Company to equitable and monetary relief,
including its attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to Section 17.

3. Ownership of Intellectual Property. Except as otherwise provided by applicable law, you agree that all “Work Product” (as that
term is defined in Section 18) created in whole or in part by you while employed by us is our exclusive property, and that you will promptly,
fully and effectively communicate all Work Product to us. Accordingly, you agree that all Work Product eligible for any form of copyright
protection made or contributed to in whole or in part by you within the scope of your employment while so employed shall be deemed a “work
made for hire” under the copyright laws and shall be owned by us, and that the Company may sell, use, copy, reproduce, display, perform or
alter as it sees fit, without any further right or claim by or remuneration to you. To that end, you hereby now (and upon our request, in the future
you will) assign, transfer and convey to us, all of your “Proprietary Rights” (as that term is defined in Section 18) in all Work Product for our
exclusive ownership and use, together with all rights to sue and recover for past and future infringement or misappropriation thereof. In addition,
at our request, at all times while you are employed by us and at all times thereafter, you agree to promptly and fully assist us in effecting the
foregoing assignment, including but not limited to the further acts of executing any and all documents necessary for us to secure for ourselves
such Proprietary Rights in all such Work Product. The foregoing provisions, however, do not apply to any invention (a) for which none of our
equipment, supplies, facilities or trade secret information were used, and (b) developed entirely on your own time, unless the invention relates to
our businesses or any actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development, or results from any work performed by you for us.

4. Covenants During Employment. While employed by the Company, you agree not to compete with the Company anywhere in
the world. Specifically, while employed by the Company, you may not: (a) enter into or engage in a “Competing Business” (as defined in
Section 7 below); (b) solicit customers, potential customers, business or other business opportunities, or attempt to do so, for any Competing
Business; (c) sell or attempt to sell any products or services that compete with the “Business” (as defined in Section 7 below); (d) divert, entice
or take away any customers, potential customers or other business opportunities of the Company or attempt to do so; or (e) promote or assist,
financially or otherwise, any person or entity engaged in a Competing Business.

5. Post-Employment Covenant Not to Hire the Company’s Employees and Others. During your employment and during the
Restricted Period (as defined on Exhibit A), you agree not to solicit for hiring, hire or interfere with (or try to hire or interfere with or solicit for
hiring) (or help any other person or party to solicit for hiring, to hire or to interfere with) our relationship with (a) any of our employees; or (b)
any person who at any time during the twelve (12) months prior to such solicitation, hiring or interference was an employee of the Company.
This undertaking on your part for our benefit is called your “Non-Interference Covenant.”

6. Post-Employment Covenant Not to Solicit the Company’s Restricted Customers. During your employment and during the
Restricted Period, you hereby agree not to, directly or indirectly, (a) discontinue or reduce the extent of the relationship between the Company
Entities and the individuals, partnerships, corporations, professional associations or other business organizations that have a business relationship
with any Company Entity and about which business relationship you were aware (collectively, “Associated Third Parties”), or to obtain or seek
products or services the same as or similar to those offered by the Company Entities from any source not affiliated with the Company Entities;
and (b) solicit, assist in the solicitation of, or accept any business from any Associated Third Parties in relation to a product or service that
competes with the products and/or services offered by the Company Entities This undertaking on your part for our benefit is called your “Non-
Solicit Covenant.”

7. Post-Employment Covenant Not to Compete with Us.

(a) Duration and Geographic Scope. During your employment and during the Non-Compete Period (as defined on Exhibit A), you
are not allowed to compete with us in the “Restricted Territory” (geographic area) described below. This undertaking on your part for our benefit
is called your “Non-Compete Covenant.”
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(b) Your Non-Compete Covenant to Us. You agree that you will not, during your employment and during the Non-Compete Period,
within the Restricted Territory, directly or indirectly (whether or not for compensation) become employed by, engage in business with, serve as
an agent or consultant to, become an employee, partner, member, principal, stockholder or other owner (other than a holder of less than 1% of
the outstanding voting shares of any publicly held company) of any Competing Business. For purposes of this Agreement, “Competing
Business” shall mean any individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, unincorporated organization, trust, joint venture or
other entity that (i) engages or is planning to engage in any business or businesses in which the Company Entities are actively engaged in or
planning to engage in during your employment (to the extent you were aware of such plans), including, but not limited to, any line of business
involved in building and construction products distribution (collectively, the “Business”) or (ii) engages in mergers and acquisition activities
related to the Business, including, without limitation, researching, analyzing and evaluating companies for investment in or acquisition of, for
itself or clients. Such “Competing Business” definition shall include, but shall not be limited to, each of the following private equity firms and
affiliates, including, without limitation, their portfolio companies: American Securities, LLC; Bain Capital; Blackstone; Clayton, Dubilier &
Rice, LLC; Court Square Capital Partners; CVC; KKR; Leonard Green & Partners; and Platinum Equity, as well as each of the following
building and construction products distribution companies and their affiliates: Builders FirstSource; Core & Main; Ferguson; Home Depot;
Lowe’s; and Watsco.

Exception for the Practice of Law. Provided, however, that nothing set forth in this Agreement shall preclude you from engaging in the practice
of law pursuant to Rule 5.6 of the Connecticut Rules of Professional Conduct, Rule 5.6 of The Delaware Lawyers' Rules of Professional
Conduct, Rule 5.6 of the ABA Model Rules of Professional Conduct, or similar rules adopted by any jurisdiction of the United States.

(c) Your Restricted Territory. You agree that your “Restricted Territory” means any State of the United States and any other country
in which the Company or any Company Entity does business, or in which the Company or any Company Entity has actively planned to engage
in business, in each case, during your employment.

(d) Your Non-Compete Payments if We Terminate You Without Cause. If we terminate your employment without “Cause” (as that
term is defined in Section 18 below), then we will make “Non-Compete Payments” to you in an amount calculated as set forth in subsection (f)
below.

(e) Termination of the Restricted Period. We have the right, at our discretion, to waive your Non-Compete Covenant and/or
terminate or reduce the Non-Compete Period, whether in whole or in part. Upon providing you notice to that effect, no Non-Compete Payments
will be due with respect to any period subject to this waiver or reduction.

(f) Amount and Timing of Non-Compete Payments During the Restricted Period. If we terminate your employment without
Cause and do not elect to waive your Non-Compete Covenant or to terminate or reduce your Non-Compete Period, we will pay you each month
during the Restricted Period an amount equal to the monthly amount of your base salary at the time of your Termination Date in accordance with
our payroll procedures on our normal payroll dates. In the event we waive or reduce the Non-Compete Period, we will make a payment equal to
your monthly base salary for the duration of the revised Non-Compete Period. (For example, if we reduce the Non-Compete Period to three (3)
months, we will pay you your base salary for three (3) months in accordance with our normal payroll procedures during that period.).

(g) Additional Non-Compete Payments and Extension of Your Restricted Period. We have the right, at our discretion, to extend the
Non-Compete Period during one or more Extended Non-Compete Periods (as defined in Exhibit A). If the Company elects to extend the Non-
Compete Period, you agree that, during any Extended Non-Compete Period, you shall be bound by the restrictions set forth in Section 7(b) in the
same manner applicable during the Non-Compete Period. If we exercise this option to extend the Non-Compete Period, we will pay you
“Additional Non-Compete Payments” consisting of, for each month of the relevant extension period, an amount equal to the monthly amount of
your base salary as of the Termination Date in accordance with our payroll procedures on our normal payroll dates.
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(i) You shall deliver a written notice to the Company not more than one hundred twenty (120) days, and not less than one
hundred (100) days, prior to the expiration of the Non-Compete Period or Extended Non-Compete Period, as applicable, specifying the
date that such expiration will occur.

(ii) If the Company elects to extend the Non-Compete Period or any Extended Non-Compete Period, it will notify you in
writing of such fact not later than the ninetieth (90th) day prior to the commencement of the applicable Extended Non-Compete Period.

(iii) The Company may terminate or reduce the duration of any Extended Non-Compete Period. Upon providing you notice
to that effect, no Additional Non-Compete Payments will be due with respect to any period subject to this reduction.

(iv) By signing this Agreement, you agree to accept and abide by the Company’s elections. Notwithstanding any provision of
this Agreement to the contrary, the right of the Company to extend the Non-Compete Period hereunder shall lapse upon a Change of
Control (as defined in the QXO, Inc. 2024 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan).

(h) Consequences of Your Breach of Your Non-Compete Covenant. We reserve the right to use any remedies available to us in law
or in equity to enforce our rights under this Agreement, generally, and your Non-Interference Covenant, Non-Compete Covenant, Non-Solicit
Covenant and other covenants to us set forth in this Agreement, specifically. You also agree that if you breach your Non-Compete Covenant to
us, you will repay us all of the Non-Compete Payments we have made to you.

(i) Coordination with Other Benefits. If we elect to enforce your Non-Compete Covenant, in whole or in part, and you are eligible
for any other cash severance benefit under any other policy, plan or agreement, such other cash severance benefit shall be reduced (but not below
zero) by the amount of the Non-Compete Payments.

(j) Conditions to Severance. Any monies we pay you under this Agreement, will be subject to (i) your execution of a general
release of claims and settlement agreement in the form delivered to you by the Company or its applicable Affiliate (provided that any general
release of claims and settlement agreement shall not contain any new or additional restrictive covenant requirements if the Termination Date
occurs on or within two years following a Change of Control) on or within ten (10) days after the Termination Date and such agreement
becoming effective and irrevocable in accordance with its terms no later than the seventieth (70 ) day following the Termination Date
(collectively, the “Release Requirement”) and (ii) you incurring a “Separation from Service” (within the meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) of
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(h)) (a “Separation from Service”) from
the Company. Payment of the Non-Compete Payments, if due, will commence not later than the second regularly scheduled payroll date
following satisfaction of the Release Requirement, with any installments that would have been made during the period from the Termination
Date to the date of satisfaction of the Release Requirement based on regularly scheduled payroll dates accumulated and paid on the date that
such installments commence. In the event that the Company determines it cannot make a payment to you during the six (6)-month period
following your Separation from Service because you are a “specified employee” within the meaning of Code Section 409A and making a
payment to you during such six (6)-month period would result in the application of tax penalties under Code Section 409A, the Company will
pay you a lump-sum amount equal to the cumulative amount that would have otherwise been paid to you during such period (without interest) on
the first business day following the end of the six (6)-month period (or such earlier date upon which such amount can be paid without resulting in
the application of tax penalties under Code Section 409A). For purposes of Code Section 409A, each installment payment provided under this
Agreement will be treated as a separate payment. In addition, you will not be entitled to severance or Non-Compete Payments in connection with
your termination of employment with the Company if you are offered employment by any successor to all or any portion of our Business.

8. Refraining from Disparaging Us. While employed by us and thereafter, you agree never to disparage, malign or impugn us or
any of our officers, directors and employees; provided, however, that nothing herein shall prohibit you from exercising any rights under Section
7 of the National Labor

th
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Relations Act, providing truthful testimony, or from initiating, participating in or cooperating with an investigation or proceeding conducted by
any local, state or federal governmental agency. In addition, nothing herein shall be construed to waive or limit your right to receive an award for
information provided to the Securities and Exchange Commission.

9. Cooperating After Employment Ends. While employed by us and thereafter, you agree to fully cooperate with us in connection
with any investigation, suit, action or proceeding in which you may have relevant information or testimony, including but not limited to
providing testimony at depositions or trial, which cooperation and appearance you fully agree to without the necessity of a subpoena or court
order. If your assistance is required after your employment has ended, we will reimburse you for your reasonable, out-of-pocket travel expenses
and accommodate your personal and business schedule to the extent practicable.

10. Giving Notice to a New Employer and to Us. You agree that during the Restricted Period, you will provide any new employer
written notice of each of the restrictions to which you are subject under this Agreement (e.g., your Non-Interference Covenant, your Non-Solicit
Covenant and your Non-Compete Covenant) before you accept an offer of employment and concurrently provide to us a copy of each such
written notice. You shall also provide the Company with fourteen (14) days advance notice prior to becoming employed by any person or entity
or engaging in any business of any type or form, regardless of whether or not the prospective employer or business is engaged in a Competing
Business.

11. Prohibited Use of Confidential Information of Your Prior Employers. It is vital to us that you not disclose to us or use any
information or materials that might constitute a former employer’s confidential information. Accordingly, you (a) agree not to disclose or use any
former employer’s confidential information in any form unless you first obtained the prior written consent of that former employer and (b)
represent to us that you searched for and deleted any emails, documents or files prepared, generated, obtained or used by you that contain any
such confidential information of a prior employer.

12. Authority to Enter into this Agreement; No Conflicts. You represent that you have the right to enter into this Agreement, that
doing so is not and does not conflict with or breach any obligations you may have under any agreement you have or any court order, and that
your signature on this Agreement makes a valid and binding obligation, fully enforceable in accordance with its terms.

13. Prior Restrictive Covenant Agreements to Which You Are Bound. You represent to us that you:  (a) have provided us true,
correct and complete copies of any agreement to which you are subject containing non-competition, non-solicitation or similar restrictions or
covenants in favor of any prior employer or other party; and (b) are free to enter into this Agreement and be employed by us in accordance with
the terms of this Agreement without breaching or violating any such prior agreements. 

14. Employee Acknowledgments Regarding Termination for Cause. You acknowledge that your breach of your representations,
covenants and agreements set forth in Sections 1 through 13 hereof is grounds for immediate termination for Cause by us. You agree that if,
subsequent to the Termination Date, we determine that we could have terminated your employment for Cause, or we discover a breach of any
provision herein, your employment shall, at our election, be deemed to have been terminated for Cause retroactive to the Termination Date.

15. Employment At-Will. You are employed at-will. Nothing in this Agreement changes your at-will employment status or confers
any right with respect to continuation of employment, and nothing in this Agreement interferes in any way with the Parties’ right to terminate the
employment relationship at any time, with or without Cause or advance notice.

16. Governing Law; Arbitration and Consent to Jurisdiction.

(a) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with its express terms, and otherwise in
accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware without reference to its principles of conflicts of law.
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(b) Arbitration. Any claims you wish to make arising out of or relating to this Agreement, the breach thereof, your employment
with us, or the termination of that employment will be resolved by binding arbitration before a single arbitrator in the State of Delaware, or at
another location as mutually agreed upon by the parties, administered by the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”) in accordance with its
Employment Arbitration Rules, and judgment on the award rendered by the arbitrator may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof.
This provision does not apply to claims that, under law, may not be subject to a pre-dispute arbitration agreement. Notwithstanding anything to
the contrary under the Rules of the AAA or the general grant of authority to the arbitrator contained herein, the arbitrator shall have no
jurisdiction or authority to compel any class or collective claim, to consolidate different arbitration proceedings or to join any other party to any
arbitration between you and the Company. The arbitrator shall, for all such claims you wish to file, have the exclusive authority to determine the
applicability, interpretation and enforceability of this Agreement, but shall have no jurisdiction or authority to compel any class or collective
claim or to join any other party to an arbitration between us.

(c) Consent to Jurisdiction. You hereby irrevocably consent and submit to the jurisdiction of any state or federal court located in
the State of Delaware, including without limitation to decide any and all claims brought by the Company alleging a violation or enforceability of
Sections 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7 or 8 hereof, as well as any claims relating to misappropriation of trade secrets. In that regard, you waive any objection
you now or hereafter have to personal jurisdiction or to the laying of venue of any such suit, action or proceeding brought in the State of
Delaware, including any claims relating to the alleged inconvenience of such forum, and agree that you will not attempt to deny or defeat such
personal jurisdiction by motion or other request to any such court. You also agree that, notwithstanding Section 16(b) above, if you bring an
action in court against the Company or its agents, officers or directors, including in aid of any arbitration proceeding or to challenge arbitrability,
you will do so exclusively in the state or federal courts located in the State of Delaware, provided that nothing herein shall waive the Company’s
right to demand that you comply with Section 16(b). You also agree that the Company has the right to bring a legal action against you in a state
or federal court where you live or that has jurisdiction over you. You further agree that, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, a final
and non-appealable judgment in any suit, action or proceeding brought in any court described in this Section 16(c) shall be conclusive and
binding upon you and may be enforced in any other jurisdiction.

(d) Waiver of Class and Collective Actions. The parties to this Agreement waive the right to participate in any class or collective
action against the other party. The parties understand and agree that they will not consolidate their claims with the claims of any other individual
or entity, will not seek class or collective action treatment for any claim that they may have and will not participate in any class or collective
action against each other or anyone affiliated with a party.

17. Remedies; Injunctions for Breaches of this Agreement. All of the Company’s rights and remedies may be exercised
alternatively or cumulatively to the fullest extent permitted by law. You acknowledge that in addition to the acknowledgements you made in
Sections 5, 6, 7 and 8 of this Agreement, you have considered each of the other restrictive covenants set forth in this Agreement and stipulate that
those covenants are likewise reasonable and necessary to protect us and our Confidential Information, business strategies, employee and
customer relationships and goodwill, now existing or to be developed in the future. You hereby: (a) agree to comply with all of the restrictive
covenants; (b) waive any right to contest the reasonableness, validity, scope or enforceability of any of the restrictive covenants, or any other
claim or defense related thereto; (c) agree that a breach constitutes irreparable harm and that injunctive relief would be the only practical remedy
in the event of your breach; and (d) agree that the Company, without having to post bond, shall be entitled to injunctive relief against any breach
by you of a restrictive covenant, provided that the foregoing shall not prejudice our rights to require you to account for and pay over to us any
compensation, profits or gains derived by you related to the breach, and you agree to be so responsible for such an accounting. You further agree
that if you violate your Non-Interference Covenant, your Non-Compete Covenant, and/or your Non-Solicit Covenant set forth in Sections 5, 6, 7
and 8 of this Agreement, respectively, the post-employment restricted time period therein shall not include any period(s) of violation or period(s)
of time required for litigation to enforce the covenants therein. It is the parties’ mutual intent that the Company is entitled to the full period
applicable to such covenants free of competition and/or litigation to enforce the provisions thereof. Any tolled period due to breach of Sections 5,
6, 7 and 8 of this Agreement or litigation shall not be
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subject to Non-Compete Payments. If the Company brings a legal action to enforce this Agreement or obtain monetary damages for breach of
this Agreement, the Company shall have the right to recover attorneys’ fees and costs it incurs as a result of any action brought in good faith.

18. Definitions. This Agreement uses the following defined terms:

“Additional Non-Compete Payments” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7(g) of this Agreement.

“Agreement” shall mean this Confidential Information Protection Agreement.

“Cause” shall mean (a) your dereliction of duties or gross negligence or failure to perform your duties or refusal to follow any lawful
directive of the officer to whom you report; (b) your abuse of or dependency on alcohol or drugs (illicit or otherwise) that adversely affects your
performance of duties for any Company Entity; (c) your commission of any fraud, embezzlement, theft or dishonesty or any deliberate
misappropriation of money or other assets of any Company Entity; (d) your breach of any fiduciary duties of any Company Entity; (e) any act, or
failure to act, by you in bad faith to the detriment of any Company Entity; (f) your failure to cooperate in good faith with a governmental or
internal investigation of any Company entity or any of its directors, managers, officers or employees, if the Company requests your cooperation;
(g) your failure to follow Company policies, including the Company’s code of conduct and/or ethics policy, as may be in effect from time to
time; or (h) your conviction of, or plea of nolo contendere to, a felony or any serious crime; provided that in cases set forth in clauses (a) through
(g) where a cure is possible (as determined by the Company in its discretion), you shall first be provided with a 15-day cure period.

“Company Entity” means the Company and each entity controlled by, controlling or under common control with the Company.

“Confidential Information” means all information, written, digital (whether generated or stored on magnetic, digital, photographic or
other media) or oral, not generally known to the public and from which we derive a commercial or competitive advantage, or which is
proprietary to us, concerning our business, operations, products, services, customer information, merger and acquisition targets and strategies,
pricing strategies, operating processes, business methods and procedures, information technology and information-gathering techniques and
methods, business plans, financial affairs and all other accumulated data, listings or similar recorded matter useful in the businesses of the
Company, including by way of illustration and not limitation:

• information about the business, affairs or operation of the Company developed by you or which is furnished or made available to
you by us during your employment;

• information about the business, operations and assets of companies considered for acquisition, merger, sale, disposition, or similar
transaction by JPE, and information concerning JPE’s evaluation and analysis thereof;

• operating instructions, training manuals, procedures and similar information;

• information about customers, vendors and others with whom we do business (e.g., customer or vendor lists, pricing, contracts and
activity records);

• information regarding the skills and compensation of employees or contractors of the Company;

• information about sales and marketing (e.g., plans and strategies);

• information about any other third parties we have a business relationship with or to whom we owe a duty of confidentiality; and
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• all notes, observations, data, analyses, compilations, forecasts, studies or other documents prepared by you that contain or reflect any
Confidential Information.

However, the Company expressly acknowledges and agrees that the term “Confidential Information” excludes information that: (a) is in the
public domain or otherwise generally known to the trade; (b) is disclosed to third parties without restriction other than by reason of your breach
of your confidentiality obligations under this Agreement; (c) you learn of after the termination of your employment from any other party not then
under an obligation of confidentiality to us; or (d) comprises contact information that is readily ascertainable from sources other than the
Company.

    “Non-Compete Covenant” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement.

    “Non-Compete Payments” shall have the meaning set forth in Sections 7(d) and 7(f) of this Agreement.

    “Non-Interference Covenant” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5 of this Agreement.

    “Non-Solicit Covenant” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6 of this Agreement.

    “Proprietary Rights” means all right, title and interest regarding all inventions, ideas, improvements, designs, processes, trademarks, service
marks, trade names, trade secrets, trade dress, data, discoveries, Work Product, and any other proprietary assets or rights.

“Restricted Period” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7(a) of this Agreement.

“Restricted Territory” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7(c) of this Agreement.

“Separation from Service” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7(j) of this Agreement.

“Termination Date” means the date your employment with the Company ends, whether voluntarily or involuntarily and whether with or
without Cause.

“Work Product” means all works of authorship, research, discoveries, inventions and innovations (whether or not reduced to practice or
documented), improvements, developments, methods, designs, analyses, drawings, reports and all similar or related information (whether
patentable or un-patentable, and whether or not reduced to writing), trade secrets and Confidential Information, copyrightable works, and similar
and related information (in whatever form or medium). As examples, this definition applies to anything to do with the Company’s actual or
anticipated business, research and development or existing or future products or services. It applies to the results from any work performed by
you for us. It also applies to anything conceived, developed, made or contributed to in whole or in part by you while employed by us.

19. Other Agreements.

(a) Notices. Except as otherwise provided, we can give you notice at your last known principal residence listed on our records. You,
in turn, may give us notice to QXO, Inc., 5 American Lane, Greenwich, CT 06831, Attention: Legal Department. Either you or the Company
may provide another address for notice by written notice to the other. Notice is deemed given as follows: (i) when delivered personally; (ii) four
(4) days after it is mailed by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested or (iii) one (1) day after it is sent by overnight
courier service via UPS or FedEx.

(b) Amendment; No Waiver. You and we agree that (i) this Agreement may not be amended except in writing signed by both you
and us; (ii) the application of any provision of this Agreement may be waived only by a written instrument specifically identifying the provision
whose application is being waived and signed by you and us and (iii) no waiver by either you or us of a breach by the other shall be a waiver of
any preceding or succeeding breach, and no waiver by you or us of any right under this Agreement shall be construed as a waiver of any other
right.
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(c) Entire Agreement; Interpretation. You and we expressly acknowledge and agree that this Agreement constitutes the entire
agreement between you and the Company with respect to the subject matter hereof, and there are no oral agreements between you and us
pertaining to the subject matter hereof.  

(d) Your due diligence. You acknowledge that: (i) you have had a full opportunity to read and understand this Agreement and
consult with such attorneys, accountants, business advisors, and other consultants as you deem necessary or advisable and (ii) this Agreement
shall not be construed against one party or the other in the event of any ambiguity.

(e) Survival. The provisions of this Agreement shall survive termination of your employment regardless of the reason, and our
assignment thereof to any successor-in-interest or other assignee.

(f) Severability. If any provision of this Agreement or its application is held invalid, such invalidation shall not affect other
provisions or applications hereof which can be given effect without the invalid provisions or applications; and, so that this objective may be
achieved, the provisions hereof are declared to be severable and subject to blue-pencilling by a court of competent jurisdiction. In the event of a
final, non-reviewable, non-appealable determination that any covenant of yours set forth in this Agreement (whether in whole or in part) is void
or constitutes an unreasonable restriction against you, such provision shall not be rendered void but shall be deemed to be modified to the
minimum extent necessary to make such provision enforceable for the longest duration and the greatest scope as may constitute a reasonable
restriction under the circumstances.

(g) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple originals. Signatures delivered by facsimile or electronic means
(including by “pdf”) shall be deemed effective for all purposes.

(h) Headings. The Section and subsection headings in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not affect the meaning of
any provision.

(i) Withholding. All payments to be made hereunder shall be reduced by applicable federal, state and local withholding taxes.

*    *    *    *    *
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This Agreement is executed on the date shown below and shall be effective as of such date.

QXO, INC., for itself and its subsidiaries and affiliates

By:    /s/ Josephine Berisha
Name:    Josephine Berisha
Title:    Chief Human Resources Officer

By:    /s/ Christopher Signorello
    Employee Signature

Christopher Signorello
    
Employee Name (Print)

June 7, 2024
    
Date
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Exhibit A

Applicable Restriction Periods

Defined Term Definition
Restricted Period The period of four (4) years after your Termination Date.
Non-Compete Period The period of one (1) year after your Termination Date.
Extended Non-Compete Periods Up to two (2) additional sequential periods of one (1) year each, with the first

such period commencing immediately following the end of the Non-Compete
Period.
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Exhibit 19.1

QXO, INC.

SECURITIES TRADING POLICY

Effective as of May 12, 2025

I. Purpose

To describe the standards and requirements concerning the handling of nonpublic information relating to QXO,
Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”) and the buying and selling of securities of the Company.

II. Persons Affected and Prohibited Transactions

The general prohibitions of this Policy apply to all directors, officers and employees of the Company, while the
restrictions set forth in Part V (blackout periods) and Part VI (pre- clearance) apply only to directors, executive officers  and
certain designated officers and employees. If you are unsure whether you are subject to the restrictions set forth in Parts V or
VI, please contact the Company’s Chief Legal Officer or his or her designee.

The same restrictions described in this Policy also apply to your spouse, minor children and anyone else living in your
household, partnerships in which you are a general partner, trusts of which you are a trustee, estates of which you are an
executor and investment funds or other similar vehicles with which you are affiliated (collectively, “Related Parties”). You will be
responsible for compliance with this Policy by your Related Parties.

For purposes of this Policy, references to “trading” or to “transactions in securities of the Company” include purchases
or sales of Company stock, bonds, options, puts and calls, derivative securities based on securities of the Company, gifts of
Company securities, loans of Company securities, hedging transactions involving or referencing Company securities,
contributions of Company securities to a trust, sales of Company stock acquired upon the exercise of stock options, broker-
assisted cashless exercises of stock options, market sales to raise cash to fund the exercise of stock options and trades in
Company stock made under an employee benefit plan, such as a 401(k) plan. This Policy applies to securities of the Company
regardless of whether they are held in Shareworks, a separate brokerage account, or otherwise.

III. Policy Statement

If you possess material nonpublic information (as further discussed below) relating to the Company, neither
you nor any Related Party:

• may effect transactions in securities of the Company (other than pursuant to a pre-arranged trading plan
that complies with Rule 10b5-1 (“Rule 10b5-1”)

_______________________________________
    Executive officers for purposes of this Policy are all executive officers of the Company identified in its public filings and

any other officer of the Company or any subsidiary that is subject to Section 16(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934.

1
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under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) as described in Part VIII
below) or engage in any other action that takes advantage of that information;

• may pass that information on to any person outside the Company, except as permitted under applicable
Company policies and procedures;

• suggest or otherwise recommend that any person effect a transaction in securities of the Company or
engage in any other action that takes advantage of that information; or

• assist anyone engaged in any of the foregoing activities.

This Policy will continue to apply after termination of employment or separation from the board of directors to the extent
that you are in possession of material nonpublic information at the time of termination or separation, as applicable. In such
case, no transaction in securities of the Company may take place until the information becomes public or ceases to be
material.

This Policy also applies to information, obtained in the course of employment with, or by serving as a director of, the
Company, relating to any other company, including:

• our customers, clients or suppliers;

• any entity with which we may be negotiating a major transaction or business combination;

• any entity as to which we have an indirect or direct control relationship or a designee on the board of directors; or

• any other public company about which you receive material nonpublic information in the course of your employment
with the Company.

Neither you nor any Related Party may effect transactions in the securities of any such other company while in
possession of material nonpublic information concerning such company that was obtained in the course of employment with
the Company.

Transactions that may be necessary or justifiable for independent reasons (such as the need to raise money for an
emergency expenditure) are no exception. Even the appearance of an improper transaction must be avoided to preserve our
reputation for adhering to the highest standards of conduct.

Material Information. “Material information” is any information that a reasonable investor would consider important in a
decision to effect a transaction in securities of the Company. In short, any information that could reasonably affect the price of
such securities. Either positive or negative information may be material. Common examples of information that will frequently
be regarded as material include, without limitation:

• projections of future earnings or losses, or other guidance concerning earnings;

• Company strategic plans, or significant changes in corporate objectives;

• the fact that earnings are inconsistent with consensus expectations;

2



• a pending or proposed merger, joint venture, acquisition or tender offer;

• a significant sale of assets or the disposition of a subsidiary or business unit;

• changes in dividend policies or the declaration of a stock split or the offering of additional securities;

• changes in senior management or other key employees;

• significant new products or services;

• significant legal or regulatory exposure due to a pending or threatened lawsuit or investigation;

• impending bankruptcy or other financial liquidity problems or change in credit rating by a rating agency;

• a material cyber incident that has not been disclosed;

• changes in legislation affecting our business; and

• the gain or loss of a substantial customer, client or supplier.

20-20 Hindsight. Remember, if your transaction in securities of the Company becomes the subject of scrutiny, it will be
viewed after-the-fact with the benefit of hindsight. As a result, before engaging in any transaction you should carefully consider
how regulators and others might view your transaction in hindsight.

Tipping Information to Others. Whether the information is proprietary information about the Company or other
information that could have an impact on the price of the Company’s securities, you must not pass the information on to others,
such as friends, business associates, a spouse or other family member. Both the tipper and the tippee can be held liable under
federal securities laws for violations of this kind. Penalties will apply whether or not you derive, or even intend to derive, any
profit or other benefit from another’s actions.

When Information is Public. You may not trade on the basis of material information that has not been broadly
disclosed to the marketplace, such as through a press release or a filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”), and the marketplace has had time to absorb the information. As a general rule, information should not be considered
fully absorbed by the marketplace until the end of the second full trading day after the information is released. Thus, if
information is released prior to market open on a Monday, trading should not take place until Wednesday.

Transactions under Company Plans. Although this Policy does not generally apply to the vesting or exercise of
employee stock options (other than cashless exercises as described below) or the vesting of other equity compensation
awards, it does apply to the sale of common stock received upon exercise. This Policy applies to the sale as part of a broker-
assisted cashless exercise of a stock option and the market sale for the purpose of raising cash to fund the exercise of an
option or to pay taxes. To the extent that the Company maintains an employee stock purchase plan, this Policy will apply to
enrollment or withdrawal from such plan, investment elections, and changes or terminations to payroll deductions once enrolled
in the
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plan. This Policy also applies to the following elections under a 401(k) plan (if and when the Company makes Company
securities an investment alternative under our 401(k) plan):

• increasing or decreasing periodic contributions allocated to the purchase of Company securities;
• intra-plan transfers of an existing balance in or out of Company securities;

• borrowing money against the account if the loan results in the liquidation of any portion of Company securities;
and

• pre-paying a loan if the pre-payment results in allocation of the proceeds to Company securities.

Confidentiality Obligations. The restrictions set forth in this Policy are designed to avoid misuse of material nonpublic
information in violation of the securities laws. These restrictions are in addition to, and in no way alter, the general obligations
that each director, officer and employee of the Company has to maintain the confidentiality of all confidential or proprietary
information concerning the Company and its business, as well as any other confidential information, that may be learned in the
course of service or employment with the Company. No such information is to be disclosed to any other person in the
Company, unless that person has a clear need to know that information, and no such information may be disclosed to any third
parties, except as required or otherwise contemplated by your function or position.

You should take precautions to prevent the unauthorized disclosure or other misuse of such information by maintaining
files securely, avoiding discussions of such information in public and taking extra care when distributing such information
electronically.

In addition, Company directors, officers and employees may be asked questions concerning various activities of
the Company outside the scope of the employee’s regular duties. Such inquiries may come from the media, stock
exchanges, analysts and others regarding the Company’s business, rumors, trading activity, current and future prospects
and plans, acquisition or divestiture activities and other similar important information.

It is very important that all such communications on behalf of the Company be made through an appropriately
designated officer. Failure to do so could result in violations of federal securities laws, including Regulation FD, which was
enacted by the SEC to prohibit companies from disclosing material information to analysts and stockholders prior to public
release of the information. If you receive any such communication, outreach or request, please do not respond and forward the
communication to the Company’s communications or investor relations officers, and the team will route any incoming requests
to the appropriate team member.

IV. Additional Prohibited Transactions

Because we believe it is improper and inappropriate for any person to engage in short- term or speculative transactions
involving the Company’s securities, directors, officers and employees of the Company, and their Related Parties, are prohibited
from engaging in any of the following activities with respect to securities of the Company:
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1. Purchases and pledging of securities of the Company on margin. You may not purchase securities of the
Company on margin or pledge, or otherwise grant a security interest in, securities of the Company in margin
accounts.

2. Short sales of the securities of the Company (i.e., the sale of securities you do not own and borrowing the
securities to make delivery). The SEC effectively prohibits directors and officers from engaging in short sales of
Company securities. This Policy is simply expanding this prohibition to cover all employees of the Company.

3. Buying or selling puts, calls, options or other derivatives in respect of securities of the Company. This
prohibition extends to any instrument whose value is derived from the value of any securities (e.g., common
stock) of the Company.

4. Hedging or certain other transactions in respect of the securities of the Company. Directors, executive
officers and other employees, and their designees, are prohibited from purchasing any financial instruments
(including prepaid variable forward contracts, equity swaps, collars and exchange funds) or otherwise engaging
in transactions that are designed to or have the effect of hedging or offsetting any decrease in the market value
of the Company’s equity securities whether they are (1) granted to you by the Company as part of your
compensation or (2) otherwise held, directly or indirectly, by you.

Although the Company is not prohibiting standing or limit orders, you should use extreme caution if you engage in
standing or limit orders (other than as established in connection with a Rule 10b5-1 plan as described in Part VIII below) since
you might become aware of material nonpublic information after establishing an order. This could lead to inadvertent trading
while in possession of material nonpublic information.

V. Blackout Periods – For Directors, Executive Officers and Certain Other Personnel with Access to Material
Nonpublic Information

The Company’s announcement of quarterly financial results has the potential to have a material impact on the market
for the Company’s securities. Therefore, in order to avoid any appearance that its directors, officers, employees and other
insiders are trading while aware of material nonpublic information, all directors, executive officers and certain other persons
who are or may be expected to be aware of quarterly financial results of the Company will be subject to quarterly blackouts on
trading.

The Company has established the following “blackout periods” in relation to the publication of its annual and quarterly
results: (a) the period commencing two weeks prior to the end of its fiscal year and continuing until the end of the
second full trading day after public announcement of the Company’s annual financial results; (b) the period
commencing two weeks prior to the end of each of its fiscal quarters and continuing until the end of the second full
trading day after public announcement of the Company’s financial results for such quarter; and (c) for directors and
executive officers, to the extent and during the periods as the Chief Legal Officer or his or her designee may direct,
including as required by Section 306 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 or its implementing regulations.
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During these blackout periods, the following persons and their Related Parties are
prohibited from effecting transactions in securities of the Company:

• directors and their secretaries and other assistants;

• executive officers and their secretaries and other assistants;

• employees in the accounting, finance and legal departments; and

• any other person designated by the Chief Legal Officer or his or her designee.

You should be aware that the blackout periods described above may be modified by the Company at any time. In
addition, the Company may from time to time determine that effecting transactions in securities of the Company is
inappropriate at a time that is outside the blackout periods and, accordingly, may notify you of additional closed periods at any
time. For example, a short blackout period may be imposed shortly before issuance of interim earnings guidance. Those
subject to blackout period requirements will receive notice of any modification by the Company of the closed period policy or of
any additional prohibition on trading during a non- blackout period. Persons subject to the blackout period restrictions who
terminate their employment with the Company during a blackout period will remain subject to the restrictions until the end of
such period.

See Part VIII below for the principles applicable to transactions under Rule 10b5-1 plans.

VI. Pre-Clearance of Securities Transactions

To provide assistance in preventing inadvertent violations of the law (which could result for example, from failure by
directors and officers subject to reporting obligations under Section 16 of the Exchange Act) and avoiding even the appearance
of an improper transaction (which could result, for example, where an officer engages in a trade while unaware of a pending
major development), we are implementing the following procedure:

All transactions in securities of the Company by the following persons and their Related Parties must be pre-
cleared with the Company’s Chief Legal Officer or his or her designee:

• directors and their secretaries and other assistants;

• executive officers, any other officer who has an obligation to file reports under Section 16 of the
Exchange Act, and their secretaries and other assistants;

• employees in the accounting, finance and legal departments; and

• any other person designated by the Chief Legal Officer or his or her designee.

Persons subject to these restrictions should submit a preclearance request at least two business days (or such
shorter period as the Chief Legal Officer or his or her designee may determine) in advance either (1) through
Shareworks or (2) by email to preclearance@qxo.com with the completed pre-clearance form appended to this Policy.
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Such persons may not effect any transaction subject to the pre-clearance request unless given clearance to do so,
which clearance, if granted, will be valid only for five business days following the approval date. If a transaction for
which clearance has been granted is not effected (i.e., the trade is not placed) within such five-business-day period,
the transaction must again be pre-cleared.

To the extent that a material event or development affecting the Company remains nonpublic, persons subject to pre-
clearance will not be given permission to effect transactions in securities of the Company. Such persons may not be informed of
the reason why they may not trade. Even if such person has previously received pre-clearance, such individual cannot trade in
securities of the Company if such person possesses material, nonpublic information affecting the Company. Any person that is
made aware of the reason for an event-specific prohibition on trading should in no event disclose the reason for the prohibition
to third parties and should avoid disclosing the existence of the prohibition, if possible. Caution should be exercised when telling
a broker or other person who suggested a trade that the trade cannot be effected at the time.

Note that the pre-clearance procedures may delay the disposition of any security after it is purchased.See Part VIII
below for the principles applicable to transactions under Rule 10b5-1 plans.

VII. Additional Compliance Obligations for Directors and Executive Officers

    Directors and executive officers are subject to the following additional requirements:

• Every change in your beneficial ownership of securities of the Company must be reported to the SEC on a Form 4 within
2 business days after the trade occurs (or in some cases on Form 5 within 45 days after fiscal year end).

• You must instruct your broker who handles trades to follow the brokerage firm’s Rule 144 compliance procedures in
connection with all transactions in securities of the Company, including filing a Form 144 with the SEC. This obligation
may continue post-employment and post-directorship.

• The SEC prohibits directors and officers from realizing profits from most matching purchases and sales of the
Company’s securities during a 6-month period (“short-swing trades”), regardless of intent and/or whether such trades
occurred during an open trading window. If a director or officer realizes profits from short-swing matching transactions,
the profits may have to be disgorged. Vesting of equity awards and certain transactions applicable to all stockholders
are exempt from short-swing profit liability. Please consult with the Chief Legal Officer if you have any questions.

VIII. 10b5-1 Plans.

The SEC has adopted a safe harbor rule, Rule 10b5-1, which provides a defense against insider trading liability for
trades that are effected pursuant to a pre-arranged trading plan that meets specified conditions. The trading plan must be
properly documented and all of the procedural conditions of the Rule must be satisfied to avoid liability.
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Rule 10b5-1 plans allow transactions for the account of an insider to occur during blackout periods or while the insider
has material nonpublic information provided the insider has previously given instructions or other control to effect pre-planned
transactions in securities of the Company to a third party. The insider must establish the plan at a time when he or she is not in
possession of material nonpublic information and the insider may not exercise any subsequent influence over how, when or
whether to effect transactions. In addition to other specified conditions, a Rule 10b5-1 plan would specify in writing in advance
the amount and price of the securities to be sold and the date for the sale (or a formula for determining the amount, price and
date) or would otherwise not permit the insider to exercise any subsequent influence over how, when or whether to effect the
sales. After adopting a valid Rule 10b5-1 plan, the insider will have an affirmative defense that a sale under the plan was not
made “on the basis of” material nonpublic information.

Rule 10b5-1 imposes separate cooling off periods for (1) directors and officers and (2) other persons. Directors and
officers may not rely on the Rule 10b5-1 affirmative defense unless the plan provides that trading under the plan will not begin
until the later of (a) 90 days after the adoption of the Rule 10b5-1 plan or (b) two business days following the disclosure of the
Company’s financial results in a Form 10-Q or Form 10-K for the fiscal quarter in which the plan was adopted. Other persons
are subject to a 30 day cooling off period.

The Company will treat the creation, modification or termination of a pre-planned trading program or arrangement
established to meet the requirements of Rule 10b5-1 as a transaction subject to the blackout period rules set forth in Part V of
this Policy. Transactions effected pursuant to a properly established Rule 10b5-1 plan however will not be subject to the
blackout periods under Part V of this Policy.

The Company will treat the creation, modification or termination of a pre-planned trading program or arrangement
established to meet the requirements of Rule 10b5-1 as a transaction subject to pre-clearance under Part VI of this Policy at
the time the plan is established, modified or terminated. Persons subject to the pre-clearance policy should coordinate any
such plans or arrangements with the Company’s Chief Legal Officer or his or her designee, and allow at least one week for
preclearance. Terminations and trading in securities of the Company outside of a Rule 10b5-1 plan may limit the availability of
the defense under the safe harbor rule and are strongly discouraged. Even though each transaction effected under a Rule
10b5-1 plan does not need to be pre-cleared, it nonetheless must be made in accordance with Rule 144 and must be reported
on a Form 4 under Section 16 of the Exchange Act.

Note that the Company is required to disclose the creation or termination of a 10b5-1 plan by directors and officers in its
periodic reports.

IX. Penalties for Violating Securities Laws or this Policy.

The SEC and the Department of Justice actively enforce insider trading laws, including by actively monitoring trading
activity. Federal law imposes heavy penalties on individuals who either buy or sell securities while in possession of material
nonpublic information or pass the material nonpublic information along to others who use it to buy or sell securities. The
penalties for insider trading apply with equal force whether trading or passing information is done to generate gains or avoid
losses. Potential penalties include:
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• civil penalties of up to three times the amount of profit gained or loss avoided as a result of the unlawful action;

• a criminal fine of up to $5 million (no matter how small the profit);

• a jail term of up to 20 years, and in some cases 25 years;

• private suits for damages equal to the profit gained or loss avoided; and

• disgorgement of ill-gotten gains plus interest.

In addition, the Company and any supervisor of a Company associate who trades with or tips material nonpublic
information may face “controlling person” liability in the form of civil penalties of up to the greater of $1 million or three times the
amount of profit gained or loss avoided as a result of the unlawful action and criminal penalties of up to $25 million for the
Company and up to $5 million for the individual supervisor(s).

Violations of this Policy by those covered by this Policy may subject such person to disciplinary action by the Company,
up to and including termination for cause.

X. Assistance

Any person who has any questions about this Policy or about specific transactions may contact the Company’s Chief
Legal Officer or his or her designee or such person’s own legal counsel. Remember, however, that the ultimate responsibility
for adhering to this Policy, complying with federal and state securities laws and avoiding improper transactions rests with you.
In this regard, it is imperative that you use your best judgment and to ask before acting if you are unsure.

XI. Miscellaneous

This Policy will be administered by the Chief Legal Officer. All individuals subject to this Policy must certify their
understanding of, and intent to comply with, its terms. Each executive officer must also re-acknowledge this Policy annually.
While this Policy is designed to reduce the risk that an insider trading violation will occur, it is not an assurance or guarantee that
a violation will not to be found to have occurred.
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ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND CERTIFICATION

I hereby acknowledge and certify that:

a. I have read and understand the QXO, Inc. Securities Trading Policy. I understand that the Chief Legal Officer or his or
her designee is available to answer any questions I have regarding the Policy.

b. I have complied with the Policy since I have been an employee of the Company (or since the date the Policy was
adopted, if it was adopted after I became an employee).

c. I will continue to comply with the Policy, and any revisions or updates thereto, for so long as I am subject to the Policy

Print Name:
Signature

Date:
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PRE-CLEARANCE REQUEST AND CERTIFICATION FOR NON-SHAREWORKS TRANSACTION

I hereby notify you of my intent regarding the following proposed trade in securities of QXO, Inc. (the “Company”):

☐ Exercise stock options and sell underlying common stock;
☐ Sell in the open market       shares of common stock currently held at ________ (example: Fidelity; another
broker; in certificated form);

☐ Purchase in the open market shares of common stock;

☐ Gift or donate     shares of common stock to      ;

☐ Other (explain)     .

I understand that I am not authorized to trade in securities of the Company unless and until I receive pre-clearance. I
understand that if I have not completed my proposed transaction within the five-business-day period following the day on which I
receive pre-clearance, the transaction must again be pre-cleared.

I understand that: (i) regardless of pre-clearance, I remain responsible for ensuring that my trading complies with
applicable laws and company policies; (ii) pre-clearance does not relieve me of any obligations imposed by applicable securities
laws or company policies; and (iii) pre-clearance does not constitute an assurance or guarantee that my trading activity will not be
found to violate insider trading laws.

I hereby certify that I am not aware of material nonpublic information concerning the Company as of the date of
this Certification.

Date:
Signature:

Print Name:

Completed form must be submitted to the Legal Department at preclearance@qxo.com.



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Brad Jacobs, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of QXO, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13-a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Dated: August 14, 2025 By: /s/ Brad Jacobs

Brad Jacobs
Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Ihsan Essaid, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of QXO, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13-a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Dated: August 14, 2025 By: /s/ Ihsan Essaid
Ihsan Essaid
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of QXO, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ended June 30, 2025, as filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Brad Jacobs, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: August 14, 2025 By: /s/ Brad Jacobs

Brad Jacobs
Chief Executive Officer

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained
by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of QXO, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ended June 30, 2025, as filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Ihsan Essaid, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: August 14, 2025 By: /s/ Ihsan Essaid

Ihsan Essaid
Chief Financial Officer

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained
by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 99.1

PREDECESSOR FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) 2
   Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets 2
   Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations 3
   Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Loss) Income 4
   Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity 5
   Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 6
   Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 7
Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 16

1



Item 1. Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (as predecessor)

QXO BUILDING PRODUCTS, INC.
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in millions, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

December 31,
2024

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 74.3 
Accounts receivable, net 1,196.1 
Inventories, net 1,407.7 
Vendor rebates receivable 415.5 
Income tax receivable 9.0 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 77.2 

Total current assets 3,179.8 
Property and equipment, net 545.7 
Goodwill 2,094.7 
Intangibles, net 489.1 
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net 626.8 
Deferred income tax assets, net — 
Other assets, net 17.5 

Total assets $ 6,953.6 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 938.0 
Accrued expenses 522.4 
Current portion of operating lease liabilities 101.2 
Current portion of finance lease liabilities 38.9 
Current portion of long-term debt 12.8 

Total current liabilities 1,613.3 
Borrowings under revolving lines of credit, net 148.1 
Long-term debt, net 2,481.2 
Deferred income tax liabilities, net 37.0 
Operating lease liabilities 544.7 
Finance lease liabilities 134.9 
Other long-term liabilities 1.9 

Total liabilities 4,961.1 

Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)

Convertible Preferred Stock (voting); $0.01 par value; aggregate liquidation preference $400.0; 0.0, 0.0 and 0.0 shares authorized, issued and outstanding as of December
31, 2024

— 

Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock (voting); $0.01 par value; 100.0 shares authorized; 61.5 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 0.6 
Undesignated preferred stock; 5.0 shares authorized, none issued or outstanding — 
Additional paid-in capital 1,264.4 
Retained earnings 753.7 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (26.2)

Total stockholders’ equity 1,992.5 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 6,953.6 

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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QXO BUILDING PRODUCTS, INC.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in millions)
(Unaudited)

Period from
April 1, 2025

through
April 28, 2025

Three Months 
Ended

June 30, 2024

Period from
January 1, 2025

through
April 28, 2025

Six Months 
Ended

June 30, 2024
Net sales $ 786.8  $ 2,674.6  $ 2,694.6  $ 4,587.0 

Cost of products sold 589.8  1,990.9  2,029.8  3,430.1 
Gross profit 197.0  683.7  664.8  1,156.9 

Operating expense:
Selling, general and administrative 191.6  418.5  628.1  800.0 
Depreciation 10.2  26.5  41.6  52.0 
Amortization 6.8  22.9  30.1  44.0 

Total operating expense 208.6  467.9  699.8  896.0 
(Loss) income from operations (11.6) 215.8  (35.0) 260.9 

Interest expense, net (14.4) (47.3) (58.6) (86.4)
Loss on debt extinguishment —  —  —  (2.4)
Other income, net 0.7  1.9  2.7  2.4 

(Loss) income before provision for income taxes (25.3) 170.4  (90.9) 174.5 
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 3.5  43.2  (19.0) 41.7 

Net (loss) income $ (28.8) $ 127.2  $ (71.9) $ 132.8 

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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QXO BUILDING PRODUCTS, INC.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Loss) Income

(in millions)
(Unaudited)

 

Period from
April 1, 2025

through
April 28, 2025

Three Months 
Ended

June 30, 2024

Period from
January 1, 2025

through
April 28, 2025

Six Months 
Ended

June 30, 2024

Net (loss) income $ (28.8) $ 127.2  $ (71.9) $ 132.8 
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustment 5.3  (1.2) 5.4  (4.3)
Unrealized (loss) gain due to change in fair value of derivative
financial instruments, net of tax (1.7) 0.1  (5.0) 5.2 
Derivative financial instruments reclassified to earnings, net of
tax 0.1  (0.9) 0.6  (1.7)

Total other comprehensive income (loss) 3.7  (2.0) 1.0  (0.8)
Comprehensive (loss) income $ (25.1) $ 125.2  $ (70.9) $ 132.0 

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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QXO BUILDING PRODUCTS, INC.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(in millions)
(Unaudited)

Common Stock Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)Shares Amount Earnings Total

Period from April 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025
Balance as of March 31, 2025 61.8  $ 0.6  $ 1,261.1  $ 710.6  $ (28.9) $ 1,943.4 

Issuance of common stock, net of shares withheld for taxes 0.4  —  20.7  —  —  20.7 
Stock-based compensation —  —  3.3  —  —  3.3 
Other comprehensive income —  —  —  —  3.7  3.7 
Net loss —  —  —  (28.8) —  (28.8)

Balance as of April 28, 2025 62.2 $ 0.6  $ 1,285.1  $ 681.8  $ (25.2) $ 1,942.3 

Three Months Ended June 30, 2024
Balance as of March 31, 2024 63.6  $ 0.6  $ 1,228.6  $ 624.4  $ (13.1) $ 1,840.5 

Repurchase and retirement of common stock, net (1.9) —  —  (180.1) —  (180.1)
Equity forward contract —  —  (45.0) —  —  (45.0)
Issuance of common stock, net of shares withheld for taxes 0.2  —  4.7  —  —  4.7 
Stock-based compensation —  —  8.3  —  —  8.3 
Other comprehensive loss —  —  —  —  (2.0) (2.0)
Net income —  —  —  127.2  —  127.2 

Balance as of June 30, 2024 61.9 $ 0.6  $ 1,196.6  $ 571.5  $ (15.1) $ 1,753.6 

Common Stock Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)Shares Amount

Retained
Earnings Total

Period from January 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025
Balance as of December 31, 2024 61.5  $ 0.6  $ 1,264.4  $ 753.7  $ (26.2) $ 1,992.5 

Issuance of common stock, net of shares withheld for taxes 0.7  —  8.2  —  —  8.2 
Stock-based compensation —  —  12.5  —  —  12.5 
Other comprehensive income —  —  —  —  1.0  1.0 
Net loss —  —  —  (71.9) —  (71.9)

Balance as of April 28, 2025 62.2 $ 0.6  $ 1,285.1  $ 681.8  $ (25.2) $ 1,942.3 

Six Months Ended June 30, 2024
Balance as of December 31, 2023 63.3  $ 0.6  $ 1,218.4  $ 618.8  $ (14.3) $ 1,823.5 

Repurchase and retirement of common stock, net (1.9) —  —  (180.1) —  (180.1)
Equity forward contract —  —  (45.0) —  —  (45.0)
Issuance of common stock, net of shares withheld for taxes 0.5  —  7.5  —  —  7.5 
Stock-based compensation —  —  15.7  —  —  15.7 
Other comprehensive loss —  —  —  —  (0.8) (0.8)
Net income —  —  —  132.8  —  132.8 

Balance as of June 30, 2024 61.9 $ 0.6  $ 1,196.6  $ 571.5  $ (15.1) $ 1,753.6 

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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QXO BUILDING PRODUCTS, INC.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in millions)
(Unaudited)

 

Period from
January 1, 2025

through
April 28, 2025

Six Months
Ended

June 30, 2024
Operating Activities
Net (loss) income $ (71.9) $ 132.8 
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 71.7  96.0 
Stock-based compensation 12.5  15.7 
Certain interest expense and other financing costs 2.8  0.8 
Loss on debt extinguishment —  2.4 
Gain on sale of fixed assets and other (1.6) (3.7)
Deferred income taxes (18.9) 4.2 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (158.3) (394.0)
Inventories (314.2) (353.2)
Vendor rebates receivable 174.1  (52.6)
Income tax receivable (11.3) (9.1)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (11.6) (15.0)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 213.1  385.0 
Other assets and liabilities 2.4  1.5 

Net cash used in operating activities (111.2) (189.2)

Investing Activities
Capital expenditures (20.9) (61.5)
Acquisition of business, net (10.7) (204.7)
Proceeds from sale of assets 2.0  4.0 
Purchases of investments (1.4) (1.0)

Net cash used in investing activities (31.0) (263.2)

Financing Activities
Borrowings under revolving lines of credit 771.6  1,715.2 
Payments under revolving lines of credit (551.6) (1,331.5)
Borrowings under term loan —  300.0 
Payments under term loan (3.2) (6.4)
Payment of debt issuance costs —  (0.2)
Payments under equipment financing facilities and finance leases (13.5) (13.7)
Payment of fees for the repurchase of convertible Preferred Stock —  (0.1)
Repurchase and retirement of common stock, net —  (180.0)
Advance payment for equity forward contract —  (45.0)
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan 3.4  8.3 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock related to equity awards 18.7  6.2 
Payment of taxes related to net share settlement of equity awards (13.9) (7.0)

Net cash provided by financing activities 211.5  445.8 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 0.3  (0.8)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 69.6  (7.4)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 74.3  84.0 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 143.9  $ 76.6 

Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Cash paid during the period for:

Interest $ 46.5  $ 83.0 
Income taxes, net of refunds $ 10.6  $ 36.0 

See accompanying notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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QXO BUILDING PRODUCTS, INC.
Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(in millions, except per share amounts or otherwise indicated)

(Unaudited)

1. Description of Business
Beacon Roofing Supply, Inc. (“Beacon”) was incorporated in the state of Delaware on July 16, 1997 and has been the leading specialty wholesale distributor of
roofing and complementary building products, including waterproofing products, in North America.

Beacon has served customers in all 50 states throughout the United States (the “U.S.”) and seven provinces in Canada. Beacon’s material subsidiaries are
Beacon Sales Acquisition, Inc. and Beacon Roofing Supply Canada Company.

On March 20, 2025, Beacon entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with QXO, Inc. (“QXO”) and Queen MergerCo, Inc.
(“Merger Sub” or the “Acquirer”), a wholly owned subsidiary of QXO, pursuant to which QXO agreed to acquire Beacon for a purchase price of $124.35 per
share of Beacon’s common stock (the “Beacon Acquisition”). On April 29, 2025 (the “Closing Date”), QXO completed its acquisition of Beacon pursuant to
the Merger Agreement in a transaction that valued Beacon at $10.6 billion. On the Closing Date, Merger Sub merged with and into Beacon (the “Merger”),
with Beacon remaining as the surviving entity and being renamed QXO Building Products, Inc. (“QXO Building Products”). In connection with the Beacon
Acquisition, all of Beacon’s outstanding common stock was cancelled.

Following the consummation of the Merger on the Closing Date, Beacon has been operated as a wholly owned subsidiary of QXO under its new name, QXO
Building Products.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

These financial statements are being included separately in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q because QXO has determined that Beacon is the predecessor
for financial reporting purposes. This determination was made as the legacy Beacon business now comprises substantially all of QXO and has significantly
larger operations compared to QXO prior to the Beacon Acquisition. The Company also determined that the Beacon Acquisition represented a fundamental
change in QXO’s operations.

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements contain all adjustments necessary to state fairly the following:

• Beacon’s financial position as of the Closing Date;

• Beacon’s results of operations for the periods from April 1, 2025 through the Closing Date and from January 1, 2025 through the Closing Date; and

• Cash flows for the period from January 1, 2025 through the Closing Date.

All of the above financial information is presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. (“GAAP”). These unaudited
condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”)
and consequently have been condensed and do not include all disclosures required in an Annual Report on Form 10-K.

References to “the Company” in these financial statements refer to Beacon.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of unaudited financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements, as
well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.

Equity Forward Contract

On May 9, 2024, the Company entered into a Supplemental Confirmation (together with the Company’s March 22, 2022 Variable Tenor ASR Master
Agreement, the “May 2024 ASR Agreement”) with Citibank, N.A. (“Citi”) to repurchase $225.0 million (the “ASR Repurchase Price”) of its common stock.
Under the terms of the May 2024 ASR Agreement, the Company paid the ASR Repurchase Price to Citi and received an initial share delivery of 1,927,608
shares of its common stock from Citi, representing 80% of the total expected share repurchases under the May 2024 ASR Agreement. As of June 30, 2024, the
remaining $45.0 million of the ASR Repurchase Price was evaluated as an unsettled equity forward contract indexed to the Company’s common stock and
classified within stockholders’ equity as a reduction to additional paid in capital until the equity forward contract settled in December 2024.

7



Net Sales

The Company records net sales when performance obligations with the customer are satisfied. All contracts have a single performance obligation as the
promise to transfer the individual good is not separately identifiable from other promises and is, therefore, not distinct. Performance obligations are satisfied at
a point in time and net sales are recognized when title and risk of loss are transferred to the customer.

The Company enters into agreements with customers to offer rebates, generally based on achievement of specified sales levels and various marketing
allowances that are common industry practice. Reductions to net sales for customer programs and incentive offerings, including promotions and other volume-
based incentives, are estimated using the most likely amount method and recorded in the period in which they are earned. Provisions for early payment
discounts are accrued in the same period in which the sale occurs. The Company does not provide extended payment terms and payment is due shortly after the
transfer of control of the products to the customer. Commissions to internal sales teams are paid to obtain contracts. As these contracts are less than one year,
these costs are expensed as incurred.

Stock-based Compensation

The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense based on the equity award’s grant date fair value and estimates forfeitures at the time of grant
with revisions to the estimates, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.

The Company grants restricted stock units (“RSUs”) subject to service-based vesting conditions that generally vest ratably over a three-year period or cliff vest
on the third anniversary of the grant date with the fair value of the RSU awards established based on the market price of the common stock on the date of the
grant and is amortized over the requisite service period. The Company also grants certain RSU awards to management that additionally may contain market or
performance conditions that generally cliff vest on the third anniversary of the grant date. Market conditions, which are based on stock price, are incorporated
into the grant date fair value of the management awards with market conditions using a Monte Carlo valuation model. Compensation expense for management
awards with market conditions is recognized over the service period and is not reversed if the market condition is not met. For awards with performance
conditions, the actual number of awards that will vest can range from 0% to 200% of the original grant amount, depending upon actual Company performance
below or above the established performance metric targets. At each reporting date, the Company estimates performance in relation to the defined targets when
determining the projected number of management awards with performance conditions that are expected to vest and calculating the related stock-based
compensation expense. Management awards with performance conditions are amortized over the service period if, and to the extent that, it is determined that
achievement of the performance condition is probable. If awards with market, performance and/or service conditions are forfeited due to failure to achieve
performance conditions or failure to satisfy service conditions, any previously recognized expense for such awards is reversed.

The Company also grants non-qualified stock options that vest in in three annual installments over the three-year period following the grant date. The fair value
of the non-qualified stock options are estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The exercise price of option awards is set to equal the fair value
of the Company’s common stock on the grant date.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred.

Interest Income (Expense), Net

The following table presents the components of interest income (expense), net:

(in millions)

Period from
April 1, 2025

through
April 28, 2025

Three Months 
Ended

June 30, 2024

Period from
January 1, 2025

through
April 28, 2025

Six Months 
Ended

June 30, 2024
Interest income $ —  $ —  $ 0.1  $ 0.1 
Interest expense (14.4) (47.3) (58.7) (86.5)
Interest expense, net $ (14.4) $ (47.3) $ (58.6) $ (86.4)

Financial Derivatives

The Company enters into interest rate swaps to minimize the risks and costs associated with financing activities, as well as to maintain an appropriate mix of
fixed-rate and floating-rate debt. The interest rate swap agreements are contracts to exchange variable-rate for fixed-interest rate payments over the life of the
agreements. As of April 28, 2025, the Company has one interest rate swap designated as a cash flow hedge to manage interest rate risk associated with the
variable rate on the Company’s 2028 Term Loan.
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During the periods from April 1, 2025 through April  28, 2025 and from January 1, 2025 through April  28, 2025, the Company reclassified losses of
$0.1  million and $0.6  million out of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and to interest expense, net, respectively. The Company records any
differences paid or received on its interest rate hedge to interest expense, net, within the condensed consolidated statements of operations. The interest rate
swap is included in prepaid expenses and other current assets when in an asset position or accrued expenses when in a liability position on the condensed
consolidated balance sheets.

The following table summarizes the amount of gain (loss) on the change in fair value of the designated interest rate swap recognized in other comprehensive
income (loss):

 (in millions)

Period from
April 1, 2025

through
April 28, 2025

Three Months 
Ended

June 30, 2024

Period from
January 1, 2025

through
April 28, 2025

Six Months 
Ended

June 30, 2024

Instrument 2025 2024 2025 2024
Designated interest rate swap $ (1.7) $ 0.1  $ (5.0) $ 5.2 

3. Segment Reporting and Geographic Information

Segment Reporting

Operating segments are defined as components of an entity for which separate discrete financial information is available and regularly reviewed by the Chief
Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) in deciding how to allocate resources to an individual segment and in assessing performance. The Company’s CODM,
the Chief Executive Officer, reviews consolidated results of operations to make decisions, therefore the Company views its operations and manages its business
as a single operating segment, which is the wholesale distribution of building materials.

The Company’s revenues for its single operating segment are derived from the sale of residential and non-residential roofing products, as well as
complementary products, such as siding and waterproofing. The CODM evaluates performance for the Company’s single operating segment and decides how
to allocate resources based on the Company’s consolidated net income that is reported on the condensed consolidated statements of operations as net income
(loss). These results are used to assess segment performance and determine the compensation of certain employees.

The operating segment financial information regularly reviewed by the CODM, inclusive of assets, revenue, expenses, profit or loss, and noncash items are
presented on a consolidated basis. There are no additional segment expense categories regularly provided to the CODM. Other segment items included in
consolidated net income are depreciation, amortization, interest expense, net, loss on debt extinguishment, other income, net, and provision for (benefit from)
income taxes, which are reflected on the condensed consolidated statements of operations.

The following table presents information regarding the components of revenue, significant segment expenses and consolidated net income (loss) representative
of the significant categories regularly provided to the CODM when managing the Company’s one operating segment:

(in millions)

Period from
April 1, 2025

through
April 28, 2025

Three Months 
Ended

June 30, 2024

Period from
January 1, 2025

through
April 28, 2025

Six Months 
Ended

June 30, 2024

Net sales:
Residential roofing products $ 388.1  $ 1,328.9  $ 1,316.7  $ 2,256.3 
Non-residential roofing products 210.1  745.1  711.4  1,273.7 
Complementary building products 188.6  600.6  666.5  1,057.0 

Total net sales $ 786.8  $ 2,674.6  $ 2,694.6  $ 4,587.0 
Less:

Cost of products sold $ 589.8  $ 1,990.9  $ 2,029.8  $ 3,430.1 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 188.3  410.2  615.6  784.3 
Stock-based compensation 3.3  8.3  12.5  15.7 
Other segment items 34.2  138.0  108.6  224.1 

Net (loss) income $ (28.8) $ 127.2  $ (71.9) $ 132.8 

 Excludes stock-based compensation.

(1)

(1)
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Geographic Information

Net sales in the U.S. accounted for approximately 97% of total net sales for all periods presented on the condensed consolidated statements of operations. The
CODM does not review geographic asset information when assessing performance or allocating resources.

4. Stock-based Compensation
On April 1, 2024, the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) approved the Beacon Roofing Supply, Inc., 2024 Stock Plan (the “2024 Plan”), subject to
stockholder approval, which was subsequently obtained on May 15, 2024 in conjunction with the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Upon approval, the
2024 Plan succeeded the Beacon Roofing Supply, Inc. Second Amended and Restated 2014 Stock Plan (the “Prior Plan”) and is the only plan of the Company
pursuant to which stock-based awards are currently granted. The 2024 Plan provides for discretionary grants of stock options, stock awards, stock unit awards,
and stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) for up to 6,200,000 shares of common stock to key employees and non-employee directors. Stock options and SARs
granted under the 2024 Plan, or granted under the Prior Plan after March 6, 2024, will reduce the number of available shares by one share for every share
subject to the stock option or SAR, and stock awards and stock unit awards granted under the 2024 Plan, or granted under the Prior Plan after March 6, 2024,
will reduce the number of available shares by 2.25 shares for every one share delivered. If (i) there is a lapse, forfeiture, expiration, termination, or cancellation
of any award for any reason under the 2024 Plan, or under the Prior Plan after March 6, 2024, or (ii) shares subject to a stock award or a stock unit award under
the 2024 Plan, or under the Prior Plan after March 6, 2024, are delivered or withheld as payment of any withholding taxes, then in each case such shares will
again be available for issuance under the 2024 Plan, to be added back in the same multiple as described in the preceding sentence. Any shares delivered or
withheld as payment for the exercise price of a stock option or of any withholding taxes with respect to such stock options or SARs will not be available for
issuance pursuant to subsequent awards. As of April 28, 2025, there were 6.0 million shares of common stock available for issuance pursuant to the 2024 Plan.

All unvested employee equity awards contain a “double trigger” change in control mechanism to the extent such employee equity award is continued or
assumed after a change in control. If an award is not continued or assumed by a public company in an equitable manner, it will vest immediately prior to a
change in control (at 100% payout with respect to a performance-based restricted stock unit award and at 100% of the award then earned but not vested with
respect to a restricted stock unit award with market conditions). If an award is so continued or assumed, vesting will continue in accordance with the terms of
the award (based on actual performance with respect to a performance-based restricted stock unit award subject to completed annual performance periods and
at 100% payout for any in-progress annual performance periods) unless there is a qualifying termination (without cause or for good reason) within one-year
following the change in control, in which event the award shall become vested immediately.

In accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement, the outstanding Company equity awards held by the Company’s employees were converted into
corresponding QXO equity awards (and, with respect to each performance-based restricted stock unit award, with the performance-based vesting condition
deemed satisfied at target and being converted into an award of QXO RSUs for which vesting is solely based on service-based conditions), in each case, based
on the Equity Award Conversion Amount (as defined in the Merger Agreement). Such QXO equity awards remain subject to the same vesting terms as the
original Company equity awards (excluding performance conditions), including accelerated vesting upon certain qualifying terminations of employment
without cause or good reason. Such accelerated vesting is “double-trigger” (i.e., it is contingent upon a termination of employment without cause or resignation
for good reason within one year after the Merger was consummated.)

Stock Options

There were no stock options granted during the period from January 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025. The fair values of the options granted during the six
months ended June 30, 2024 were estimated on the dates of grants using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average
assumptions:

Risk-free interest rate 4.13 %
Expected volatility 48.05 %
Expected life (in years) 5.08
Dividend yield — %
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The following table summarizes all stock option activity for the period from January 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025:

(in millions, except per share amounts and time periods)
Options

Outstanding
Weighted-Average

Exercise Price

Weighted-Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term (Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

Balance at beginning of period 0.9 $ 47.54  5.6 $ 51.2 
Exercised (0.4) 44.66 
Forfeited — 78.04 

Balance at end of period 0.5 $ 49.57  5.7 $ 39.0 
Vested and expected to vest after April 28, 2025 0.5 $ 49.20  5.7 $ 38.8 
Exercisable as of April 28, 2025 0.4 $ 42.54  5.1 $ 34.5 

Aggregate intrinsic value represents the difference between the closing fair value of the underlying common stock and the exercise price of outstanding, in-the-money options
on the date of measurement.

As of April 28, 2025, there was $3.0 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options, which is expected to be recognized
over a weighted-average period of 1.4 years.

The following table summarizes additional information on stock options for the periods presented:

(in millions, except per shares amounts)

Period from
January 1, 2025

through
April 28, 2025

Six Months 
Ended

June 30, 2024

Weighted-average fair value per share of stock options granted $ —  $ 40.34 
Total grant date fair value of stock options vested $ 4.0  $ 2.7 
Total intrinsic value of stock options exercised $ 32.6  $ 10.0 

Restricted Stock Units

The following table summarizes all RSU activity for the period from January 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025:

(in millions, except grant date fair value amounts) RSUs Outstanding
Weighted-Average

Grant Date Fair Value

Balance at beginning of period 1.2 $ 62.91 
Granted 0.3 $ 119.90 
Vested (0.3) $ 60.88 
Forfeited — $ 76.71 

Balance at end of period 1.2 $ 78.87 

As of April  28, 2025, there was $51.7 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested RSUs (including unrecognized expense for
RSUs with performance conditions at their estimated value as of April 28, 2025), which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.2
years.

The following table summarizes additional information regarding RSUs for the periods presented:

(in millions, except per share amounts)

Period from
January 1, 2025

through
April 28, 2025

Six Months 
Ended

June 30, 2024

Weighted-average fair value per share of RSUs granted $ 119.90  $ 85.71 
Total grant date fair value of RSUs vested $ 20.5  $ 13.4 
Total intrinsic value of RSUs released $ 39.4  $ 25.0 

1

(1) 
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On March 20, 2023, the Board adopted the Company’s 2023 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”), subject to stockholder approval, which was
subsequently obtained on May 17, 2023 in conjunction with the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The ESPP allows eligible employees to acquire shares
of the Company’s common stock through payroll deductions over six-month offering periods. The purchase price per share is equal to 85% of the lesser of (1)
the fair market value of a share of the Company’s common stock on the offering date, defined as the first trading day of the offering period, or (2) the fair
market value of a share of the Company’s common stock on the purchase date, defined as the last trading day of the offering period; provided that the purchase
price is not less than the $0.01 par value per share of the common stock. Participant purchases are limited to a maximum of $12,500 worth of stock per offering
period (or $25,000 per calendar year). The Company is authorized to grant up to 1,000,000 shares of its common stock under the ESPP.

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, QXO formally requested that the Company terminate the ESPP. Accordingly, the Company terminated the ESPP effective
as of April 23, 2025, with the final purchase of Company common stock under the ESPP occurring on such date. There were 39,265 shares purchased under the
ESPP on April 23, 2025.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Stock-based compensation expense is included within selling, general and administrative expenses in the condensed consolidated statements of operations. The
Company recognized stock-based compensation expense as follows:

(in millions)

Period from
April 1, 2025

through
April 28, 2025

Three Months 
Ended

June 30, 2024

Period from
January 1, 2025

through
April 28, 2025

Six Months 
Ended

June 30, 2024

Stock options $ 0.2  $ 1.0  $ 1.1  $ 2.0 
RSUs 2.3  6.8  9.8  12.6 
ESPP shares 0.8  0.5  1.6  1.1 
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 3.3  $ 8.3  $ 12.5  $ 15.7 
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5. Debt

The following table summarizes the Company’s outstanding debt:

As of
April 28, 2025

(in millions) Principal Balance Carrying Value Fair Value
Revolving Lines of Credit
2026 U.S. Revolver $ 360.0  $ 358.2  $ 358.2 
2026 Canada Revolver 10.8  10.8  10.8 
Borrowings under revolving lines of credit (“2026 ABL”) $ 370.8  $ 369.0  $ 369.0 

Long-term Debt, net
2028 Term Loan $ 1,259.1  $ 1,251.6  $ 1,251.6 

Current portion (12.8) (12.8) (12.8)
Long-term borrowings under term loan 1,246.3  1,238.8  1,238.8 

2026 Senior Notes 300.0  299.0  300.0 
2029 Senior Notes 350.0  348.0  353.1 
2030 Senior Notes 600.0  593.6 633.3

Long-term borrowings under senior notes 1,250.0  1,240.6  1,286.4 
Long-term debt, net $ 2,496.3  $ 2,479.4  $ 2,525.2 

 Effective rate on borrowings of 5.55% as of April 28, 2025.

Effective rate on borrowings of 5.20% as of April 28, 2025.

 Interest rate of 6.32% as of April 28, 2025.
 Interest rate of 4.50% as of April 28, 2025.
 Interest rate of 4.125% as of April 28, 2025.
 Interest rate of 6.50% as of April 28, 2025.

As of April 28, 2025, all outstanding debt was classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. The fair values of the 2026 Senior Notes, 2029 Senior Notes, and
the 2030 Senior Notes were based upon recent trading prices. The fair value of the 2026 ABL and 2028 Term Loan approximated their carrying value and are
primarily based upon observable market data, such as market interest rates, for similar debt.

On April 29, 2025 and in connection with the Beacon Acquisition, the Company repaid all debt and terminated all credit commitments and all obligations
outstanding under the respective agreements.

6. Leases
The Company primarily operates in leased facilities, which are accounted for as operating leases. The real estate leases expire between 2025 and 2037. The
Company also leases equipment such as trucks and forklifts. Equipment leases are accounted for as either operating or finance leases. The equipment leases
expire between 2025 and 2032.

The following table summarizes components of lease costs recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of operations:

(in millions)

Period from
April 1, 2025

through
April 28, 2025

Three Months 
Ended

June 30, 2024

Period from
January 1, 2025

through
April 28, 2025

Six Months 
Ended

June 30, 2024

Operating lease costs $ 13.6  $ 35.6  $ 53.5  $ 69.7 
Finance lease costs:

Amortization of right-of-use assets 4.1  8.1  14.7  15.7 
Interest on lease obligations 1.0  2.1  3.8  4.1 

Variable lease costs 1.4  3.8  5.7  7.3 

Total lease costs $ 20.1  $ 49.6  $ 77.7  $ 96.8 

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(1)

(2) 

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)
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The following table presents supplemental cash flow information related to the Company’s leases:

(in millions)

Period from
January 1, 2025

through
April 28, 2025

Six Months 
Ended

June 30, 2024
Cash paid for amounts included in measurement of lease obligations:

Operating cash outflows from operating leases $ 51.5  $ 67.1 
Operating cash outflows from finance leases $ 3.6  $ 4.3 
Financing cash outflows from finance leases $ 13.5  $ 13.7 

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new finance lease liabilities $ 21.4  $ 31.5 
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities $ 40.7  $ 57.0 

As of April  28, 2025, the Company’s operating leases had a weighted-average remaining lease term of 6.2 years and a weighted-average discount rate of
6.22%, and the Company’s finance leases had a weighted-average remaining lease term of 4.4 years and a weighted-average discount rate of 6.48%.

The following table summarizes future lease payments for each of the next five years ending December 31 and thereafter:

(in millions) Operating Leases   Finance Leases
2025 (April 29 - December 31) $ 92.5  $ 35.5 
2026 150.9  52.3 
2027 134.2  47.2 
2028 116.1  36.1 
2029 96.0  23.1 
Thereafter 227.6  14.5 

Total future lease payments 817.3  208.7 
Imputed interest (146.7) (27.2)
Total lease liabilities $ 670.6  $ 181.5 

7. Commitments and Contingencies

Various legal claims arise from time to time in the normal course of business. In assessing loss contingencies related to legal proceedings that are pending
against the Company, or unasserted claims that may result in such proceedings, the Company evaluates the perceived merits of any legal proceedings or
unasserted claims as well as the perceived merits of the amount of relief sought or expected to be sought therein.

The Company believes that it has adequately accrued for the potential impact of loss contingencies that are probable and reasonably estimable, and does not
believe that the ultimate resolution of any matters to which it is presently a party will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations,
financial condition or cash flows. However, the results of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, and an unfavorable resolution of one or more of
these matters could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

In addition, the Company has received certain demand letters from stockholders pertaining to disclosures made by the Company in connection with the Beacon
Acquisition, which the Company does not believe are material, individually or in the aggregate.
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8. Income Taxes
The Company recorded a provision for (benefit from) income taxes of $3.5 million and $(19.0) million the periods from April 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025
and from January 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025, respectively. The Company’s effective tax rates for the periods from April 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025
and from January 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025, excluding discrete items, were 6.3% and 20.9%, respectively. The Company’s effective tax rate for the
periods from April 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025 and from January 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025 was based on the U.S. federal statutory tax rate of 21.0%
and state jurisdictional income tax rates, adjusted for the impact of excess tax benefits of stock compensation and non-deductible transaction costs due to the
Beacon Acquisition.

The Company recorded a provision for (benefit from) income taxes of $43.2 million and $41.7 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024,
respectively. The Company’s effective tax rate for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 was 26.5%. The Company’s effective tax rate for the three and
six months ended June 30, 2024 was based on the U.S. federal statutory tax rate of 21.0% and state jurisdictional income tax rates, adjusted for miscellaneous
permanent and discrete items.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (as predecessor)
Our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
(“GAAP”). These accounting principles require us to make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions. We believe that the estimates, judgments and
assumptions upon which we rely are reasonable based upon information available to us at the time that these estimates, judgments and assumptions are made.
These estimates, judgments and assumptions can affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the periods presented. Our unaudited condensed consolidated financial
statements would be affected to the extent that there are material differences between these estimates and actual results. In many cases, the accounting
treatment of a particular transaction is specifically dictated by GAAP and does not require management’s judgment in its application. There are also areas in
which management’s judgment in selecting any available alternative would not produce a materially different result. The following discussion should be read in
conjunction with our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and notes appearing elsewhere in this report.

Overview

Prior to the Beacon Acquisition (as defined below), QXO Building Products, Inc. (“QXO Building Products”, “we”, “our”, or the “Company”), formerly
known as Beacon Roofing Supply, Inc., was the largest publicly-traded specialty wholesale distributor of roofing and complementary building products,
including waterproofing products, in North America. We have served the building industry for over 95 years and as of April  28, 2025, we operated 600
branches throughout all 50 states in the U.S. and seven provinces in Canada. We offer one of the most extensive ranges of high-quality professional grade
exterior products comprising over 135,000 SKUs, and we serve approximately 110,000 residential and non-residential customers who trust us to help them
save time, improve efficiency, and enhance productivity.

As of April 28, 2025, we operated 600 branches, which we designate as either standalone or co-located. A co-located branch shares all or a portion of a physical
location with a standalone branch, but it records sales separately (to a different customer base and/or through different product offerings from the standalone
branch) and generally operates with independent employees and inventory.

Beacon Acquisition

On March 20, 2025, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with QXO, Inc. (“QXO”) and Queen MergerCo,
Inc. (“Merger Sub” or the “Acquirer”), a wholly owned subsidiary of QXO, pursuant to which QXO agreed to acquire the Company for a purchase price of
$124.35 per share of common stock (the “Merger Consideration”) of the Company (the “Beacon Acquisition”). On April 29, 2025, pursuant to the Merger
Agreement, Merger Sub merged with and into the Company (the “Merger”), with the Company remaining as the surviving entity and being renamed QXO
Building Products, Inc., and QXO completed its acquisition of the Company in a transaction that valued the Company at $10.6 billion.

During the periods from April 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025 and from January 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025, the Company recognized $43.3 million and
$81.0 million, respectively, of transaction costs incurred in connection with the Beacon Acquisition, which are included in selling, general and administrative
expense in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.
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Results of Consolidated Operations
The following tables set forth our results of operations for the periods presented. The period-to-period comparison of financial results is not necessarily
indicative of future results:

Period from
April 1, 2025

through
April 28, 2025

Three Months
Ended

June 30, 2024

% of net sales

Period from
January 1, 2025

through
April 28, 2025

Six Months
Ended

June 30, 2024

% of net sales

(in millions, except percentages) 2025 2024 2025 2024

Net sales $ 786.8  $ 2,674.6  100.0 % 100.0 % $ 2,694.6  $ 4,587.0  100.0 % 100.0 %
Cost of products sold 589.8  1,990.9  75.0 % 74.4 % 2,029.8  3,430.1  75.3 % 74.8 %

Gross profit 197.0  683.7  25.0 % 25.6 % 664.8  1,156.9  24.7 % 25.2 %
Operating expense:

Selling, general and administrative 191.6  418.5  24.4 % 15.6 % 628.1  800.0  23.3 % 17.4 %
Depreciation 10.2  26.5  1.3 % 1.0 % 41.6  52.0  1.5 % 1.1 %
Amortization 6.8  22.9  0.9 % 0.9 % 30.1  44.0  1.1 % 1.0 %

Total operating expense 208.6  467.9  26.5 % 17.5 % 699.8  896.0  26.0 % 19.5 %

(Loss) income from operations (11.6) 215.8  (1.5)% 8.1 % (35.0) 260.9  (1.3)% 5.7 %
Interest expense, net (14.4) (47.3) (1.8)% (1.8)% (58.6) (86.4) (2.2)% (1.9)%
Loss on debt extinguishment —  —  — % — % —  (2.4) — % (0.1)%

Other income, net 0.7  1.9  0.1 % 0.1 % 2.7  2.4  0.1 % 0.1 %
(Loss) income before provision for income
taxes (25.3) 170.4  (3.2)% 6.4 % (90.9) 174.5  (3.4)% 3.8 %

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 3.5  43.2  0.4 % 1.6 % (19.0) 41.7  (0.7)% 0.9 %

Net (loss) income $ (28.8) $ 127.2  (3.7)% 4.8 % $ (71.9) $ 132.8  (2.7)% 2.9 %

Percent of net sales may not foot due to rounding.

The Period of April 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025 and the Period of January 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025 Compared with Three and Six Months
Ended June 30, 2024

Net Sales

The following tables summarize net sales by line of business for the periods presented:

Period from
April 1, 2025

through
April 28, 2025

Three Months
Ended

June 30, 2024
% of net sales

(in millions, except percentages) 2025 2024
Residential roofing products $ 388.1  $ 1,328.9  49.3 % 49.7 %
Non-residential roofing products 210.1  745.1  26.7 % 27.9 %
Complementary building products 188.6  600.6  24.0 % 22.4 %

Total net sales $ 786.8  $ 2,674.6  100.0 % 100.0 %

Net sales for the period from April 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025 decreased to $786.8 million compared to $2.67 billion for the three months ended June 30,
2024. The decrease in net sales primarily reflects the impact of 44 fewer selling days in the period from April 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025 relative to the
three months ended June 30, 2024.

Period from
January 1, 2025

through
April 28, 2025

Six Months
Ended

June 30, 2024
% of net sales

(in millions, except percentages) 2025 2024
Residential roofing products $ 1,316.7  $ 2,256.3  48.9 % 49.2 %
Non-residential roofing products 711.4  1,273.7  26.4 % 27.8 %
Complementary building products 666.5  1,057.0  24.7 % 23.0 %

Total net sales $ 2,694.6  $ 4,587.0  100.0 % 100.0 %

Net sales for the period from January 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025 decreased to $2.69 billion compared to $4.59 billion for the six months ended June 30,
2024. The decrease in net sales primarily reflects the impact of 45 fewer selling days in the period from January 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025 relative to the
six months ended June 30, 2024.

(1) (1)

(1) 
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Cost of Products Sold

Cost of products sold for the period from April 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025 decreased to $589.8 million, down from $1.99 billion for the three months ended
June 30, 2024. The comparative decrease primarily reflects the impact of 44 fewer selling days in the period from April 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025 relative
to the three months ended June 30, 2024.

Cost of products sold for the period from January 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025 decreased to $2.03 billion, down from $3.43 billion for the six months ended
June 30, 2024. The comparative decrease primarily reflects the impact of 45 fewer selling days in the period from January 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025
relative to the six months ended June 30, 2024.

Selling, General and Administrative (“SG&A”)

SG&A expense for the period from April 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025, decreased to $191.6 million, down from $418.5 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2024. The decrease in SG&A expense primarily reflects the impact of 63 fewer days in the period from April 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025 relative
to the three months ended June 30, 2024, which was partially offset by transaction costs incurred in connection with the Beacon Acquisition.

SG&A expense for the period from January 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025, decreased to $628.1 million, down from $800.0 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2024. The decrease in SG&A expense primarily reflects the impact of 64 fewer days in the period from January 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025
relative to the six months ended June 30, 2024, which was partially offset by transaction costs incurred in connection with the Beacon Acquisition.

Depreciation Expense

Depreciation expense was $10.2 million for the period from April 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025, compared to $26.5 million for the three months ended June
30, 2024. The comparative decrease in depreciation expense primarily reflects the impact of 63 fewer days in the period from April 1, 2025 through April 28,
2025 relative to the three months ended June 30, 2024, which was partially offset by an increase in property and equipment as a result of new and acquired
branches subsequent to June 30, 2024.

Depreciation expense was $41.6 million for the period from January 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025, compared to $52.0 million for the six months ended June
30, 2024. The comparative decrease in depreciation expense primarily reflects the impact of 64 fewer days in the period from January 1, 2025 through April 28,
2025 relative to the six months ended June 30, 2024, which was partially offset by an increase in property and equipment as a result of new and acquired
branches subsequent to June 30, 2024.

Amortization Expense

Amortization expense was $6.8 million for the period from April 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025, compared to $22.9 million for the three months ended June
30, 2024. The comparative decrease in amortization expense primarily reflects the impact of 63 fewer days in the period from April 1, 2025 through April 28,
2025 relative to the three months ended June 30, 2024, which was partially offset by amortization expense associated with new intangible assets as a result of
recent acquisitions.

Amortization expense was $30.1 million for the period from January 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025, compared to $44.0 million for the six months ended June
30, 2024. The comparative decrease in amortization expense primarily reflects the impact of 64 fewer days in the period from January 1, 2025 through April
28, 2025 relative to the six months ended June 30, 2024, which was partially offset by amortization expense associated with new intangible assets as a result of
recent acquisitions.

Interest expense, net

Interest expense, net was $14.4 million for the period from April 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025, compared to $47.3 million for the three months ended June
30, 2024. The comparative decrease in interest expense, net, primarily reflects the impact of 63 fewer days in the period from April 1, 2025 through April 28,
2025 relative to the three months ended June 30, 2024.

Interest expense, net was $58.6 million for the period from January 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025, compared to $86.4 million for the six months ended June
30, 2024. The comparative decrease in interest expense, net, primarily reflects the impact of 64 fewer days in the period from January 1, 2025 through April 28,
2025 relative to the six months ended June 30, 2024.
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Income Taxes

Income tax provision (benefit) was $3.5 million for the period from April 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025, compared to $43.2 million for the three months
ended June 30, 2024. The comparative decrease in income tax provision (benefit) was primarily due to lower pre-tax income coupled with an increase in
permanent items including the impact of excess tax benefits of stock-based compensation and non-deductible transaction costs due to the Beacon Acquisition.
The effective tax rate, excluding discrete items, was 6.3% for the period from April 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025, compared to 26.5% for the three months
ended June 30, 2024.

Income tax (benefit) provision was $(19.0) million for the period from January 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025, compared to $41.7 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2024. The comparative decrease in income tax (benefit) provision was primarily due to lower pre-tax income coupled with an increase in
permanent items including the impact of excess tax benefits of stock-based compensation and non-deductible transaction costs due to the Beacon Acquisition.
The effective tax rate, excluding discrete items, was 20.9% for the period from January 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025, compared to 26.5% for the six months
ended June 30, 2024.

Seasonality
The demand for exterior building materials is closely correlated to both seasonal changes and unpredictable weather patterns, therefore demand fluctuations are
expected. In general, our net sales and net income are highest in quarters ending June 30, September 30, and December 31, which represent the peak months of
construction and re-roofing. Conversely, we have historically experienced low net income levels or net losses in quarters ending March 31, when winter
construction cycles and cold weather patterns have an adverse impact on our customers’ ability to conduct their business.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity is defined as the current amount of readily available cash and the ability to generate adequate amounts of cash to meet the current needs for cash. We
assess our liquidity in terms of our cash and cash equivalents on hand and the ability to generate cash to fund our operating activities, taking into consideration
available borrowings and the seasonal nature of our business.

Our principal sources of liquidity as of April 28, 2025 were our cash and cash equivalents of $143.9 million and our available borrowings of $907.0 million
under our asset-based revolving lines of credit.

Significant factors which could affect future liquidity include the following:

• the adequacy of available bank lines of credit;

• the ability to attract long-term capital with satisfactory terms;

• cash flows generated from operating activities;

• working capital management;

• acquisitions; and

• capital expenditures.

Our primary capital needs are for working capital obligations and other general corporate purposes, including acquisitions and capital expenditures. Our
primary sources of working capital are cash from operations and bank borrowings. We have financed larger acquisitions through increased bank borrowings
and the issuance of long-term debt and common or preferred stock. We then repay any such borrowings with cash flows from operations or subsequent
financings. We have funded most of our capital expenditures with cash on hand, increased bank borrowings, or equipment financing, and then reduced those
obligations with cash flows from operations. We may explore additional or replacement financing sources in order to bolster liquidity and strengthen our capital
structure.

We believe we currently have adequate liquidity and availability of capital to fund our present operations, meet our commitments on our existing debt and fund
anticipated growth, including expansion in existing and targeted market areas. We may seek additional acquisition opportunities from time to time. If suitable
acquisition opportunities or working capital needs arise that require additional financing, we believe that our financial position, credit profile, and earnings
history provide a sufficient base for obtaining additional financing resources at reasonable rates and terms.
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The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated:

Period from
April 1, 2025

through
April 28, 2025

Six Months 
Ended

June 30, 2024(in millions)
Net cash used in operating activities $ (111.2) $ (189.2)
Net cash used in investing activities (31.0) (263.2)
Net cash provided by financing activities 211.5  445.8 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 0.3  (0.8)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 69.6  $ (7.4)

Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities was $111.2 million during the period from January 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025, compared to $189.2 million during the
six months ended June 30, 2024. Cash used in operations decreased $78.0 million. The decrease was primarily due to the timing of net working capital
requirements for inventory purchases and cash collections.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $31.0 million during the period from January 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025, compared to $263.2 million during the
six months ended June 30, 2024. Cash used in investing activities decreased $232.2 million primarily due to a decrease in acquisitions and capital expenditures.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $211.5 million during the period from January 1, 2025 through April 28, 2025, compared to $445.8 million
during the six months ended June 30, 2024. Cash provided by financing activities decreased $234.3 million primarily due to the refinancing of our 2028 Term
Loan in March 2024 resulting in an increase in the principal balance of $300.0 million and a decrease in net borrowings under our revolving lines of credit
compared to the prior year, partially offset by share repurchases made during the six months ended June 30, 2024.
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